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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 23 JUNE 2021 

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Myburgh,  good morning  

everybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good morning DCJ.   DCJ  

MR SOLOMON:   Morn ing Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Solomon,  good morning  

Mr Gigaba.  

MR GIGABA:   Good morning Chai r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Hul ley i s  here I  understand he 

would l ike to  address you before I  begin i f  that  is  in  o rder?  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes – ja  le t  us get  that  out  o f  the way.   

Yes Mr Hul ley.   You can do so f rom where you are.  

ADV HULLEY SC:  Thank you Mr Chai r.   Mr Chai r  as  you 

are aware we were supposed to  commence th is  morn ing  

wi th  the test imony of  Major  Genera l  Mnonopi .   Now we had 

served a summons on Major  Genera l  Mnonopi  and we were 

st i l l  apparent ly  awai t ing the return of  serv ice f rom the 

Sher i f f .    

 When we made enqui r ies dur ing the course o f  

yesterday i t  turned out  that  the summons had been served 20 

but  apparent ly  on  the wrong address.   So the consequence 

has been that  when we contacted Major  Genera l  Mnonopi  

she ind icated that  because she was not  aware of  the mat te r  

she was not  p repared to  come and test i fy  a t  such shor t  

not ice but  has ind icated that  she wi l l  be wi l l i ng to  test i fy  



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 4 of 138 
 

even at  shor t  not ice but  not  obviously not  today.  

 So I  have g iven her  cer ta in  dates that  I  would t ry  to  

chat  wi th  you – wi th  you wi th  – about  Mr Chai r  but  obviously 

s ince we have not  yet  had an opportuni ty  to  speak to  each 

other  I  cannot  yet  g ive her  those dates or  assure her  of  

those dates.  

 But  we wi l l  –  we… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   That  is  where we are at  the moment .  

CHAIRPERSON:   No that  -  that  i s  f ine.   We – we wi l l  ta lk 10 

and see what  can be done.   Of  course there is  a  problem 

wi th dates.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  we a l l  know because of  our  t ime 

const ra in ts.   But  we wi l l  ta lk .  

ADV HULLEY SC:    That  is… 

CHAIRPERSON:   And then take i t  f rom there.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   My apologies as fa r  as  th is  is  20 

concerned.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no that  is  f ine.  

ADV HULLEY SC:    Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Before we proceed Mr  

Myburgh I  unders tand that  when I  announced yesterday that  
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Mr Agr izz i  would  be test i fy ing today or  would be  cross-

examined by Mr Wakeford ’s  counsel  I  was mistaken.   That  

had been the or ig ina l  date but  that  I  had subsequent ly  

approved that  he  be moved to tomorrow.   So I  am just  

making a correct ion fo r  the benef i t  o f  the publ ic  so nobody 

should say Mr Agr izz i  was meant  to  be here and he d id not  

p i tch.   So I  got  my in fo rmat ion wrong so he is  on ly going to  

be here tomorrow v i r tua l l y  not  physica l ly  and he wi l l  be  

cross-examined by counsel  for  Mr Wakeford.  

 The consequence of  that  Mr Myburgh for  us is  that  10 

we have a l i t t le  b i t  more t ime for  Mr Gigaba’s ev idence than 

we thought  we would have should we need i t .    

 Obviously we want  to  f in ish as soon as possib le  bu t  

a t  a  pract ica l  level  i t  does mean that  instead of  Mr  Agr izz i  

needing to  test i fy  a t  twelve  the next  wi tness would  be af te r  

lunch Br igadier  Xaba.   So I  just  ment ion that  for  what  i t  is 

worth.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes as you know DCJ we are  going to  

t ry  and squeeze in  Mr Benjamin at  twelve o ’c lock.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  no,  no that  is  f ine.   I  just  wanted to   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You to understand because I  th ink you 

have been t ry ing to  squeeze th ings through and – and t ime 

has not  been on our  s ide.   Okay no that  is  a l l  r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe we do need to get  Mr Gigaba to do 

the oath again.   P lease just  admin is ter  the oath again .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your  fu l l  names fo r  the record.  

MR GIGABA:   Knowledge Malusi  Nkanyezi  Gigaba.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ion to  tak ing the  

prescr ibed oath? 

MR GIGABA:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you consider  the oath b ind ing on your  

conscience? 

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  10 

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly swear that  the ev idence you 

wi l l  g ive wi l l  be the t ru th;  the who le t ru th and noth ing but  

the t ru th;  i f  so p lease ra ise your  r ight  hand and say,  so help 

me God.  

MR GIGABA:   So help me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Okay Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Good morning Mr Gigaba.  

MR GIGABA:   Good morning Mr Myburgh 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink you should have open in  f ront  

o f  you Bundle 11 .   I  just  want  to  take you p lease to  page 20 

837.125.   We have s ince the  last  s i t t ing added your  

s tatement  – wr i t ten statement  in  responses to  Ms Caro lus.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  just  d i rect  your  at tent ion  

p lease to  paragraph 13.  
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MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  just  d i rect  your  at tent ion  

p lease to  paragraph 13.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Which you f ind at  the foot  o f  the page.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Where you s tate that :  

“As Min is te r  I  was caut ious to  ensure that  I  

executed my dut ies. ”  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“ In  re la t ion to  SOE’s wi th  due respect  for  my 

and the board ’s  respect ive mandates.   I  

understood my ro le to  be largely  l im i ted to  

g iv ing pol icy d i rect ion to  the SOE whereas 

the board ’s  operat ional  funct ions were not  

wi th in  my remi t .   Wi th respect  to  decis ions 

to  abandon a i r l ine  routes th is  an issue which  

could be deal t  wi th  by the Department  i t  

would be brought  to  the Min is ter  fo r  20 

approval .   Once the department  had 

completed an in ter  –  independent  

assessment  of  the appl i cat ion. ”  

 Do you conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  then ask you p lease to  turn to  

Bundle – Bundle 10.   And i f  I  could  ask you p lease to  tu rn to  

page 494 of  Bundle 10.   You f ind at  page 494 the  

commencement  o f  a  – qui te  a  lengthy statement  by Mr 

Momoniat ,  do you see that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you wi l l  see i f  you go to  page 498 

at  paragraph 1 Mr  Momoniat  is  a  Deputy Di rector  Genera l  a t  

Nat ional  Treasury.   You see that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes I  am aware.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i f  I  could then ask you p lease to 

go to  page 500 the previous page 499 at  paragraph 7 .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He sets out  what  h is  ev idence re lates  

to  and the issue that  I  would l ike to  deal  wi th  b r ie f l y  is  

s tated at  page 500 paragraph 7.9 where he says h is  

ev idence re lates to :  

“The at tempt  by  the Just ice Cr ime 

Prevent ion and Secur i ty  JCPS Cluster  

Min is te rs and the  Nat ional  Di rector  o f  Publ ic  20 

Prosecut ions NDPP to change delay and 

stop the FICA b i l l . ”  

 Do you see that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now th is  is  someth ing that  you have 
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deal t  wi th  in  your  s tatement .   I f  I  could ask  you to  go to  the 

back of  the f i le  and in  par t icu lar  could I  ask you to  have a 

look at  page – I  th ink i t  is  the last  page in  fact  966.    

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  you say at  paragraph 17 is  that :  

“What  puts paid to  any suggest ion on the  

par t  o f  Momoniat  o f  my involvement  in  some 

broader conspi racy of  s tate capture is  the  

fact  that  notwi thstanding the JCPS having 

sought  cer ta in  c lar i f i cat ions about  the FICA 10 

Amendment  B i l l  when I  became the Min is te r  

o f  Finance I  was the dr iver  and fac i l i ta ted  

the resolut ion  o f  those concerns thereby 

enabl ing the FICA Amendment  B i l l  to  be  

passed and not  scrapped.  (which would 

appear to  be Momoniat ’s  hypothesis ) . ”  

 You see that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now th is  par t icu lar  i ssue is  deal t  wi th  

over  just  a  few pages in  Mr Momoniat ’s  s tatement .   Perhaps 

I  could ask you to  turn up… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh is  there a  s igned 

vers ion of  th is  aff idavi t  o f  Mr  Gigaba?  The one I  have here  
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is  not  s igned.   Do you know Mr Gigaba i f  there is  a  s igned 

vers ion a l ready or  not  yet?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes we have s igned i t  Mr Chai rperson.   We 

f i rs t  sent  –  because of  t ry ing to  comply wi th  the t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wi th the t ime ja .   Yes.  

MR GIGABA:   We f i rs t  sent  th is  – we ind icated that  we 

would subsequent ly  emai l  a  s igned aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   And i t  was sent .  

MR GIGABA:   I t  was sent  by the lead at to rney.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay no that  is  f ine.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We wi l l  take steps then to  rep lace 

th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To supplement  i t  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now I  was ment ion ing  that  Mr 

Momoniat  deals  wi th  th is  issue over  a few pages 

commencing at  page 608.   Perhaps I  could ask  you to tu rn.   

Now Mr Gigaba perhaps just  in  re la t ion to  your  posi t ion as  

the Min is te r  o f  F inance and you have a l ready touched on 20 

that  in  your  s tatement  you were  the Min is ter  o f  Finance 

when the FICA Bi l l  was s igned in to law.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   By the former President  on the 26 t h  o f  

Apr i l  2017,  correc t? 
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MR GIGABA:   Yes – yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you were the Min is te r  o f  Finance 

who gazet ted the  commencement  dates for  the – the FICA 

Act .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And some of  those were  on the 13 t h  o f  

June 2017.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And would you a lso conf i rm that  a t  the  

t ime South  Af r i ca was under pressure f rom the f inancia l  10 

act ion task fo rce the so ca l led FATF and in te rnat ional  body 

for  the FICA Bi l l  to  commence.  

MR GIGABA:   Yes 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You conf i rm that .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And in  fact  i t  could  have been said  

that  South Af r i ca was in  v io la t ion of  i ts  in te rnat ional  

commitments regard ing i ts  ant i -money launder ing  

leg is la t ion,  would  you conf i rm that?  

MR GIGABA:   Yes S i r  but  I  th ink i t  is  important  to  s tate that  20 

South Af r i ca i s  a lso a sovere ign  nat ion that  i t  reserves 

every r ight  to  sat is fy  i tse l f  that  the leg is la t ion which is  

go ing to  be passed is  – i s  subject  to  our  law and 

const i tu t ion.  

 There are many in te rnat ional  bodies to  which South  



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 12 of 138 
 

A f r ica belongs.   Many of  them would f rom t ime to t ime apply  

pressure on issues some of  which we would have agreed to.  

 South Af r i ca is  not  an except ion in  th is  regard tha t  

count r ies would s t i l l  want  to  exerc ise the i r  sovere ign r ight  

not  to  pass any leg is la t ion or  law or  po l i cy  wi thout  

scrut in is ing i t  and ensur ing that  i t  is  a  subject  to  the 

const i tu t ion and –  and other  laws of  that  count ry.  

 So th is  – there was noth ing pecul iar  here.   I t  would 

be a sad day i f  we would arr i ve at  the conclus ion that  

in ternat ional  bodies  can s imply force  upon us any pol icy or  10 

leg is la t ion that  we must  s ign wi thout  sat is fy ing ourselves.  

 We have a Par l iament  which is  an  arm of  the state  

which does not  just  receive leg is la t ion and pass i t  w i thout  

subject ing i t  to  Par l iamentary processes.   We have cabinet  

which is  not  a  rubber s tamp for  –  fo r  anyth ing.  

 There were issues at  the t ime that  cabinet  was 

concerned wi th  that  i t  needed c lar i f ied and once those 

th ings were c la r i f ied then we proceeded to s ign the  

leg is la t ion.   I t  was not  because the FATF was fo rc ing i t  

upon us.   I t  was because we were now sat is f ied that  the 20 

South Af r i can government ’s  concerns had been addressed.  

 I  th ink the sovere ignty of  our  nat ion should at  a l l  

t imes be understood and observed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So before you took up your  posi t ion  

as Min is ter  o f  F inance you were  the Min is ter  o f  Home 
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A ffa i rs  and would  you conf i rm then that  in  that  capaci ty  you 

were a member of  the JCPS Cluster  in  2016 and ear ly  2017.  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson I  was a member of  the JCPS 

Cluster  and the  JCPS Cluster  does not  consist  o f  the  

Min is te r  o f  Home Affa i rs  a lone or  of  Malusi  Gigaba.   And 

that  is  why the submission by Mr Momoniat  is  not  on ly  

mal ic ious i t  i s  d is ingenuous in  that  the  – i f  the  JCPS Cluster  

as  a  whole  was concerned about  cer ta in  aspects  of  the  

leg is la t ion of  th is  FICA Amendment  i t  was not  me as an 

ind iv idual  and i t  was not  the Department  of  Home Affa i rs  10 

that  was concerned.   There were a number of  departments 

that  were concerned they inc luded State Secur i ty,  the  

Department  of  Defence.   They inc luded a number  of  o ther  

departments that  were concerned about  th is  and that  is  why 

when I  became Min is te r  o f  F inance I  sought  to  fac i l i ta te  a 

meet ing wi th  the re levant  department  and the Department  of  

Home Affa i rs  was not  one of  those in  order  to  resolve th is  

issue and that  i s  why subsequent ly  the B i l l  went  th rough.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So as a member then of  the JCPS 

Cluster  you would have at tended meet ings and been pr ivy  20 

to  d iscussions wi th in  the c luster  I  take i t .  

MR GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And I  take  i t  a lso that  you would have 

been aware of  the le t ter  and submissions sent  to  the  

chai rperson of  Par l iament  Standing Commit tee on Finance 
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by the Min is te r  o f  Defence and Mi l i tary Veterans in  her  

capaci ty  as chai rperson of  the JCPS Cluster  dated the 23r d  

o f  January 2017.  

MR GIGABA:   I  would – I  do not  th ink I  was but  I  do not  

recal l  Chai r  i f  I  had seen that  le t te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  perhaps you could keep your  

f inger  at  page 608 and le t  me take you to  that  document .   

MR GIGABA:   Page 608 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Keep your  f inger  at  608.  

MR GIGABA:   Okay.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Because we are going to  come back 

there.   Can you tu rn fo rward to  page I  th ink i t  is  912.    

MR GIGABA:   Page 912.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja.  912.   So you see there is  the  

cover ing le t te r  to  the Chai rperson of  the  Standing 

Commit tee.   I f  you go to  913 f rom the Chai rperson of  the 

Just ice Cr ime Prevent ion and Secur i ty  Cluster  i t  i s  dated 

the 23r d  o f  January and at tached to i t  was a submission 

which you f ind at  page 914.  

MR GIGABA:   R ight .   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You have seen that .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  th is  submission does is  i t  

makes the argument  that  Sect ion 45(B)1(C) of  the B i l l  

regard ing search  and seizures is  unconst i tu t iona l .   You 
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would have seen that .  

MR GIGABA:   What  paragraph is  that?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  I  th ink i t  is  the thrust  o f  the – of  

the submission.  

MR GIGABA:   I  th ink g iven tha t  I  have not  seen the 

submission Chai r  and I  do not  recal l  seeing i t  i t  is  d i f f icu l t  

for  me to conf i rm whether  that  the  thrust  o f  the submission  

or  not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  have a look at  page 936 

concluding submissions paragraph 114.    10 

“ I t  is  requested that  the impugn provis ion of  

the B i l l  par t icu la r ly  Sect ion 45(B)1(C)  

re la t ing to  search  and seizures be  removed 

as i t  not  on ly usurps the powers of  o ther  law 

enforcement  author i t ies but  a lso is  over ly  

broad and in  effect  unconst i tu t iona l . ”  

 You see that .  

MR GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So are you saying that  you d id  not  see 

th is  submission f rom the Chai rperson of  the c luster  – the 20 

JCPS Cluster  a lbe i t  that  you were a member of  i t?  

MR GIGABA:   A chai rperson of  the c luster  would in  d raf t ing 

th is  le t ter  forward  i t  to  Par l iament  summaris ing through the 

cabinet ’s  secretar ia t  the issue which had been d iscussed by 

the – by the c luster  and – and I  do not  th ink they would 
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have sent  th is  le t ter  to  us.   As I  say  I  do not  recal l  seeing i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes but  you no doubt  were  of  the 

same mind.   Th is comes f rom the Chai rperson of  the  

Cluster.  

MR GIGABA:   I t  was the co l lect ive  opin ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR GIGABA:   Of  the – of  the c luster  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Correct .   So i f  we could then go back 

to  page 608 and I  th ink there is  on ly three paragraphs I  

want  to  ask you about  here.   Paragraph 236 says Mr 10 

Momoniat :  

“This was an unprecedented step  for  any 

Min is te r  le t  a lone the ent i re  c lus ter  o f  the  

cabinet  to  object  to  the leg is la ture against  a  

B i l l  that  was prev iously approved by cabinet  

and passed by Par l iament .   I  am not  aware  

of  th is  having happened before s ince and to  

do so wi thout  go ing back to  cabine t  f i rs t  th is  

was a B i l l  that  had been adopted by cabinet  

a f ter  a  ser ies of  meet ings over  a lmost  a fu l l  20 

year.   Most  o f  the JCPS Cluster  Min is ters  

had at tended most  i f  not  a l l  the cabinet  o r  

i ts  commit tee meet ings in  2014/15 and were  

cer ta in ly  not  pass ive par t i c ipants on the B i l l .   

They d id not  take  the i r  new found concern to  
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cabinet  and were  now act ing uni la tera l ly  to  

affect ive ly  reverse a cabinet  decis ion of  

what  they – of  wh ich they were par t . ”   

 Do you want  to  comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   Chai rperson the mere fact  that  someth ing has 

not  happened before does not  mean that  i t  cannot  happen.  

South Af r ica has never  had a commission of  inqui ry  on 

a l leged state capture and i t  has happened before –  i t  has  

happened now.   So i f  somebody were to  a rgue that  th is  

th ing has not  happened before therefore i t  should not  10 

happen they would be wrong.  

 We had a democracy for  the f i rs t  t ime in  1994 and i t  

had not  ex is ted  before in  South Af r ica.   So my v iew is  that  

Mr Momoniat  is  expressing – you know Mr Momoniat  was 

very passionate  about  th is  leg is la t ion.   He is  very  

passionate about  these issues and – and so he took the  

v iew which in  some instances was considered rude and 

ar rogant  towards h is  pol i t i ca l  pr inc ip les.  

 When the pol i t ica l  pr inc ip les were engaging wi th  the  

issue wi th  a v iew of  resolv ing i t  what  Min is te r  Mapisa-20 

Nqakula is  suggest ing here as the Chai rperson or  was 

suggest ing as the Chai rperson of  the Cluster  in  th is  le t ter  

was not  that  the –  the FICA leg is la t ion be scrapped 

a l together.   She was saying there are issues we are  

concerned about  which were considered – some of  which  
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were considered unconst i tu t ional .  

 South Af r i ca has a const i tu t ion Chai rperson and tha t  

const i tu t ion is  sovere ign and over r ides any other  le t ter  o f  

law that  ex is ts  in  th is  count ry.  

 Cabinet  i s  the – is  the – has to  ensure compl iance 

wi th  the const i tu t ion  when they adopt  any leg is la t ion.   In  the  

South Af r i can –  in  the South Af r ican instance in  most  

instances leg is la t ion or ig inates f rom cabinet  and therefore  

cabinet  would exerc ise i ts  mind wi th  regard  to  any 

leg is la t ion and even reserves the  r ight  to  repeal  ex is t ing 10 

leg is la t ion.  

 Now i f  Mr  Momoniat  says he is  not  aware of  an 

instance where cabinet  had dec ided to repeal  ex is t ing  

leg is la t ion he is  l y ing.   He is  l y ing .   He knows that  i t  has 

happened.  There  are many – there is  a  lo t  o f  leg is la t ion  

s ince 1994 which has been repealed through processes that  

cabinet  would have undertaken.  

 And so there was noth ing pecul ia r  here.   I  th ink what  

was necessary was the engagement  on the issues that  were 

being ra ised and that  is  why in  2017 we fac i l i ta ted  20 

d iscussions which then resolved concerns around some of  

those issues and the leg is la t ion was passed and we 

compl ied wi th  FATF expectat ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  I  could jus t  then take you in  re la t ion 

to  the object ion  to  the const i tu t ional i ty  o f  the B i l l .   In  
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paragraph 237 at  page 609.  

“At  no stage at  the many cabinet  o r  i ts  

commit tee meet ings where the FICA Bi l l  was 

considered d id any Min is ter  ob ject  to  the 

const i tu t ional i ty  o f  the B i l l  o r  ra ise concerns 

regard ing war rant less searches and the 

phasing out  o f  the counter  money launder ing  

advisory counci l  which had not  changed 

much dur ing the Par l iamentary  process.   

Indeed the only  const i tu t ional  mat ter  that  10 

had emerged in  the draf t ing of  the B i l l  was 

the c lause on war rant less searches which  

was guided by  the judgment  of  the 

const i tu t ional  cour t  in  auct ion – in  the act ion  

a l l iance case.   There  was no const i tu t ional  

ob ject ions to  the PEP’s or  PIP ’s c lause as I  

expla ined above.   The B i l l  submi t ted to  

President  Zuma for  assent  in  May 2016 d id 

not  substant ia l l y  d i f fer  f rom the or ig ina l  B i l l  

f i rs t  submi t ted to  cabinet  in  2014 or  the  20 

c lauses re la ted  to  the counter  money 

launder ing advisor  counci l  un l ike the  

PEP/PIP c lauses. ”  

 Do you want  to  comment  on that?  

MR GIGABA:   Though I  do not  understand Chai rperson why 
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these issues are  brought  to  me.   I  was not  chai rperson of  

the – of  the commit tee at  the t ime.  I  was only one of  the  

members.   I  am not  sure whether  the same quest ions are  

being asked a l l  o ther  Min is ters or  former Min is ters who 

were members of  th is  commit tee.  

 But  that  notwi ths tanding i t  is  important  to  point  out  

that  Mr Momoniat  was not  a  member of  the cabinet  and so 

he cannot  speak wi th  author i t y  on debates and d iscussions 

wi th in  the cabinet .    

 An issue i t  does happen that  an issue can be 10 

d iscussed by a cab – a re levant  cabinet  commit tee – the  

JCPS Cabinet  Commit tee for  instance or  the Cluster  where  

the re levant  off i c ia ls  would be inv i ted to  cont r ibute  and to  

s i t  in  dur ing d iscussions so that  they can take note of  the 

issues being ra ised by the Min is te rs.  

 But  when the mat ter  serves before cabinet  through 

the repor t  submi t ted by the commit tee because what 

happens in  the South Af r ica cabinet  process – the cabinet  

commit tees meet  th is  week and d iscuss issues.   Then a  

repor t  is  submi t ted the fo l lowing week to  the  cabinet  20 

meet ing which enta i ls  recommended decis ions that  need to 

be adopted by cabinet .  

 But  i t  does happen that  when those decis ions are  

being tab led – those recommendat ions are  being  tab led  

cabinet  members  some of  whom might  even have been at  
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the previous meet ing would have appl ied the i r  minds fur ther  

– would have developed new opin ions or  done addi t ional  

repor t  and they would then ra ise –  f lag issues out  and say 

though I  was par t  o f  th is  d iscussion but  I  have an opin ion 

on th is  mat te r  tha t  I  would l ike to  p resent .  

 The Presidents and I  have served under four  they do 

not  cur ta i l  cabinet  d iscussions.   I t  is  not  in  the i r  habi t  to  say  

no Min is te r  you were par t  o f  a  meet ing last  week therefore 

you cannot  ta lk .   They a l low you to speak because they 

want  to  create an envi ronment  where no member  of  the 10 

Nat ional  Execut ive fee ls that  they are being muzz led on 

d iscussions because the decis ions in  the end must  

const i tu te the co l lect i ve opin ion of  a l l  o f  us and therefore 

we are accountab le for  those decis ions.  

 And so the process of  d iscussion was a l lowed and 

Mr Momoniat  would not  have been par t  – par ty  to  a l l  o f  

those d iscussions because in  the end he is  not  a  member of  

the cabinet  and we would not  know who has ra ised what  

concerns.  

 There were ser ious concerns being ra ised about  the  20 

concepts of  PE – PEP’s or  PIP ’s even as the B i l l  was 

f ina l i sed those concerns st i l l  s tand among many people as 

to  who is  a PEP,  who is  PIP,  who designates these are 

senior  execut ives  of  the – of  business in  South Af r ica and 

the i r  fami l ies.   PEP’s a lso par t  o f  the PEP’s or  PIP ’s so 
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there were many d iscussions Chai rperson which took p lace.   

Many of  which were ra ised in  re la t ion to  the const i tu t ional i ty  

o f  the leg is la t ion before us.  

CHAIRPERSON:   My Myburgh what  does Mr Momoniat  

ev idence seek to  show insofar  as Mr Gigaba is  concerned? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  i t  . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bear ing in  mind what  we are focuss ing on.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Momoniat ’s  ev idence is  rea l l y  

conf ined to  th is  s ing le i ssue and that  is  Mr Gigaba’s ro le  as  

a member of  the JCPS and… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes but  as you understand h is… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  as I  understand i t  what  he … 

CHAIRPERSON:   H is aff idavi t .   He wants to  show what  for  

what  purpose? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  what  he u l t imate ly  says is  that  

th is  was vexat ious and the  fa i lu re  to  pass th is  b i l l  wou ld  

have been conven ien t  fo r  the  Gup tas  and the i r  assoc ia tes ’ 

a t tempts  to  launder  money and in  fac t  buy a  bank i f  i t  had  

been de layed.  

 So,  tha t  i s  the  conc lus ion  tha t  he  –  he  comes –  20 

can I  ask  Mr  G igaba to  comment  on  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because i f  he  says i t  wou ld  have been 

conven ien t ,  bu t  he  is  no t  say ing  Mr  G igaba took s teps w i th  

an  agenda to  ass i s t  the  Guptas  because the  Guptas  d id  no t  

want  th is  law to  be  passed.   I  am not  sure  . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And I  th ink  tha t  i s  in  e f fec t  what  he 

is  say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  tha t  what  you –  ja?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  maybe you can focus  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja .   I  w i l l  t ry  and dea l  –  I  do  no t  

have a  lo t  more  quest ions fo r  Mr  G igaba on th is .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    In  fac t ,  le t  me take you to  two more  10 

paragraphs.   A t  238:  

“The JCPS(?)  cas t (? )  the  le t te r,  d id  no t  have a  

fo rmal  lega l  op in ion  to  suppor t  i t s  v iew but  

ins tead the  le t te r  took the  fo rm o f  an  in fo rmal  

lega l  op in ion .  

A l though i t  was more  a  po l i t i ca l  op in ion  in  my 

v iew.  

The i r  l e t te r  pu rpo r ted  to  p rov ide  more  de ta i l  on  

the  concerns o f  P res ident  Zuma by s ta t ing :   

“The Pres ident  i s  fu r ther  concerned. . . ”  20 

Th is  i s  what  the  submiss ion  s ta ted :  

“ . . . ”The Pres iden t  i s  fu r ther  concerned o f  the 

impact  i t  wou ld  have on the  r igh ts  o f  persons 

ident i f ied  as  fo re ign  prominent  o f f i c ia ls .   

Domest ic  p rominent  in f luent ia l  person and  
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fami ly  members  and known assoc ia tes  o f  the  

a forement ioned persons” .  

So,  they were  now a l so  ra is ing  the  

const i tu t iona l i t y  o f  the  P IPS c lause  desp i te  the  

fac t  tha t  th is  concept  was  ex tens ive ly  

d iscussed and amended by  Cab ine t .    

They c la im tha t  a l l  these c lauses a re  

d iscr im inatory  and there fo re  unconst i tu t iona l .  

They ca l l  fo r  remov ing  fo r  these  c lauses and  

concepts .  10 

I t  was a lso  odd to  me tha t  they appear  to  know 

more  o f  P res ident  Zuma’s  concerns than the  

Treasury  and I  wondered whether  Pres ident  

Zuma had in  fac t  d iscussed these concerns 

w i th  the  JCPS min is te rs  when he d id  no t  do  so  

w i th  the  respons ib le  m in is te r,  the  Min is te r  o f  

F inance. . . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t  inso far  as  you can? 

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  I  w i l l  comment ,  Cha i rperson,  even 

though I  s t i l l  do  no t  see where  and  how th is  re levant  to  me.   20 

No asser t ion  has  been made here  about  myse l f ,  o ther  than 

about  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  have taken(? )  i t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    . . .P res ident  Zuma.   Le t  me s tar t  by  say ing ,  

Cha i rperson.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes?  

MR GIGABA :    Mr  Monyet te (?)  o r  any o ther  o f f i c ia l  o f  

government  cannot  descr ibe  to  Cab ine t  how to  conduct  i t s  

bus iness.   I t  has  go t  abso lu te ly  no  r igh t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    And I  guess tha t  as  o f f i c ia l s  there  may 

be –  you may be aggr ieved about  how your  m in i s te r  has 

hand led  a  cer ta in  mat te r  o r  how Cab ine t  has hand led  a  

cer ta in  mat te r.   Somet imes you are  exc i ted .   Somet imes  

you are  d isappo in ted .   That  i s  par t  o f  l i f e .  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    And Cab ine t  p lays  the  ro le  tha t  i t  p lays  

and obv ious ly  in  a  commiss ion  such as  th is ,  i f  there  i s  

someth ing  concre te  to  be  sa id  tha t  he lps  the  Commiss ion ,  

tha t  i s  f ine ,  bu t  there  are  s i tua t ions where ,  even  among  

yourse l ves as  Cab ine t  Min i s te rs ,  you might  no t  be  happy 

w i th  how a  co l league o f  yours  i s  hand l ing  a  ce r ta in  mat te r  

tha t  maybe is  very  much in  t he  pub l i c  doma in ,  bu t  

somet imes you w i l l  happy,  somet imes you w i l l  no t  be  

happy,  and maybe you cannot  even ta lk  pub l i c ly.   You have  

to  ta lk  on ly  w i th in  Cab ine t .   That  i s  –  these th ings happen.  20 

MR GIGABA :    And tha t  cont inues .   Cha i rpe rson,  le t  me in  

suppor t  o f  what  the  Cha i rperson has jus t  ra ised,  s i te  at  

leas t  one example .   In  May 2014 I  was appo in ted  Min is te r  

o f  Home Affa i r s .   A few days thereaf te r  as  par t  o f  the  

br ie f ings  wh ich  had been prov ided to  me by the  D i rec tor  
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Genera l  in  the  Top Off i c ia ls  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  the  

depar tment  announced new v i sa  regu la t ions.    

 A who le  range o f  th ings were  announced there ,  

inc lud ing  the  requ i rement  fo r  unabr idged b i r th  cer t i f i ca tes ,  

requ i rements  fo r  parents  i f  they  are  t rave l l ing  a lone,  

whethe r  ou t  o f  the  count ry  o r  in to  the  count ry,  to  p roduce  

suppor t ing  a f f idav i t  f rom one o f  the  parents  to  a l low them 

to  t rave l  w i th  ch i ld ren ,  to  p roduce unabr idged  b i r th  

cer t i f i ca tes  fo r  the  m inor  ch i ld ren  and a  who le  range o f  

o ther  th ings.    10 

 The Cab ine t  had  d iscussed and passed th i s  p r io r  

to  the  new admin is t ra t ion  be ing  es tab l i shed.   So what  the  

depar tment  was  do ing  th rough  the  Min i s te r  was to  

announce the  v isa  regu la t ions as  hav ing  been agreed to  by  

Cab ine t  p rev ious ly  and based  on amendment  to  the  

immigra t ion  leg i s la t ion  wh ich  had  been passed th rough 

Par l iament  and ascended by  the  Pres ident .    

 Now,  a f te r  mak ing  th is  announcement  the  then  

Min is te r  o f  Tour ism ra i sed ser ious concerns about  the  

impact  o f  these regu la t ions  on  the  tour i sm secto r.   Our  20 

argument  a t  Home Affa i rs  was tha t  bu t  th is  had  passed  

th rough Cab ine t .   Cab ine t  had adopted th is .   They have  

been –  the  leg is la t ion  is  passed by  Par l iament  and  nobody 

ra ised these ob jec t ions because  they are  conta ined,  no t  

on ly  in  the  cu r ren t  amendments  o f  the  Immigra t ion  Act ,  bu t  
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they  were  conta ined in  the  Ch i l d ren ’s  Act  because the 

Ch i ld ren ’s  Act  i t se l f  had sa id  no  ch i ld  must  be  a l lowed to 

leave South  A f r i ca  or  en ter  South  A f r i ca  w i thout  p roduc ing  

a  fu l l  b i r th  cer t i f i ca te  o f  tha t  ch i ld  and w i thout . . .  

 I f  the  ch i ld  i s  t rave l l ing  w i th  a  guard ian  or  w i th  one  

parent ,  there  must  be  consent ,  a  wr i t ten  and  s igned  

consent  by  the  o ther  pa rent .   A f te r  a  long d i scuss ion ,  

Cab ine t  dec ided to  es tab l i sh  an  In te r -admin is ta r i a l  

Commi t tee  wh ich  wou ld  be  cha i red  by  the  fo rmer  Deputy  

Pres ident ,  wh ich  is  now the  Pres ident  o f  the  Repub l ic ,  10 

wh ich  a r r i ved a t  cer ta in  amendments  wh ich  sought  to  

accommodate  the  Depar tment  o f  Tour ism.    

 I  never  thought  tha t  by  so  do ing ,  Cab ine t  was 

ac t ing  as  a  captured ins t i tu t ion  by  in te res t .   I  never  took  

tha t  to  mean Cab ine t  was now backt rack ing  on  i t s  own  

dec is ion  wh ich  had been passed where  nobody had ra ised  

concerns tha t  the  Depar tment  o f  Tour i sm was ra is ing .   And 

those amendments  to  the  regu la t ions were  passed and we 

announced add i t i ona l  amendments  a  coup le  o f  yea rs  la te r,  

I  th ink  in  2018,  and add i t iona l  amendments  have been  20 

announced,  I  th ink  i t  must  be ,  i f  no t  las t  yea r,  then  i t  was  

in  2019.    

 So,  i t  i s  w i th in  normal  p rac t ise  tha t  Cab ine t  cou ld ,  

even though they had not  –  there  had no ob jec t ion  to  a  

par t i cu la r  i tem tha t  Cab ine t  wou ld  say:   We th ink  tha t  we  
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p robab ly  have been heavy-handed  or  fo r  some o ther  va l id  

reason,  we p ropose tha t  we change here  and there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    And tha t  was the  exper ience here .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can I  ask  you to  go  to  pa rag raph  

243,  p lease?  

MR GIGABA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Th is  i s  a t  page 612.    

“G iven the  le t te r  f rom the  JSCPS Custom(?)  10 

Min is te rs  wh ich  shows tha t  there  were  no  open  

d i f fe rences w i th  the  FICA B i l l  w i th in  Cab ine t ,  

the  Cha i rperson o f  SCOPE,  Mr  Eun ice  Kar im,  

dec ided to  convene a  S tudy Group meet ing  o f  

the  ANC SCOPE member  on  24 January  2017 

to  reso lve  the  d i f fe rences between Cab ine t  

Min is te rs . . . ”  

Do you see tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then,  can I  take  you to  page 615  20 

a t  paragraph 252? 

MR GIGABA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  says :  

“The  ANC Finance S tudy Group  emphas ised 

tha t  i t  d id  no t  agree w i th  the  po in t s  on  



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 29 of 138 
 

const i tu t ion  anarchy(?)  tha t  Min is te r  

Mah lusha(?)  has ra ised.    

They to ld  h im tha t  they had p roper ly  app l ied  

the i r  m inds to  the  issues tha t  he  was ra i s ing  

when they cons idered the  b i l l .  

They,  in  fac t ,  po in ted  out  tha t  th is  submiss ion  

made by  the  JSCPS c lus ter  was embarrass ing  

and requested i t  to  be  w i thdrawn and not  serve  

on  the  agenda the  fo l low ing day. . . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  10 

MR GIGABA :    I  was not  in  the  meet ing ,  Cha i rperson.   

Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  can you d ispute  tha t  they have 

desc r ibed i t  as  embarrass ing?  

MR GIGABA :    I  was not  in  the  meet ing ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   I  take  i t  you  cannot  then?  

MR GIGABA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Nor  can I  conf i rm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes . . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

MR GIGABA :    I  can  ne i the r  deny nor  conf i rm tha t  such  

was sa id .   I  was not  in  the  meet ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

MR GIGABA :    Mr  Monyet te  has the  pens ions to  omi t  

cer ta in  c ruc ia l  i ssues in  th i s  a f f idav i t  and tha t  i s  why i t  
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becomes d i f f i cu l t  fo r  me.   G lar ing  in  h is  a f f idav i t  i s  the 

mere  fac t  the  cons ide ra t ion  tha t  eventua l l y  in  2017 I  

fac i l i ta ted  meet ings w i th  the  Depar tment  o f  Jus t ice ,  S ta te 

Secur i t y,  Defence,  and o thers  wh ich  f ina l l y  b rokered an  

agreement .   I t  i s  qu i te  g la r ing  tha t  he  omi t  th is ,  and I  am 

expected to  take  h is  v iew on th is  –  on  h i s  submiss ion  to  be  

t rue .   I  am unab le  to .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And  then he men t ions a t  

parag raph 254 tha t  the  memo was  w i thdrawn.   Tha t  there  

was a  w i thdrawa l  o f  the  memo.   A re  you in  pos i t ion  to  10 

conf i rm or  d ispute  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    I  can  ne i ther  conf i rm nor  deny.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Now,  perhaps I  can take  

you,  Cha i rperson ,  to  perhaps answer  more  d i rec t l y  the  

quest ion  tha t  you  asked o f  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  you  cou ld  p lease go to  page 419 

o f  the  Ru le  3 .3 .  Not ice .   I  have  read paragraph  7 .9  of  

Mr  Monyet te ’s  a f f idav i t .   That  there  the  spec i f i c  a l l egat ion  

is  captured a t  page 419,  pa rag raph 2 .2 .   That  you sought  20 

to  recon . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry.   I t  i s  page 419?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page 419,  parag raph 2 .2 .   R igh t  a t  

the  top ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No.  
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MR GIGABA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am sor ry.   I  beg your  pa rdon.   491 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Not  the  bund le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  beg your  pardon.   Not  419,  491.  

CHAIRPERSON :    491?  Okay.   Yes ,  okay,  2 .2  a t  the  top .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    2 .2 .    

“ . . . sought  to  weaken South  A f r i ca ’s  Ant i -

Cor rup t ion  and  Ant i -Money  Launder ing  

Leg is la t ion  and f inanc ia l  regu la tory  f ramework  10 

by  a t tempt ing  to  de lay  the  pass ing  o f  the 

F inanc ia l  In te l l igence Cent re  Amendment  B i l l  

to  se rve  the  i n te res t  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  wh i ls t  

you were  a  member  o f  the  JCPS Clus te r. . . ”  

You want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  we  have gone th rough th i s  

a f f idav i t ,  I  th ink  s ince  we have s tar ted ,  the  a f f idav i t  by  

Mr  Monyet te .   Nowhere  does i t  po in t  to  me,  Malus i  G igaba  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  do  no t  want  to  . . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

MR GIGABA :    . . .as  be ing  respons ib le  fo r  de lay ing  the  

pass ing  o f  the  F inanc ia l  In te l l igence Sector  Amendment  

B i l l  and to  serve  the  pr iva te  in te res t  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly.   

Obv ious ly,  th is  was be ing  inse r ted  here  by  the  pe rson who  

wro te  th is  3 .3 .  Not ice  to  me.   I t  i s  no t  in  Mr  Monyet te ’s  
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a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  I  th ink  I  have a l ready put  the  

propos i t ion  to  you tha t  what  Mr  Monyet te  says –  or  h is  

p ropos i t ion  is  tha t  i t  wou ld  have  been conven ien t  fo r  the 

Guptas  and the i r  assoc ia tes ’ a t tempt  to  launder  money and  

in  fac t  buy a  bank i f  the  b i l l  was de layed.   Do you  want  to  

comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Bu t  what  has tha t  go t  to  do  w i th  me?  

Mr  Monyet te  does  not  say  tha t  I ,  Ma lus i  G igaba,  d id  what  i s  10 

be ing  put  to  me.   So what  has i t  go t  to  do  w i th  me? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Who is  mak ing  th is  a l legat ion  because i t  i s  

no t  Mr  Monyet te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  th ink  he  i s  mak ing  the  a l legat ion  i n  

the  contex t  o f  you hav ing  been a  member  o f  the  JSCPS 

Clus te r,  Mr  G igaba.  

MR GIGABA :    Bu t  in  tha t  ins tance,  Cha i rperson,  the  

cha i rperson o f  the  c lus ter  shou ld  have been ca l led  to  

answer  on  beha l f  o f  the  c lus te r,  no t  a  res igned member  o f  20 

Cab ine t .   The mere  fac t  tha t  I  served in  Cab ine t  a t  the 

t ime,  does not  mean – and I  was a  member  o f  the  c lus ter,  

i t  does not  mean  tha t  I  checked(? )  the  c lus te r,  I  deput ised  

the  c lus te r,  nor  does Mr  Monye t te  po in t  to  me,  Malus i  

G igaba as  be ing  respons ib le  fo r  th is .    
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 I t  i s  qu i te  c lear  tha t  th is  i s  be ing  de l ibera te ly  

inse r ted  bu t  i t  i s  no t  been sa id  by  Mr  Monyet te .   So,  why i s  

i t  be ing  pu t  to  me?  And why is  the  asser t ion  be ing  made  

tha t  I  sought  to  de lay  the  pass ing  o f  the  F inanc ia l  

In te l l igence amendment  B i l l ,  Cent re  Amendment  B i l l  to  

serve  the  pr iva te  in te res t  o f  the  Guptas?  Who is  say ing  

th is?   Mr  Monyet te  d id  no t  say  i t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  wh i le  somebody was speak ing  to  

you,  Mr  Myburgh ,  Mr  G igaba –  one o f  the  po in ts  he  was 

mak ing  was,  tha t  he  –  when you look a t  Mr  Monyet te ’s  10 

a f f idav i t ,  he  does not  make any  a l legat ions o f  tha t  w i th  

regard  to  h im spec i f i ca l l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  hear.   He ta lks  about  h im in  the  

contex t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .o f  be ing  a  member  o f  the  c lus ter.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   I  th ink  we can move on.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cer ta in ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can I  then  take  you,  p lease ,  to  the 20 

same f i le ,  the  Bund le  10?  And le t  us  go  to  Mr  B ishop ’s  

a f f idav i t .   That  you f ind  a t  page 6 .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page 6 ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    O f  the  same bund le?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Same bund le ,  under  Tab 7 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now,  perhaps we  cou ld  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  i f  I  may ra ise  th is  as  we l l?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja?  

MR GIGABA :    You know,  in  the  3 .3  wh ich  was served to  

me . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :    . . .on  Mr  Monyet te  -  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  jus t  go  10 

back.   On page 490.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja?  

MR GIGABA :    Paragraph 2 .1 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR GIGABA :    I t  says  tha t :  

“Mr  Monyet te  made an a l legat ion  tha t  I  sought  

to  rep lace cer ta in  o f f i c ia ls  w i th in  the  Nat iona l  

Treasury  on  the  i ns t ruc t ion  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  

wh i ls t  I  was a  member  o f  the  –  wh i ls t  I  was the 

Min is te r  o f  F inance. . . ”  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR GIGABA :    I  wou ld  l i ke  to  be  po in ted  to  tha t  sec t ion  in  

Mr  Monyet te ’s  a f f idav i t  wh ich  makes th is  a l legat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  okay.    

MR GIGABA :    Because i f  by  the  asser t ion  o f  the  ev idence 
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leader,  Mr  Monyet te  conf ined  h imse l f  to  the  FIC 

Amendment  B i l l  p rocess.   Where  d id  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you want  to  know? 

MR GIGABA :    . . . th is  a l legat ion?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Where  i t  came f rom? 

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now where  i t  i s  dea l t  –  I  mean,  the  

3 .3 .  says the re  a re  two issues.   I  have dea l t  w i th  one.   I t  is  

the  la t te r  one.   The f i rs t  i ssue is  dea l t  w i th  –  in  paragraphs  

15 and 16 o f  Mr  Monyet te ’s  s ta tement .   And,  in  fac t ,  10 

Mr  G igaba was d i rec ted  to  those paragraphs in  paragraph 3  

o f  the  3 .3 .  Not ice .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    15  and 16 .   I  de l ibera te ly  dec ided 

not  to  quest ion  Mr  G igaba on th is  in  the  in te res t  o f  t ime,  

bu t  there  a re  Mr  Monyet te ’s  a l legat ions in  re la t ion  to  the 

f i rs t  i ssue.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GIGABA :    And,  there fore ,  these are  the  issues  in  2 .2  

wh ich  imp l i ca tes  me and to  wh ich  I  have responded in  20 

great  de ta i l ,  because aga in ,  Mr  Monyet te  in  th is  regard  

makes an a l legat ion  and prov ides  abso lu te ly  no  ev idence  

o f  the  a l legat ion  tha t  he  i s  mak ing .   In  my response,  I  have 

deta i led  a l l  the  peop le  who were  appo in ted  wh i ls t  I  was  

Min is te r  o f  F inance,  and no one –  and I  ind i ca te  there  tha t  
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there  was never  an  a t tempt  on  my par t  to  rep lace  anyone 

when –  f rom the  pos i t ion  o f  the  D i rec tor  Genera l ,  the  

pos i t ions  o f  Deputy  D i rec tors  Genera l ,  and the  o ther  

pos i t ions  tha t  were  appo in ted  wh i ls t  I  was a t  Nat iona l  

Treasury.    

 I  ind ica te  tha t  perhaps w i th  the  except ion  o f  the  

one person who  was the  Head  o f  the  FIC,  who was  

appo in ted  as  the  Head o f  the  FIC,  who had been the  Head 

o f  MTA in  the  Free S ta te  and who is  s t i l l  occupy ing  the  

pos i t ion  now,  an  exper ienced pub l i c  p rosecuto r.   I  ind ica te  10 

tha t  a l l  the  peop le  tha t  we appo in ted  in  a l l  the  pos i t ions  

w i thout  fa i l  were  members  o f  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  who 

had se rved in  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  fo r  more  than ten  

years .    

 And so  there  was no one who was ever  appo in ted  

f rom outs ide  the  Nat iona l  Treasury,  except  the  Head o f  the 

FIC who was appo in ted  in  an  a t tempt  to  rep lace anyone.   

The peop le  who  got  appo in ted  to  those pos i t ions  were  

appo in ted  because there  were  vacanc ies  wh ich  had been 

e i ther  ex is t ing  pr io r  to  my appo in ted  or  wh ich  go t  c rea ted  20 

in  two or  th ree  ins tances when peop le  were  se rv ing  a t  the  

t ime res igned,  bu t  there  was no one who was rep laced or  

who sought  to  be  rep laced because we had been asked by  

the  Guptas .    

 And I  ind ica te  tha t  i f  these peop le  in  the  Nat iona l  
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Treasury  who go t  appo in ted  to  these pos i t ions  had been  

assoc ia tes  o f  the  Guptas ,  then tha t  i s  the i r  p rob lem 

because no one,  no t  even the  Nat iona l  Treasury  i t se l f ,  sa id  

to  us  tha t :    

 Oh,  tha t  these peop le  who have served here  fo r  

more  than ten  years  a re  ac tua l l y  assoc ia tes  o f  the  Guptas .   

And to  my knowledge,  and I  can say th is  w i thout  any  fa i r  o f  

cont rad i c t ion ,  none o f  those peop le  were  ever  assoc ia ted  

w i th  the  Guptas ,  no t  even a t  any s tage in  the i r  l i ves .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   I f  we can go back then,  10 

p lease,  to  Mr  B ishop ’s  s ta tement  wh ich  s ta r ts  a t  page 6  

and can I  take  you to  page 18 and to  paragraph 34? 

MR GIGABA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And th is  was,  as  you know 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    Yes,  I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . re la tes  to  A lexkor,  Mr  G igaba.  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  jus t  want  to  ask  you a  few 

quest ions in  re la t ion  to  a coup le  o f  i ssues.   A t  parag raph 20 

34,  Mr  B ishop says tha t :  

“ In  the  government  med ia  s ta tement  o f  

7  September  2012,  med ia  address by  Malus i  

G igaba,  NP,  e t  ce te ra ,  on  occas ion  o f  the  

Annua l  Genera l  Meet ing  o f  the  Board  o f  
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D i rec tors  had s ta ted  tha t . . . ”  

And can I  take  you to  the  second paragraph in  th is  regard?  

“ I  have appo in ted  Mr  Raf ique  Bagus as  

cha i rperson o f  the  new board . . . ”  

And then the  las t  sentence says:  

“ I  have g iven the  new board  the  respons ib i l i t y  

to  f i l l  the  vacanc ies  o f  CEO and CFO for thwi th  

by  no  la te r  than the  next  th ree  months . . . ”  

Would  you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A t  paragraph 35:  

“Key to  these appo in tments  was  Bagus,  the  

new Cha i rperson o f  the  Board  o f  A lexko r. . . ”  

And then i t  se ts  ou t  tha t  he  was prev ious ly  the  Ch ie f  

Execut ive ,  Trade  and Investment  South  A f r i ca ,  Deputy  

D i rec tor  Genera l  o f  the  Depar tmen t  o f  Trade and Indust ry  

and a  Spec ia l  Adv isor  to  A lex  I rw in .   A t  36 :  

“Bagus d id  no t  waste  any t ime in  commencing  

w i th  the  new s t ra teg ic  d i rec t ion  d i vers i f i ca t ion  

in to  coa l  announced by  Mr  G igaba.  20 

Be low is  an  excerp t  f rom Bagus ’ fo r t (? )  to  

A lexkor ’s  2014 annua l  repor t . . . ”  

And we w i l l  come back to  tha t ,  bu t  he  announces there  tha t  

there  i s  go ing  to  be  d ivers i f i ca t i on  by  A lexkor  in to  coa l  

m in ing  and the  p rov i s ion  o f  coa l  to  Eskom.   You see  tha t?  
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MR GIGABA :    Yes,  I  see.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now i f  I  cou ld  take  you,  p lease,  to  

page 21,  paragraph 37?  

MR GIGABA :    I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A t  paragraph 37,  i t  says :  

“On an examinat ion  o r  one is  on  examin ing  the  

ce l l  phone records o f  Bagus,  we noted tha t  he  

made te lephon ic  contac t  w i th  the  Gupta  

bro thers  and the i r  assoc ia tes . . . ”  

A t  37 .1 ,  you w i l l  see  there  is  re fe rence to  Iqba l  Sharma.   10 

A t  37 .2 ,  Ashok Chwala ,  37 .3 ,  A jay  Gupta ,  37 .4 ,  Vanesh  

Gupta .   A t  38 ,  i t  says  tha t :  

“Bagus a t tended the  Sun C i ty  Gupta  wedd ing  

and s tayed in  Room 1205. . . ”  

The dates  a re  se t  ou t .   And then a t  39 :  

“Accord ing  to  the  Amabhugane ar t i c le ,  Bagus 

came to  pub l i c  a t ten t ion  in  2011 when he was 

l inked to  mak ing  po l i t i ca l  in t roduct ions to  –  

bus inessman,  Gaston Savvy(?) ,  who is  s t i l l  

ba t t l ing  cor rup t ion  charges re la t ing  to  20 

government  tender  awards wh ich  had been  

dea l t  w i th  in  the  ev idence o f  Mr  Trevor  Whi te  

and Co lone l  P ie t  du  P looy be fore  the  

Commiss ion .  

Bagus i s  a lso  fea tured dur ing  ev idence led  a t  
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the  Commiss ion  in  re la t ion  to  SAA and in  

numerous med ia  ar t i c les  concern ing  s ta te  

capture  and co r rup t ion . . . ”  

Now I  jus t  wanted to  ge t  you r  comments  on  th is  and here ,  

Bagus is  appo in ted  as  the  cha i rperson,  and you w i l l  see  

these re ferences to  l inks  to  the  Guptas  and the i r  

assoc ia tes .   Do you have any comments  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Wel l ,  o f  impor tance,  among  o thers ,  

Cha i rperson,  i s  tha t  f i rs t ,  Mr  Bagus had come wi th  a  very  

good reco rd  in  the  Pub l ic  Serv i ce  and he – a t  the  po in t  tha t  10 

we appo in ted  h im  as cha i rperson,  we had not  –  we d id  no t  

have the  techno logy to  examine  h is  phone reco rds as  

wou ld  happened thereaf te r,  bu t  i f  you  look a t  the  phone  

records,  he  spoke,  apparent ly,  to  Mr  Sharma between 2008  

and 2013.    

 He spoke to  Mr  Ashok Chawla  be tween 2008 and  

2013.   He spoke to  Mr  A jay  Gupta  be tween 2015 and 2016  

and spoke to  Mr  Ra jesh Gupta  be tween 2015 and 2016.   In  

the  two ins tances ,  they knew each  o ther  be fore  I  was even 

a  Min i s te r  and we are  ta lk ing  i n  the  las t  two ins tances,  20 

they spoke a f te r  I  had le f t  Pub l i c  Enterp r ises .    

 So,  i t  i s  very  impor tan t  to  es tab l i sh  tha t  contex t .   

Now,  go ing  back to  the  i ssue o f  the  coa l ,  the  

d ive rs i f i ca t ion .   I  ind ica ted  and submi t ted  ex t rac ts  f rom the 

f inanc ia l  s ta tements  o f  A lexkor  tha t  a t  the  t ime I  was a  –  I  
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served as  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l i c  Ente rpr ises ,  A lexkor  f inanc ia l  

records  –  f inanc ia l  per fo rmance,  no t  records  –  f inanc ia l  

per fo rmance was qu i te  weak.    

 I  th ink  i t  must  have been in  2011 tha t  A lexkor  

posted  a  pro f i t  o f  R 84 mi l l ion ,  bu t  tha t  per fo rmance was  

pr io r  to  the  es tab l i shment  o f  the  pu l l ing  and shar ing  jo in t  

venture  w i th  the  communi ty  o f  A lexander  Bay wh ich  PSJV  

actua l l y  dep le ted  the  resources o f  A lexkor  and showed  

over  the  next  –  and by  so  say ing ,  I  am not  b laming the  

communi ty  o f  A lexander  Bay.    10 

 I  am jus t  say ing  tha t  the  e f fec t  o f  the  pu l l ing  and  

shar ing  jo in t  venture  was tha t  A lexko r,  whose ba lance 

sheet  was a l ready weak,  began  to  ge t  in to  even more  

ser ious f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies  in  the  years  tha t  fo l lowed.   And 

as  we  saw,  the  f inances o f  A lexkor  had dep le t ing .   The 

quest ion  tha t  the  board  then ra ised w i th  me,  the  ou t  – the 

–  I  th ink  to  –  i t  must  have been the  ou tgo ing  board ,  was:   

We need to  f ind  ways to  repr io r i t i se ,  to  repos i t ion  A lexkor  

so  tha t  i t  becomes a  successfu l  en t i t y.    

 Now,  the  main  focus o f  A lexkor ’s  bus iness a f te r  20 

the  PSJV wou ld  have been Mar ine  Dam on min ing  wh ich  

became d i f f i cu l t  fo r  A lexkor  because a t  tha t  t ime they were  

compet ing  w i th  De Beers  and A lexkor  d id  no t  have the  

resources tha t  De Beers  had fo r. . .   There  was a  techno logy 

wh ich  they apparent ly  needed wh ich  wou ld  a l low them to  
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m ine  even on w indy days because the  ocean in  tha t  par t  o f  

A lexander  Bay is  qu i te  w indy and  they have more  w indy 

days than they have ca lm days.    

 And so  i t  became d i f f i cu l t  fo r  A lexkor  to  compete  

w i th  De Beers  because on most  w indy days were  come to  a  

ho ld  because we  cou ld  no t  r isk  pu t t ing  workers  in to  the 

ocean when we knew tha t  they were  no t  go ing  to  be  sa fe .   

That  became d i f f i cu l t  fo r  A lexko r.   Now there  were  two  

opt ions tha t  we were  faced w i th .   E i ther  we recap i ta l i se  

them to  the  tune o f  R 1  b i l l i on  wh ich  they requ i re  f o r  them 10 

to  m ine on these  w indy days to  p rocure  these techno logy,  

o r  they d ivers i f y  so  tha t  w i thout  pu l l ing  ou t  o f  Mar ine  Dam 

on min ing  and pu l l  i t  ou t  o f  A lexander  Bay.    

 They cou ld  then  exp lore  o the r  oppor tun i t ies  and  

tha t  i s  why they  were  say ing ,  among o thers ,  they wou ld 

look  a t  deve lop ing  l ine  resources.   And then they sa id  to  

me:   But  Min i s te r,  you presented and have been d iscuss ing  

w i th  Eskom the  es tab l i shment  o f  the  emergent  m iners  coa l  

s t ra tegy.   G iven tha t  you are  look ing  a t  emergent  m iners .    

 And we have met  w i th  them a t  Eskom,  I  th ink  on  20 

two occas ions together  w i th  the  leadersh ip  o f  Eskom 

because i t  was a  s t ra tegy deve loped by  Eskom in  te rms o f  

wh ich  Eskom wanted b lack  emergent  m iners  to  compr ise  

50% p lus  one o f  coa l  supp l ie rs  to  Eskom by 2018.   They  

were  spend ing  c lose  to  R 40 b i l l i on  per  annum on coa l  
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p rocu rement  wh ich  was go ing  to  es tab l i sh  m iners ,  some o f  

whom who had long- te rm coa l  cont rac t s .    

 And Eskom wanted to  beg in  to  b r ing  tha t  in  l ine  w i th  

the  t ransfo rmat ion  ob jec t i ves  o f  the  s ta te .   So,  A lexko r  

then sa id :   Can we enter  in to  negot ia t ions  w i th  Eskom so 

tha t  we exp lore  coa l  m in ing  and we a lso  become the  

supp l ie r  and pe rhaps the  emergent  coa l  m iners  cou ld  

supp ly  to  Eskom through us  or  in  par tnersh ip  w i th  us .   That  

then was the  bas is  o f  th is  d ive rs i f i ca t ion  and the  approach  

tha t  was taken.   I t  was based . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  word  cu t  o f f ]  10 

o f  the  dwind l ing  f inances o f  A lexkor .   As  the  P res ident ia l  

Rev iew Commi t tee  repor t  o f  2012 ind ica tes ,  A lexkor  was a t  

tha t  t ime one o f  the  SOEs tha t  were  dependent  on  

government  fund ing  in  o rde r  to  s t rengthen the i r  ba lance 

sheet   and the re  were  ser ious go ing-concern  s ta tus  i ssues 

w i th  regard  to  A lexkor  and tha t  was the  reason why i t  

became necessary  to  d ivers i f y  i t s  bus iness no t  ou t  o f  

m in ing  bu t  to  a lso  take  advantage o f  the  fac t  tha t  

government  had –  the  ANC and subsequent ly  government  

had taken a  dec is ion  to  es tab l i sh  a  s ta te-owned  min ing  20 

company so  wh ich  in  ou r  op in ion  and in  my meet ings w i th  

the  Min is te r  o f  Minera ls  a t  the  t ime ,  Ms Susan Shabangu.    

 We thought  tha t  once [ ind is t inc t ]  i s  es tab l i shed i t  

wou ld  then take  A lexkor  ove r  and  we wou ld  merge  the  two 

min ing  compan ies  so  tha t  we have one min ing  company  
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because,  in  my op in ion ,  i t  d id  no t  make sense tha t  you  

wou ld  have A lexkor  cont inu ing  to  ex is t  bu t  you have 

another  s ta te  owned min ing  company wh ich  has been  

es tab l i shed.    

 I  th ink  the  issue  tha t  wou ld  need  to be  d iscussed 

once tha t  happens,  wou ld  have been what  do  we then do  

w i th  the  poo l ing  and shar ing  jo in t  venture  w i th  the  

communi ty  o f  A lexander  Bay and obv ious ly ,  in  our  op in ion ,  

A lexkor  o r  the  new ent i t y  wou ld  no t  need to  pu l l  ou t  i t s  key  

opera t ions tha t  remained in  A lexander  Bay so  tha t  the  10 

communi ty  o f  A lexander  Bay cont inues to  benef i t  f rom i t s  

ex i s tence.   Thank  you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  take  you back 

to  parag raph 39.   D id  you not  know o f  these –  i t  says  tha t  

Bagus came to  pub l i c  a t ten t ion  in  2011 when he was l inked  

to  mak ing  po l i t i ca l  in t roduct ions to  Gaston Savoy  whose 

bat t l ing  cor rup t ion  charges re la t ing  to  government  tender  

awards been dea l t  w i th  in  ev idence by  Mr  Trevor  Whi te ,  

Co lone l  du  P looy be fore  the  Commiss ion .   D id  you not  

know about  tha t?  20 

MR GIGABA :   I  d id  no t  know about  th is ,  Cha i rpe rson,  and I  

th ink  –  I  do  no t  know whethe r  in  2012 Mr  Savoy had been  

ar res ted ,  I  do  no t  even know what  i s  h is  s ta tus  a t  the  

present  moment .   So I  d id  no t  know about  th is  and even i f  

Mr  Bagus had in t roduced h im to  –  I  do  no t  know who,  who  
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a re  these po l i t i ca l  in t roduct ions,  there  had been no f ind ing  

aga ins t  h im tha t  wou ld  have made h im ine l ig ib le .   There  

are  many peop le  who,  on  a  da i l y  bas is ,  face  a  lo t  o f  

a l legat ions and they f igh t  those a l legat ions and you on ly  

can take  a  dec is ion  on  them on the  bas i s  tha t  the  

a l legat ions are  p roven to  have been co r rup t .    

 Had we been to ld  tha t ,  no ,  Mr  Bagus has been 

ar res ted  or  found  gu i l t y  o f  co r rup t ion ,  yes ,  indeed he wou ld  

e i ther  no t  have been appo in ted  or  i f  he  had been appo in ted  

he wou ld  have been removed f rom the  board .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  parag raph 40,  and we w i l l  come 

back to  th is .   

“He…”  

Bagus,  

“…was ins t rumenta l  in  h is  capac i ty  as  the  Cha i rman  

o f  A lexko r  and the  A lexkor  PS JV board  in  award ing  

the  tender  to  SSI  g rant ing  i t  the  exc lus i ve  r igh ts  to  

market  and se l l  d iamonds produced by  the  PS JV. ”  

But  we w i l l  come to  tha t  now.   Can I  ask  you to  d rop down 

to  paragraph 42?  20 

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     

“On 4  March 2013 Khoza was appo in ted  as  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i ce r  o f  A lexko r.   P r io r  to  th is  he  was 

the  genera l  manager  a t  Opt imum Col l ie ry  and was 
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c lea r ly  recru i ted  in  o rde r  to  pursue the  

d ive rs i f i ca t ion  in to  coa l . ”  

Do you agree w i th  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   No ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t?  

MR GIGABA :   The bas is  o f  say ing  he  was c lear l y  recru i ted ,  

what  was the  bas i s  in  fac t  o f  say ing  he  was  c lea r ly  

rec ru i ted  to  pursue Gigaba ’s  agenda to  d ivers i f y  in to  coa l?   

Here  you have a  genera l  manager  o f  a  m ine,  the  issue we 

were  look ing  fo r  was a  CEO of  a  m ine and,  you know,  i t  10 

happens,  i t  happens,  i t  i s  common prac t ice  tha t  you cou ld  

have a  CFO of  a  bank –  I  mean,  a  CEO of  a  bank  whose 

qua l i f i ca t ions are  in  eng ineer ing .   You cou ld  have Min is te rs  

o f  f inance whose qua l i f i ca t ions are  in  someth ing  e l se .   You 

cou ld  have –  because the  l eadersh ip  pos i t ion  –  the  

leadersh ip  pos i t ion  has to  do  w i th  more  than th i s  spec i f i c  

a rea  o f  d iamond min ing .   I t  has  to  do  w i th  the  fac t  tha t  he  

was a  leader  in  m in ing ,  he  had exper ience in  m in ing  and  

when the  board  recommended h im they cons ide red  h im to 

be  exper ienced enough to  become the  CEO of  A lexkor.    20 

 Now Mr  B ishop makes the  w i ld  a l legat ion  tha t  th is  

was c lear l y  –  he  was c lear l y  recru i ted ,  w i thout  b reak ing  i t  

up  w i th  any ev idence o f  fac t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  must  jus t  ment ion ,  Mr  Myburgh,  

tha t  one has got  to  be  caut ious tha t  Mr  B ishop wou ld  no t  
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have pe rsona l  knowledge o f  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  cer ta in ly,  he  is  an  i nvest iga tor  

f rom the  Commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    He i s  an  inves t iga tor  and I  see  tha t  in  

some o f  the  parag raphs he is  re fe r r i ng  to  newspaper  

a r t i c les  and so  on .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  one has got  to  be  caut ious about  

what  he  says.   So i f  you  cou ld  have  tha t  in  m ind,  ja .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  Mr  B ishop then dea ls  w i th  a t  

page 23 was the  announcement  o f  d ive rs i t y  in  coa l  m in ing  

wh ich  you have dea l t  w i th .   I  jus t  want  to  take  you  p lease 

to  paragraph 57 a t  page 27,  says:  

“S ign i f i can t ly,  shor t l y  a f te r  the  announcement  by  

G igaba tha t  A lexkor  wou ld  be  ex tend ing  in to  the  

coa l  bus iness  to  supp ly  Eskom,  the  we l l -

documented Gupta- l inked ent i t ies  and pe rsons,  20 

Reg iments  and  Wood,  s ta r ted  engag ing  w i th  

A lexkor. ”  

Th is  i s  ev ident  f rom the  emai l  exchanges and then he se ts  

ou t  in  some deta i l  o f  tha t  under  the  head ing  Wood and 

Reg iments .   D id  you know anyth ing  about  th is?  
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MR GIGABA :   I  was not  –  Cha i rperson,  I  have  s ta ted  

repeated ly  a t  th is  Commiss ion  tha t  I  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  

p rocu rement  p rocesses in  the  SOEs and le t  a lone in  the  

depar tment  over  wh ich  I  was min is te r.   I  was very  fa r  f rom 

the  supp ly  cha in  and procurement  p rocesses,  so  I  knew 

noth ing  about  th is .   When min is te rs  announce po l i c ies  or  

po l i cy  changes whether  in  the  depar tments  or  in  the  SOEs,  

var ious bus iness peop le  pos i t ioned  themse lves.    

I  am aware  tha t  when the  announcement  was made 

wi th  regard  o f  the  s t ra teg ic  equ i ty  par tner  a t  SAA or  the  10 

res t ruc tur ing  o f  Eskom in to  th ree  d iv is ions,  a  number  o f  

bus iness peop le  began pos i t ion ing  themse lves to  take  

advantage o f  those oppor tun i t ies .   I t  has  abso lu te l y  

no th ing  to  do  w i th  the  m in is te rs  o r  in  the  ins tance an 

announcement  i s  made by  the  Pres ident ,  w i th  the  Pres ident  

who makes the  announcement  and government  po l i cy  

cannot  wa i t  because the re  are  bus iness peop le  who are  

go ing  to  be  pos i t ion ing  themse lves to  take  advantage o f  

those.    

I  th ink  what  i s  then requ i red  is  fo r  the  supp ly  cha in  20 

processes in  the  SOEs to  be  robust  enough so  tha t  the  

r igh t fu l  peop le  who have comp l ied  w i th  a l l  expected 

requ i rements  fo r  such p rocurements  are  the  ones who get  

appo in ted  and not  ones who may obta in  such cont rac ts  

th rough cor rup t  means.  



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 49 of 138 
 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then i f  I  cou ld  jus t  ge t  you r  

comments  s im i la r ly  on  the  appo in tment  o f  SSI?   Cou ld  you 

tu rn  to  page 44 p lease?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  I  am on page 44.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  paragraph 74.  

“On 25 November  SSI  submi t ted  i t s  …[ in tervenes]  

MR GIGABA :   Sor ry,  sor ry,  so r ry,  I  went  to  49 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    74  a t  44 .  

MR GIGABA :   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A re  you the re?  10 

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     

“On 25 November  SSI  submi t ted  a  tender  to  the  PS 

JV to  prov ide  exc lus i ve  d iamond market ing  and  

sa les  serv i ces .   On 4  December  Mood ley  and  

Nathan became d i rec to rs  o f  SSI .   On 17 December  

the  tender  was cond i t iona l l y  awarded to  SSI . ”  

Then over  the  page,  27  February  2015:  

“The board  approved the  award ing . ”  

And then i t  says  a t  78 :  20 

“SSI  wh ich  changes i t s  name to  ABDC had no 

l i cence or  exper ience in  the  indust ry  bu t  s t i l l  won  

the  tender  submi t ted  in  2014 to  be  the  so ld  agent  to  

va lue ,  se l l  and  market  A lexkor  en t i re  d iamond  

product ion .   A lexkor ’s  Ch ie f  Lega l  Off i cer  a t  the  
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t ime was Ke l le rman Mood ley,  the  purpor ted  60% 

BEE shareho lde r  o f  SSI  th rough  i t s  company to  

Momode(? )  had no d iamond indust ry  background.   

The two d i rec to rs  o f  SSI  appo in ted  a f te r  SSI ’s  b id  

was submi t ted  were  Nathan and Mood ley. ”  

Now th is  comes a f te r  you ended your  s t in t  as  the  Min is te r  

o f  Pub l ic  Ente rpr ises .   That  occur red ,  as  I  have i t ,  in  May  

2014,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you have any comment  on  th is?  10 

MR GIGABA :   No,  I  have no comment  on  i t ,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  

except  to  say o f  course  to  conf i rm tha t  th is  was a f te r  I  had 

le f t  Pub l i c  Ente rpr ises  and I  do  no t  even know who is  

Mood ley  and Nathan.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Wel l ,  i f  you  were  no t  invo lved,  I  do 

no t  th ink  the re  i s  much you can say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And I  then  jus t  wanted to  po in t  ou t  

to  you a t  page 51  tha t :  

“There  i t  was a l leged by  Mr  Karob ie(?) ,  who was a  

member  o f  the  techn ica l  tender  eva lua t ion  20 

commi t tee  tha t  Bagus put  p ressure  on  them to  

appo in t  SSI . ”  

I  do  no t  suppose you can comment  on  tha t .  

MR GIGABA :   Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  i f  you  wou ld  no t… 
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then s im i la r ly,  i f  you  go to  page 

55,  there  was  then a  repor t  the  Commiss ion  then  

under taken by  the  board  or  when they found a  who le  lo t  o f  

i r regu lar i t ies  in  re la t ion  to  tha t  se t  ou t  a t  132.   I  take  i t  you  

d id  no t  know anyth ing  about  tha t  e i ther?  

MR GIGABA :   No .   In  2016,  r igh t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry /  

MR GIGABA :   You are  on  page 55? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  a t  the  foo t .  

MR GIGABA :   You are  re fer r ing  to  the  aud i t  and r i sk  10 

commi t tee  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Oh no,  sor ry,  I  am re fer r ing  to  the  

board  o r  f ind ings and recommendat ions.  

MR GIGABA :   Oh yes.   I  th ink  th is  i s  based on what  

happened in  2016 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  

MR GIGABA :   Ja ,  no ,  no .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  un less  there  is  someth ing  tha t  i s  

d i rec ted  a t  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  cer ta in ly.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  a t  a  body in  wh ich  he  was a  member  

or  someth ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  I  th ink  I  jus t  want  to  pu t ,  

Cha i rperson,  i f  I  may,  i s  tha t  th is  i s  –  pe rhaps I  cou ld  pu t  

th is  p ropos i t ion  to  Mr  G igaba.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  another  appo in tment  tha t  

po ten t ia l l y  l inked  to  the  Guptas  wh ich  goes wrong because 

o f  the  conduct  o f  Mr  Bagus who  then is  i ns t rumenta l  in  

appo in t ing  SSI  and SSI  i s  a lso  Gupta- l inked th rough Mr  

Mood ley.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  tha t  i s  rea l l y  j us t  a  p ropos i t ion  

tha t  I  want  to  pu t ,  so  i t  i s  a  k ind  o f  a  l egacy o f  the  

appo in tment  i f  you  want  to  comment  on  tha t ,  Mr  G igaba.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  I  th ink  you can put  i t  l i ke  tha t .  

MR GIGABA :   Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   I  th ink  i t  i s  

impor tan t  to  bear  in  m ind tha t  a t  the  t ime tha t  I  le f t  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises  the re  had been no appo in tment  o f  SSI  and th is  

happened a f te r  I  had le f t .   I  am sure  tha t  the  peop le  who 

were  the re  a t  the  t ime wou ld  be  ab le  to  p rov ide  answers  as  

to  what  happened,  how i t  happened,  why i t  happened but  

inso fa r  as  I  am concerned,  i t  had noth ing  to  do  w i th  me,  I  

had le f t  and the  po l i cy  changes wh ich  I  announced  had no 

Guptas  in  m ind.    20 

In  ac tua l  fac t ,  Cha i rperson,  as  a  mat te r  o f  reco rd ,  in  

the  two meet ings  I  have re fe r red  to  where  we met  w i th  the  

jun io r  m iners  a t  Eskom,  the  meet ings were  a t  Eskom,  Mr  

Dames was there  in  bo th  sess ions  and there  was no Gupta  

company there ,  even A lexkor.   I  th ink  to  my reco l lec t ion  
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was not  there  because when Eskom put  fo rward  the  po l i cy  

p roposa l  fo r  the  emerg ing  miners  coa l  s t ra tegy,  they were  

th ink ing  o f  the  var ious coa l  m in ing  compan ies  o f  b lack  

peop le  and women and youth  tha t  came – tha t  kept  

approach ing  them for  oppor tun i t ies  to  supp ly  Eskom wi th  

coa l .   A lo t  o f  long te rm coa l  con t rac ts  were  coming to  an 

end and Eskom wanted to  use the  oppor tun i ty  to  beg in  to  

b r ing  on  board  new p laye rs  and  in  the  meet ing  tha t  I  

subsequent ly  he ld  w i th  Mr  Cut i fane,  the  CEO o f  Ang lo  

Amer i can,  we c lear ly  c la r i f ied  as  to  what  th is  po l i cy  was,  10 

tha t  i t  was not  a  m in ing  po l i cy  because tha t  was no t  w i th in  

my ju r isd ic t ion .   I t  was not  a  coa l  po l i cy,  tha t  was not  

w i th in  my ju r i sd i c t ion .   I t  was an Eskom coa l  p rocurement  

po l i cy  and tha t  i s  what  was w i th in  my ju r i sd ic t ion .    

A l l  these compan ies ,  the  SSIs  and whatever  e l se  

were  no t  there  a t  the  t ime tha t  we were  engag ing  w i th  

Eskom on th is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then jus t  pe rhaps one las t  

quest ion .   I f  I  can  ask  you to  go  to  page 57?  See tha t  

somet ime la te r  i n  2017 there  was a  proposa l  to  es tab l i sh  20 

A lexkor.   I  jus t  want  to  pu t  th is  to  you.   You got  the  whee ls  

in  mot ion  in  re la t ion  to  the  d ivers i f i ca t ion  o f  A lexkor  in to  

coa l  m in ing .   Perhaps I  can jus t  d i rec t  you to  paragraph  

137 and ask fo r  your  comment  inso far  as  you can.   I t  says :  

“The Commiss ion ’s  invest iga t i on  team have 
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es tab l i shed tha t  the  coa l  dea l ,  a r i s ing  now f rom the  

proposed es tab l i shment  o f  A lexkor,  was a  Gupta -

l inked and assoc ia ted  network  o f  compan ies  

pos i t ion ing  themse lves to  cont ro l  A lexkor  coa l  

bus iness wh ich  cons is ted  o f  IPC Res Coa l  and  

Nungu.   Shou ld  the  dea l  have gone th rough the  

en t i re  coa l  bus iness fo r  A lexko r  wou ld  have been to  

the  benef i t  o f  the  Guptas  and the i r  assoc ia tes . ”  

Do you have any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  can you p lease red i rec t  me to  10 

where  th is  parag raph is?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 57.  

MR GIGABA :   Oh,  page 57.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja  and I  was –  I  p icked up f rom 

paragraph 134 and I  had read 137.  

MR GIGABA :   137?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  58 ,  yes .  

MR GIGABA :   137 a t  page 58?  Oh,  sor ry,  I  am look ing  a t  –  

I  am unfor tunate l y  look ing  a t  the  page o f  the  memorandum 

i t se l f  and tha t  i s  why I  am get t ing  confused.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

MR GIGABA :   Page 57 and the  paragraph – okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you want  to  s ta r t  a f resh,  Mr…? 

MR GIGABA :   No ,  no ,  I  can i t ,  Cha i rperson,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  
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MR GIGABA :   Cha i rperson,  the  invest iga t ing  team,  I  do  no t  

know the  bas is  upon wh ich  they a r r i ved a t  th is .   Obv ious ly  

I  do  no t  know any o f  these compan ies  tha t  a re  ment ioned 

here  and then dec i s ion  to  es tab l i sh  A lex  Coa l  must  have  

been taken a f te r  I  had le f t  because a t  the  t ime tha t  I  le f t  

there  was no such a  dec i s ion ,  there  was no even  ta lk  o f  

such a  dec is ion  to  es tab l i sh  A lex  Coa l .    

But  what  seems to  be  the  nar ra t i ve ,  the  s to ry l ine  o f  

Mr  B ishop,  the  o ther  a f f idav i t  I  w i l l  go  to ,  I  suppose Mr  

Craythorne and what  they based much o f  the i r  f ind ings on  10 

the  so -ca l led  seven academics  who pub l i shed the  book 

where  they c la imed tha t  I  se t  in  mot ion  the  whee ls  fo r  the 

capture  o f  A lexkor.   I t  i s  a lso  conta ined,  I  th ink ,  in  the  

s ta tement  by  the  ev idence leader  tha t  he  jus t  pu t  to  me 

tha t  I  se t  the  whee ls  in  mot ion  fo r  the  es tab l i shment  o f  

A lex  Coa l .   I  re jec ted .   I  re jec t  i t .   I  re jec t  i t ,  i t  i s  no t  t rue .    

Po l i c ies  are  made not  w i th  the  i n ten t ion  –  or  were  

made not  w i th  the  in ten t ion  to  cap ture  A lexkor.   They were  

based,  as  I  sa id ,  in  my a f f idav i t  wh ich  I  submi t ted  be fo re  

the  Commiss ion  on  the  f inanc ia l  s ta tements  o f  A lexkor  and  20 

how the  company was pe r fo rming.   What  then  wou ld  

happen a f te r  I  had le f t  cannot  be  my respons ib i l i t y.   What  

we sought  to  ach ieve in  2012 when we made th is  because  

the  o ther  a f f idav i t  goes to  say  f rom the  t ime o f  my 

appo in tment  the  in ten t ion  was to  capture  A lexkor  bu t  –  and 
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i t  says  I  changed  the  boards bu t  the  board  was changed in  

2012,  no t  in  2010,  no t  in  2011.   I t  was changed in  2012 

when i t s  te rm o f  o f f i ce  –  when the  te rm o f  o f f i ce  o f  a  

p rev ious board  had lapsed and i t  was t ime to  appo in t  a  

new board  so  the re  is  a  gap o f  two years  in  jus t i f y i ng  th is  

no t ion  tha t  f rom the  t ime I  was appo in ted  the  in ten t ion  was  

to  capture  A lexkor  and the  d ivers i f i ca t ion  in to  coa l  and  

l ime had to  do  w i th  the  f inanc ia ls  o f  A lexkor  no t  w i th  a  v iew 

fo r  any ind iv idua l  o r  g roup o f  compan ies  to  take  over  

A lexkor.  10 

Now,  as  a  m in is te r,  you se t  the  po l i cy  in  mot ion  bu t  

the  management  o f  a  company must  execute  tha t  po l i cy  

and f ind  ways to  ensure  tha t  i t  ge ts  executed .   For  

example ,  i f  the  m in is te r  says we  are  announc ing  a  long  

te rm tu rnaround s t ra tegy fo r  SAA,  a  number  o f  compan ies  

wou ld  then come fo rward  to  say can we become the  

consu l tan ts  fo r  SAA in  the  execut ion  o f  th is  tu rnaround  

s t ra tegy?  Can we become the  consu l tan ts  fo r  SAA or  

government  in  the  execut ion  o f  the  s t ra teg ic  equ i ty  

par tner?   Now those dec is ions ge t  imp lemented  by  the  20 

executors ,  by  the  opera tors .   You,  as  the  m in i s te r,  you  

have announced the  po l i cy,  what  they do  w i th  the  po l i cy  

you expect  tha t  they are  go ing  to  take  e th ica l l y  and tha t  i s  

what  I  expected but  when I  le f t  there  was no dec is ion  to  

es tab l i sh  A lex  Coa l ,  th is  new company,  our  expecta t ion  
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was tha t  A lexkor  wou ld  cont inue imp lement ing  th is  dec is ion 

i t se l f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rperson,  sor ry,  I  was go ing  to  

say cou ld  we take tea  now and I  cou ld  then work  ou t… 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Take s tock  and f ina l i se  my 

examinat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  le t  us  take  the  tea  break.   Which  a re  

the  o ther  a f f idav i t s  tha t…? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  there  i s  jus t  Mr  Craytho rne  10 

le f t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He t raverses very  much the  same 

ground in  re la t ion  to  the  i ssues tha t  imp l ica te  Mr  G igaba.   

I t  i s  no t  sure  –  I  am not  c lear  tha t  I  am necessar i l y  go ing  

to  take  h im to  tha t  separa te ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja ,  because  the  rea l  focus must  be ,  

you know,  how fa r  does i t  he lp  us .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  what  ex ten t  does i t  pu t  up  ev idence.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And imp l ica te  h im and,  i f  i t  does,  then  

we focus on  tha t .   Okay,  le t  us  take  the  tea  ad journment ,  

we w i l l  resume a t  quar te r  to  twe lve .   We ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 
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INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  G igaba,  cou ld  I  ask  

you p lease to  go  to  Bund le  7 ,  page  996.101.  

MR GIGABA :   Page 996.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    996.101.  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  I  am there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  have d i rec ted  you to  th is  a f f idav i t  

yes terday,  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Ms Rossouw.   I  rea l l y  on ly  have 

one quest ion  fo r  you.   I f  you  go to  page 102 you w i l l  see  10 

there  tha t  i t  se ts  ou t  a  number  o f  cash payments  tha t  were  

made fo r  schoo l  fees over  the  years .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Where  d id  you obta in . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Mr  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  Mr  So lomon.  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Sor ry,  Cha i r,  i f  I  cou ld  jus t  –  in  

regard  to  Ms Rossouw,  I  d id  ind ica te  to  my learned f r iend  

tha t  we were  s t i l l  tak ing  ins t ruc t i ons f rom our  c l i en t  and 

wou ld  dea l  w i th  i t  sub jec t  to  Cha i r ’s  consent  and  20 

impr imatu r  by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t  i f  necessary.   I  am not  

sure  what  the  quest ion  is  tha t  Mr  Myburgh wants  to  pu t ,  

bu t  I  d id  te l l  h im tha t  i t  i s  someth ing  we have not  had an  

oppor tun i ty  o f  dea l ing  w i th  our  c l i en t  in  respect  o f  and we 

cou ld  jus t  s imp ly  dea l  w i th  i t  by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t  i f  
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necessary.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay.   Wel l ,  I  know tha t  my learned 

f r iend sa id  tha t  yes te rday.   I  sen t  h im an emai l  yes terday 

say ing  I  am go ing  to  dea l  w i th  the  a f f idav i t  today.   I  do  no t  

know how long Mr  G igaba needs to  dea l  w i th  th is .   Rea l ly  

the  on ly  quest ion  is  does he accept  cash payments  were  

made and where  d id  he  ge t  the  cash f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  he  fee ls  he  cannot  answer  tha t  10 

now and i t  must  go  in to  an  a f f idav i t ,  we l l  I  do  no t  th ink  we  

have any par t i cu la r  ob jec t ion  to  tha t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   You  have heard  the  two 

quest ions. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Yes,  Cha i rpe rson,  jus t  to  

te l l . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  Mr  So lomon,  I  was say ing  you have 

heard  what  the  two quest ions are  –  what  the  two quest ions 

are  tha t  he  wants  to  ask .   I f  you  say no ,  he  can – 

Mr  G igaba can dea l  w i th  them,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  bu t  i f  he  says i f  20 

you s t i l l  have a  concern  because you have not  had enough 

t ime,  then i t  i s  f ine ,  they can be dea l t  w i th  f rom h is  po in t  o f  

v iew by way o f  a f f idav i t  and I  do  no t  have a  prob lem i f  you  

have not  had enough t ime.   But  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  i t  is  

someth ing  tha t  can be dea l t  w i th  qu ick ly,  a t  leas t  now tha t  
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you  know what  the  quest ions a re .  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Yes.   We apprec ia te  tha t ,  Cha i r.   We 

wi l l  dea l  w i th  i t  by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t  re la t i ve l y  qu ick ly.   

Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Can we  jus t  so 

tha t  we do not  fo rge t ,  can we put  a  dead l ine  fo r  tha t  

a f f idav i t ,  Mr  So lomon?  

ADV SOLOMON SC :    Cou ld  we do i t  by  Fr iday,  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  Fr iday th i s  week i s  f ine .   Ja .   Okay,  

a l r igh t .   Okay,  thank you.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   Mr  G igaba 

I  want  then in  conc lus ion  jus t  to  pu t  some genera l  

p ropos i t ions  and  perhaps observa t ions to  you.   I  do  no t  

know i f  you fo l lowed the  ev idence  o f  Mr  Ho lden yes terday.  

MR GIGABA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  I  suppose f rom what  you have  

heard  a l ready you wou ld  accept  tha t  on  the  ev idence tha t  

has been presented by  Money F lows. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

MR GIGABA :    By  who?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    By Money  F lows,  the  money f low 20 

ev idence presented in  the  Commiss ion .   The ex ten t  o f  the  

loo t ing  by  the  Guptas  is  qu i te  m ind bogg l ing .   You wou ld  

accept  tha t .  

MR GIGABA :   Yes,  f rom what  I  have heard ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  fac t  yes terday,  and Cha i rperson  
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you  w i l l  cor rec t  me because you heard  i t  l i ve ,  I  th ink  tha t  

the  cost  to  the  S ta te . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    . . . increased f rom 50 b i l l i on  to  now 

57 b i l l i on .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  f rom 49 b i l l i on  to  57 ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i t  i s  qu i te  apparent  f rom tha t  

ev idence i f  i t  were  accepted tha t  the  Guptas  were  engaged 

in  a  coord ina ted  pro jec t  and they have missed few,  i f  any,  

oppor tun i t ies  to  loo t  the  S ta te .   Would  you agree w i th  tha t  10 

i f  tha t  ev idence is  accepted?  

MR GIGABA :    I  am not  sure ,  Cha i r,  whether  I  am ab le  to  

jus t  agree w i th  i t .   I  do  no t  a lso  want  to  d ispute  anyth ing .   I  

p resume tha t  the  ev idence leader  i s  mak ing  s ta tements .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   We l l ,  perhaps c lose r  to  you,  

a  s ign i f i can t  par t  o f  tha t  loo t ing  occur red  dur ing  your  

tenure  as  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises  in  re la t ion  to  SOEs 

tha t  were  sub jec t  to  your  ove rs igh t ,  par t i cu la r l y  Transnet .   

Would  you agree to  tha t  on  tha t  ev idence? 

MR GIGABA :    Wel l ,  i t  has  been a l leged tha t  ev idence has 20 

been presented,  bu t  sure ly  tha t  does not  mean tha t  I  was 

invo l ved in  i t  and I  th ink  I  have responded su f f i c ien t ly  to  

quest ions wh ich  were  presented  here  to  ind ica te  tha t  I  

myse l f  was not  invo l ved in  any o f  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  wa i t  fo r  Mr  Myburgh to  f in ish  h is  
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p ropos i t ions .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  –  I  beg your  pa rdon,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  no  I  am. . .  [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  the  propos i t ion  is  s imp ly  tha t  on  

tha t  ev idence a  s ign i f i can t ,  very  s ign i f i can t  par t  o f  the  

loo t ing  occur red  dur ing  your  tenure  as  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  in  re la t ion  to  SOEs tha t  you had overs igh t  o f ,  

par t i cu la r l y  Transnet .   Do you have  any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    I  th ink  as  I  have s ta ted ,  Cha i rpe rson,  

no th ing ,  abso lu te ly  no th ing  wh ich  has been presented he re  10 

p laces me anywhere  near  the  money,  no t  seen the  money.   

I  have not  taken  the  money.   I  have not  de l i vered money 

anywhere .   I  have not  been par t  o f  the  cont rac t s .   And so  

to  the  ex ten t  tha t  i t  happened du r ing  my tenure ,  i t  wou ld  be  

pure ly  co inc identa l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    See,  Mr  G igaba,  aga in  you are ,  w i th  

respect ,  runn ing  ahead o f  yourse l f ,  bu t  then le t  me jus t  pu t  

the  propos i t ion  to  you.   And the  propos i t ion  is  tha t  the  

Guptas  cou ld  no t  have pu l led  o f f  a  loo t ing  p ro jec t  o f  th is  

s ize  and soph is t i ca t ion  w i thout  you be ing  on s ides in  some 20 

way or  the  o the r.   Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  le t  us  es tab l i sh  the  

pr inc ip le  he re  tha t  i f  I  am asked  a  quest ion  I  am not  in  

Cour t .   I  can  respond to  the  quest ion  as  I  th ink  the  

quest ion  –  as  I  th ink  I  can respond.   But  second ly,  
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Cha i rperson,  tha t  I  have not  been to ld  tha t  there  i s  a  

p rescr ibed way in  wh ich  I  shou ld  respond.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no .   Nobody has sa id  tha t ,  bu t  

Mr  Myburgh is  no t  say ing  tha t  e i ther.   Excuse me.   A l l  he  

was say ing  ea r l ie r  on  I  th ink  you  may be re fer r ing  to  the  

remark  tha t  you were  go ing  ahead  o f  yourse l f  o r  someth ing  

l i ke  tha t .   I  th ink  a l l  he  was say ing  is  he  is  s t i l l  to  come to  

a  propos i t ion  tha t  he  wants  to  pu t  to  you wh ich  w i l l  ta lk  

about  how do you come in  i f  i t  has  no t  been sa id  tha t  you 

took cash or  you were  par t  o f  a  cont rac t  o r  whatever.  10 

So what  you were  do ing  is  you  were  say ing  he  

asked you a  ques t ion  –  he  asked the  quest ion  whether  you  

wou ld  accept  tha t  a  s ign i f i can t  por t ion  o f  tha t  loo t ing  in  

re la t ion  to  the  SOEs,  par t i cu la r ly  Transnet ,  happened  

dur ing  your  te rm  and I  th ink  ear l i e r  on  you had ind ica ted  

tha t  you accept  tha t ,  bu t  then you added tha t  the re  has  

been no ev idence tha t  says you  took cash or  whatever.   

But  he  is  mak ing  cer ta in  p ropos i t ions .  

In  the  end you are  r igh t  to  say te l l  me where  I  come 

in  and tha t  i s  where  he  was s t i l l  go ing .   So he was not  20 

seek ing  to  say do  not  answer  th is  way or  tha t  way.   I t  was  

not  tha t .  

MR GIGABA :   In  tha t  respect ,  Cha i rperson,  may I  then 

request  tha t  he  ge ts  to  the  propos i t ion  so  tha t  I  respond to 

i t ,  because the  d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  respond ing  to  par ts  o f  the 
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p ropos i t ion  is  tha t  when I  respond to  i t  he  says I  am 

jumping ahead o f  myse l f .   Now I  do  no t  know what  i s  i t  tha t  

I  am expected to  wa i t  fo r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Th is  i s  where  I  can say to  you jus t  

answer  the  quest ion  tha t  he  is  pu t t ing  to  you.   I f  hav ing  

answered i t  you  want  to  see where  he  i s  go ing  or  i f  

u l t imate ly  you do  not  see where  he  was go ing  w i th  a l l  o f  

these quest ions,  I  w i l l  g ive  you a  chance to  say bu t  maybe  

th is  i s  the  way to  pu t  i t .   The dots  cannot  be  connected 

here ,  you know.  10 

So I  w i l l  g ive  you  an answer  –  an  oppor tun i ty  be fore  

you leave i f  there  i s  anyth ing  tha t  you d id  no t  answer  

adequate ly,  were  no t  g iven a  chance to  e i the r  answer  

adequate ly  o r  dea l  w i th  adequate ly  so  tha t  you can dea l  

w i th  i t .   Bu t  he  does not  want  to  pu t  every th ing  together  

because i t  can be confus ing .   He wants  to  ask  one  

quest ion  a t  a  t ime and see whether  you go a long w i th  tha t  

par t i cu la r  quest ion .   Okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The p ropos i t ion  jus t  to  repeat  i t  i s  

tha t  the  Guptas  cou ld  no t  have pu l led  o f f  a  loo t ing  pro jec t  20 

o f  th is  s ize  and soph is t i ca t ion  w i thout  you be ing  on s ides 

in  some way,  Mr  G igaba.   Le t  us  address tha t .  

MR GIGABA :    That  i s  no t  t rue .   That  i s  no t  t rue .   

Abso lu te ly  no t  t rue .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  how cou ld  they poss ib l y  have 
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pu l led  someth ing  o f f  o f  th is  magn i tude and soph is t i ca t ion  

w i thout  you be ing  invo lved in  some way?  How is  i t  

poss ib le?  

MR GIGABA :    In  what  way?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  any way,  be ing  compl ic i t ,  hav ing  

some knowledge ,  be ing  aware ,  be ing  ind i rec t l y,  d i rec t l y  

invo l ved.   How is  i t  poss ib le?  

MR GIGABA :    I  do  no t  know.   Is  th is  the  po in t ,  Cha i r,  

when I  respond w i thout  jumping ahead o f  myse l f?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  you are  en t i t led  to  say –  look,  I  10 

th ink  the  quest ion  requ i res  you  to  look  a t  what  your  

respons ib i l i t i es  were  as  Min is te r  dur ing  tha t  t ime to  say  

look,  as  Min i s te r  th is  was my ro le  and do  these  

respons ib i l i t i es  and th is  ro le  suggest  tha t  there  was no way  

I  cou ld  no t  have been aware  o r  do  they suggest  tha t  

someth ing  as  b ig  as  th is  cou ld  have happened w i thout  me  

be ing  aware  because o f  the  respons ib i l i t i es  and the  ro le  o f  

the  Min is te r.  

 So I  th ink  the  quest ion  seeks to  say i f  th is  ev idence 

o f  the  loo t ing  tha t  has been g iven is  accepted and i t  i s  20 

accepted tha t  i t  invo lved as  much as  R57 b i l l i on  taxpayers ’ 

money be ing  g iven to  th is  fami ly  and the i r  en t i t ies ,  how 

cou ld  th is  happen?  How was i t  poss ib le?    

We had the  execut ive  –  you remember  I  asked you  

one o f  these days to  what  ex ten t  there  wou ld  be  repor t s  to  
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Cab ine t .   How is  i t  poss ib le  tha t  the  who le  Cab ine t  wou ld  

no t  be  aware  o f  th is?   I f  i t  was not  aware ,  how is  i t  

poss ib le  tha t  the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  wou ld  no t  

be  aware  o f  th is?   I f  he  was not  aware ,  how was i t  poss ib le  

tha t  the  CEOs tha t  were  a t  Transnet ,  a t  Eskom,  a t  these  

SOEs,  how cou ld  they no t  p ick  th i s  up  and the  CFOs and 

everybody?  

 So we are  bound  to  ask  ourse l ves the  quest ion ,  i f  

so  much money cou ld  be  s iphoned o f f  to  the  benef i t  o f  one 

fami ly  and the i r  f r iends and ent i t ies ,  what  i s  i t  tha t  d id  no t  10 

work  the  way i t  shou ld  have worked fo r  th is  no t  to  happen,  

p revent  i t  f rom happen ing?   

So I  th ink  you  must  v iew the  quest ion  in  tha t  

contex t  as  I  unders tand i t  and as  I  see i t  i t  ca l l s  upon you  

to  say okay,  what  was my ro le  as  Min is te r,  you know.   D id  

you p lay  overs igh t  over  the  board?   Were  you g i ven repor ts  

tha t  shou ld  have se t  a la rm be l l s  t o  say there  seems to  be  

someth ing  tha t  i s  no t  go ing  r igh t?   What  about  the  repor ts  

tha t  were  coming f rom CEOs o r  the  boards,  tha t  k ind  o f  

th ing?  I  th ink  i t  ca l l s  fo r  tha t  k ind  o f  assessment .  20 

MR GIGABA :    Thank you very  much,  Cha i rperson.   I  guess  

i t  i s  jus t  in  the  manner  tha t  the  quest ions are  asked here ,  

you know.   We lay  peop le  may not  rea l l y  unders tand how 

they a re  be ing  p resented.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no ,  I  unders tand.  
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MR GIGABA :    Bu t  I  th ink ,  Cha i rpe rson,  i t  wou ld  s t i l l  be 

impor tan t  because i f  I  were  to  re f lec t  I  do  no t  want  the  

ev idence leader  t o  aga in  fee l  l i ke  I  am jumping ahead.   Am 

I  a t  the  po in t  now when I  can re f lec t  o r  there  are  s t i l l  

fu r ther  p ropos i t ions  wh ich  a re  s t i l l  coming so  tha t  

I . . .  [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :   I  th ink  tha t  i s  f ine ,  jus t  now tha t  you  

unders tand the  contex t  jus t  answer  the  way you be l ieve  is  

cor rec t  to  dea l  w i th  i t .   He w i l l  no t  take  o f fence.   I  w i l l  no t  

take  o f fence.   That  does not  mean i t  i s  h is  las t  quest ion ,  10 

bu t  jus t  answer,  ja .  

MR GIGABA :    Thank you.   Cha i rperson,  the  d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  

our  SOEs l ies  a  g reat  dea l  in  the  cha l lenge tha t  on  the  one  

hand they are  commiss ioned enterpr ises ,  they need  to  be  

run  accord ing  to  es tab l i shed regu la t ions,  the  Companies  

Act ,  the  K ing  Code and so  on ,  bu t  on  the  o ther  hand they 

are  en t i t ies  o f  the  S ta te .  

Now as commiss ioned enterpr i ses  there  is  a  fo rmal  

way o f  repor t ing  to  the  Min i s te r  as  the  execut ive  au thor i t y  

wh ich  fo rmal  way  wou ld  en ta i l  repor ts ,  the  month ly  repor ts  20 

wh ich  are  submi t ted  v ia  the  depar tment ,  the  quar te r ly  

repor ts  wh ich  wou ld  inc lude f inanc ia ls ,  as  we l l  as  the  

annua l  repor ts  wh ich  wou ld  now be tab led  a t  the  AGM.    

Those repor ts  a re  –  they repor t  on  spec i f i c  

spec i f ied  i ssues.   E i ther  the  annua l  repor t  wou ld  conta in  
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the  repor t  o f  the  company sec re tary  on  how the  board  has  

funct ioned.   I t  wou ld  conta in  repor ts  on  the  cha i rperson ’s  

remarks ,  the  CEO’s  repor t ,  the  CFO’s  repor t ,  the  repor t  o f  

the  aud i to rs  and the  var ious o ther  commi t tees such as  your  

Soc ia l  and Env i ronmenta l  Commi t tees and o the rs .  

By the i r  na tu re  they are  no t  go ing  to  po in t  you to  

i ssues wh ich  have been the  sub jec t  o f  th is  Commiss ion .   To  

the  ex ten t  tha t  you are  look ing  a t  these,  you a re  look ing  a t  

what  a re  regu la ted  repor t s  wh ich  come to  you  in  the  

manner  tha t  they are  expected to  come to  you  as  the  10 

shareho lde r.  

Wi thout  be ing  broad,  and le t  me t ry  because I  th ink  

in  my prev ious submiss ions I  have been broad enough to  

address a  number  o f  s t ra teg i c  i ssues w i th  regard  to  SOEs,  

bu t  the  repor ts  there fore  even when the  annua l  f inanc ia l  

repor t  ta lk  abou t  i r regu lar  and f ru i t less  expend i tu re ,  i t  

wou ld  be  what  you wou ld  then ask  the  en t i t y  th rough the  

board  a t  the  AGM and the  aud i to rs  wou ld  have asked them 

what  i s  th is  i r regu lar  and f ru i t less  expend i tu re  and they w i l l  

exp la in  i t .  20 

I t  w i l l  no t  b r ing  ou t  the  issues wh ich  amount  to  th is  

a l leged R57 b i l l i on  so  tha t  you can then say,  no  wa i t  a  

m inute ,  le t  me look in to  th is ,  how has th is  money le f t ,  

where  d id  i t  go  to  and so  on .   So i t  wou ld  be  in  the  normal  

bus iness o f  the  company and there fo re  i t  does not  ge t  
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repor ted  spec i f i ca l l y  so  tha t  i t  ra ises  an  a la rm wi th  you.   

When you s i t  w i th  the  board  or  even on occas ions when 

you can meet  w i th  the  execut ive  d i rec to rs ,  they do  not  

repor t  to  you on spec i f i c  cont rac ts .   We have th is  cont rac t ,  

i t  i s  go ing  to  those ones.    

There  wou ld  be  ins tances when a f te r  the  

cont rac t ing  i f  i t  was a  b ig  p ro jec t  you are  inv i ted  to  now 

come and speak.   I t  i s  an  o f f i c ia l  handover.   I t  announces  

the  f lee t  locomot ives .   I t  announces a  major  BEE pro jec t  

fo r  the  SOE.   You get  inv i ted  to  come and speak,  bu t  you  10 

were  no t  invo lved in  the  who le  process o f  the  con t rac t ing  

r igh t  un t i l  the  end and you are  no t  go ing  to  ask  those 

quest ions because in  the  end the  quest ion  tha t  they w i l l  

ask ,  as  I  sa id  I  th ink  in  re fe rence to  one or  few o ther  

th ings,  i s  tha t  i f  I  were  to  ask  th i s  quest ion ,  what  wou ld  I  

exp la in  to  the  board  to  be  my in te res t .   How wou ld  I  

exp la in  my in te res t  in  th is  mat te r?  

So the  repor ts  tha t  come to  you as  the  Min is te r  do  

no t  en ta i l  con t rac ts  and tenders  tha t  have been entered  

in to  by  the  re levant  SOE.   I  wou ld  argue tha t  we need to  20 

keep i t  tha t  way  to  insu la te  the  execut ive  au thor i t y  f rom 

even hav ing  to  be  tempted to  wan t  to  d i rec t  the  ou tcome o f  

cont rac ts  and tenders  w i th in  SOEs,  because then the  

prob lem we are  dea l ing  w i th  here  wou ld  be  fa r  la rger  than 

the  one tha t  the  Commiss ion  has to  s i t  and look a t .   
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Because i t  i s  no t  on ly  these issues,  Cha i rpe rson ,  wh ich  

have to  do  w i th  S ta te  Capture  or  a l legat ions o f  S ta te 

Capture  tha t  ought  to  concern  us .   I t  i s  jus t  a  who le  range 

o f  th ings.   

You wou ld  ta lk  about  PPEs.   I  th ink  there  have been  

concerns to  a  po in t  where  Government  even es tab l i shed  

invest iga t ions in to  PPEs,  peop le  tak ing  advantage  o f  an 

en t i re  pandemic .   You wou ld  have to  look  a t  what  I  re fe r red  

to  ear l ie r  as  the  two o r  th ree  cont rac t s  a t  Eskom,  Medup i ,  

Kus i le  and Ingu la .   You wou ld  have  to  look  a t  the  long te rm 10 

coa l  cont rac ts  in  the  SOEs.  

I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  

comes to  the  Min is te r  i s  l im i ted .   You re ly  on  the  peop le  

who are  runn ing  the  ins t i tu t ion  and  the  en t i t ies ,  do ing  what  

they have to  do  and do ing  i t  in  the  cor rec t  manner  tha t  

they have to .   You,  you do not  ge t  yourse l f  invo lved in  

these cont rac ts  in  the  tenders  tha t  take  p lace and  

there fo re  you wou ld  no t  know or  even be br ie fed  un less  

you are  rea l l y  lucky  to  be  br ie fed  about  money wh ich  is  

be ing ,  what  i s  the  word ,  wh ich  is  be ing  laundered.   I f  you  20 

are  rea l l y  lucky  then you get  tha t  b r ie f ing  and then you 

can,  you know,  es tab l i sh  an  invest iga t ion ,  look  a t  the  

mat te r  and have i t  dea l t  w i th .  

Now inso far  as  I  was invo l ved dur ing  the  t ime,  I  

have sa id  tha t  rea l l y  i t  i s  pure ly  co inc identa l .   I t  i s  an  
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un for tunate  co inc idence,  because I  have l i ved  fo r  a  long 

t ime w i th  v i l i f i ca t ion ,  w i th  innuendos,  w i th  my name be ing  

ta rn ished and assoc ia ted  w i th  these inc idents ,  c la ims 

be ing  made to  wh ich  –  and tha t  is  why,  Cha i rperson,  when  

I  f i rs t  came –  no ,  no t  f i rs t ,  when I  came here  fo r  the  

second t ime I  rea l l y  p rayed tha t  I  be  a l lowed to  s ta r t  

answer ing  because as  the  ev idence lead have ind ica ted  

there  were  15  a f f idav i t s  wh ich  had imp l ica ted  me.  

They had gone on over  a  per iod  no t  jus t  o f  th ree  

years  o f  the  ex is tence o f  the  Commiss ion  bu t  even pr io r.   I  10 

needed to  respond to  these in  o rde r  to  s ta te  my case to 

exp la in  my unders tand ing  o f  what  happened and to  pos i t ion  

myse l f  in  re la t ion  to  what  was happen ing .  

And so  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  th is  happened,  wh ich  is  

re fe r red  to  as  a  loo t ing  exerc ise  o f  th is  magn i tude,  the  

repor ts  tha t  were  coming to  me,  Cha i r,  wou ld  no t  have  

ind ica ted  th is .   And I  th ink  tha t  i s  par t  o f  the  reason why a 

Commiss ion ,  because even Cab ine t  wou ld  no t  have  

rece ived th is .  

A l l  d i f fe ren t  Min i s te rs  respons ib le  fo r  en t i t ies  do  no t  20 

ge t  these types  o f  b r ie f ings  and i t  wou ld  be  on a  few 

occas ions,  as  I  have sa id ,  where  you do and you can then  

ask  the  Pres ident  to  commiss ion  the  S IU to  invest iga te  an  

issue.  But  as  the  execut ive  au thor i t y  you do not  ge t  these  

repor ts .   They happen rea l l y  fa r  away f rom you.    
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As  you cou ld  see  a  company,  I  mean I  d id  no t  know 

what  i s  ( ind is t inc t )  Investments  o r  someth ing  l i ke  tha t .   I  

d id  no t  know th is  and i t  cannot  be  t rue  tha t  the  peop le  who 

were  invo lved in  these th ings appo in t ing  SSI  wou ld  then go 

to  the  Min is te r  and say Min is te r  we have appo in ted  SSI  

wh ich  has the  fo l low ing d i rec tors ,  b lah ,  b lah ,  b lah .   No,  

they do  not  do  tha t  and you do not  ask .    

And you cou ld  very  we l l  a t tend a  funct ion  w i th  a  

company tha t  one  day wou ld  be  sub jec t  to  an  invest iga t ion .   

I t  does not  mean tha t  you yourse l f  were  compl ic i t  in  i t s  10 

appo in tment  o r  i n  whatever  wrongdo ing  they may  have  

been invo lved in .   But  as  the  execut ive  au thor i t y  the  

repor ts  tha t  come to  you are  regu la ted .   You focus yourse l f  

on  those repor ts  and ensure  tha t  you prov ide  the  s t ra teg ic  

d i rec t i ve  ass i s ted  by  the  depar tment  to  ( ind is t inc t )  tha t  the  

co l lec t i ve  o f  SOEs in  your  po r t fo l io  o r  ind iv idua l  SOE tha t  

you are  dea l i ng  w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Le t  me put  another  

p ropos i t ion  to  you and tha t  i s  tha t  i t  i s  improbab le  tha t  you 20 

d id  no t  know,  Mr  G igaba,  because th is  loo t ing  was not  

be ing  conducted  by  some unknown ent i t y.   I t  was be ing  

conducted by  the  Gupta  bro thers ,  one o f  whom was your  

f r iend.   You were  par t  o f  th is  Gupta  env i ronment .  

MR GIGABA :    Cha i rperson,  I  have responded  to  th is  
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be fore  tha t  I  knew Mr A jay  and there  are  many peop le  tha t  

we a l l  know and many get  invo lved in  wrongdo ing  and  

knowing a  person does not  make you compl ic i t  in  the i r  

wrongdo ing  i f  they  are  invo l ved in  wrongdo ing .  

I  separa ted  and I  d id  i t  de l ibera te ly.   I  no t  on ly  in  

re la t ion  to  Mr  A jay  Gupta  bu t  in  re la t ion  to  any  o ther  

bus iness person  I  know,  I  separa te  myse l f  f rom the i r  

bus iness ac t iv i t ies .   I  do  no t  need to  know what  they are  

do ing  and I  have  not  –  I  have never  been in  bus iness.   I  

am not  in  bus iness even r igh t  now.   And so  whatever  tha t  10 

they were  do ing ,  the  fac t  tha t  I  knew them or  knew Mr A jay  

does not  in  any poss ib le  way  –  tha t  can on ly  be  

es tab l i shed th rough  fac t ,  no t  th rough an i n fe rence,  no t  

th rough suppos i t ions ,  cer ta in ly  no t  th rough propos i t ions .  

I t  can  on ly  be  es tab l i shed th rough  fac t  wh ich  says  

tha t  in  th is  launder ing  o f  th is  money th is  i s  where  you  

come in ,  th is  i s  what  you d id ,  th is  i s  what  you benef i ted .   

And so  tha t  p ropos i t ion  i s  a lso  no t  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  le t  us  see where  you d id  come 

in  and pe rhaps I  can jus t  conf ine  myse l f  fo r  a  moment  to  20 

Transnet .   You appo in ted  Mr  Sharma as a  d i rec to r  and you 

then t r ied  to  make h im the  cha i rperson o f  the  board .   

Mr  Sharma went  on  to  become the  cha i rpe rson o f  the  BADC 

and we know what  happened f rom there .   That  i s  how you 

come in ,  Mr  G igaba.   You were  the  ga tekeeper  to  the 



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 74 of 138 
 

appo in tment  o f  d i rec tors .  

MR GIGABA :    Bu t  tha t  i s  a lso ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  a l so  

wrong appo in t ing  somebody as  the  Cha i rperson a t  the  t ime.   

You know,  i f  there  was someth ing  wrong w i th  Mr  Sharma a t  

the  t ime,  then le t  the  peop le  who had appo in ted  h im r igh t  

up  to  the  leve l  o f  DDG at  t rade  and indust ry  who had  

appo in ted  h im CEO of  t rade and investment  South  A f r i ca .   

 Le t  them a lso  be  a le r ted  or  accused o f  hav ing  done  

wrong,  because  appo in t ing  someone,  no t  knowing tha t  

there  is  someth ing  wrong,  they in tend do ing .   you know,  i t  10 

wou ld  be  someth ing  d i f fe ren t  i f  i t  i s  a l leged tha t  I  

appo in ted  somebody s t ra igh t  f rom pr i son,  bu t  i f  you  

appo in t  someone  who has se rved  a t  the  h ighest  leve ls  o f  

the  pub l i c  serv i ce  o f  our  coun t ry  and there  are  no  

a l legat ions aga ins t  them a t  the  t ime,  no t  un less  you know 

tha t  there  is  someth ing  they are  go ing  to  do  in  the  fu tu re .   

 Th is  p ropos i t ion  cannot  s tand,  because i t  

p resupposes tha t  I  shou ld  have known,  and i t  a lso  i gnores 

the  fac t  tha t  when we presented to  cab ine t  tha t  he  shou ld  

be  Cha i r,  what  were  the  reasons and cab ine t  sa id  no ,  do  20 

not  take  th is  d i rec t ion .   

 Not  because cab ine t  sa id  he  is  wrong or  i s  go ing  to  

do  someth ing  wrong,  bu t  cab ine t  fe l t  tha t  the  ex is t ing  Cha i r  

had on ly  been in  o f f i ce  fo r  about  s ix  months  and there  was 

no reason to  appo in t  h im,  to  remove h im f rom the  board?   
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We were  ac t ing  on  the  bas is  o f  the  issues tha t  we were  

fac ing  a t  the  t ime.    

 Not  on  the  bas is  o f  what  wou ld  p robab ly  happen in  

the  fu tu re .   That  we d id  no t  know.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:  Bu t  le t  us  look a t  i t  then cumula t ive l y  

because a t  Transnet  you appo in t  Mr  Mole fe  and Mr  Shama.   

A t  SAA you appo in t  Ms Monemi .   A t  A lexkor  you appo in t  Mr 

Bagus.   A t  Eskom you appo in t  Mr  Mal i ja ,  cor rec t?  

MR GIGABA:  Ms Monemi  had been a  board  member  o f  

SAA appo in ted  by  Ms Hogan pr io r  to  my appo in tment .   So 10 

she a l ready was on the  board  o f  SAA.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  you appo in t  a  Cha i rperson?  

MR GIGABA:  Yes.   But  tha t  was,  I  th ink  2012 or  

someth ing  l i ke  tha t .   Mr  Mole fe  was appo in ted  CEO of  

Transnet ,  a f te r  hav ing  ass is ted  the  P IC to  grow i t s  cap i ta l  

f rom about  100 mi l l ion  to  over  a  t r i l l i on  by  the  t ime he le f t  

and when he became CE o f  Transnet ,  he  was an adv i sor  I  

th ink  to  Investec  or  B idvest ,  one o f  the  two compan ies .   

 He came h igh ly  recommended.   Mr  Mal i ja  had 

ex tens i ve  exper ience in  e lec t r i c i t y,  and he was  a lso  a  20 

person o f  h igh  repute  in  the  energy secto r  and Mr  Bagus  

a lso .   Cha i rpe rson,  you do not  appo in t  peop le  on  the  bas is  

o f  supernatu ra l  power  to  see and I  make no a l l egat ion  

because they have not  been found gu i l t y  o f  anyth ing .   

 I  make no a l legat ion  or  I  am concur r ing  w i th  no  
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a l legat ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Sor ry.   Okay,  cont inue.   

MR GIGABA:  Thank you Cha i r.   I  am concur r ing  w i th  no 

a l legat ion  o f  wrongdo ing  on the i r  par t .   A l l  I  am say ing  is  

when you appo in t  someone,  you do not  have any fo res igh t  

as  to  what  they may be accused o f  a t  a  la te r  s tage.   I  th ink  

i t  cou ld  jus t  ve ry  we l l  be  tha t  we had reached  a  s tage 

maybe in  our  SOE’s ,  and i t  was not  rea l l y  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  

SOE’s  were ,  there  were  concerns tha t  there  were  p rob lems 

o f  cor rup t ion  in  the  SOE’s ,  bu t  i t  perhaps we had reached a  10 

s tage o f  accumu la t ion  o f  cu lm ina t ion ,  le t  me put  i t  l i ke 

tha t .   

 O f  cu lm inat ion  o f  the  prob lems tha t  were  

conf ron t ing  our  SOE’s  so  tha t  you  know,  the  sys tem wou ld  

beg in  to  ind ica te  tha t  there  are  d i f f i cu l t ies  here  tha t  we  

now need to  dea l  w i th ,  hence the  Commiss ion .   My be ing  

Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  was honest ly  co inc identa l  in  

th is  regard ,  and there fore  I  a lso  do  not  accept  the  

propos i t ion  tha t  i t  was because o f  my compl ic i t y,  these are  

peop le  you appo in ted  who d id  th is .   20 

 I t  cer ta in ly  had  noth ing  to  do  w i th  tha t ,  and  I  

p resume those peop le  have come here  to  exp la in  the i r  

ro les ,  and wou ld  s t i l l  maybe in  the  fu tu re  be  expected to  

exp la in  the i r  ro les  in  cer ta in  i ns tances,  bu t  I  was not  the  

reason why those th ings to  wh ich  they have answered or  
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w i l l  s t i l l  answer  happened.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see,  what  I  want  to  pu t  to  you in  

re la t ion  to  a l l  o f  those peop le  tha t  I  have ment ioned,  i s  

they a l l  to  a  g reate r  o r   lesser  ex ten t  had become 

imp l ica ted  in  S ta te  Captu re  and co r rup t ion  and to  a  greater  

o r  lesser  ex ten t  took dec is ions tha t  may be seen to  be  in  

favour  o f  the  Gup tas .   

 Would  you then cha lk  tha t  down a lso  to  an  

un for tunate  co inc idence?  

MR GIGABA:  Many peop le  knew the  Guptas ,  I  am not  the  10 

on ly  one.   Many peop le  knew the  Guptas  pr io r  to  me be ing  

Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Enterpr i ses  du r ing  my tenure ,  a f te r  my 

tenure  and tha t  does not  mean tha t  there  was anyth ing  

wrong tha t  you d id  w i th  them s imply  by  knowing them.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then f ina l l y  I  jus t  want  to  pu t  the  

propos i t ion  to  you.   Your  ev idence tha t  you were  unaware  

o f  what  was go ing  on,  i s  improbab le  because you  

appo in ted  Mr  Masango to  be  your  eyes and ears .   He was  

there .   We have seen where  he  was.   

 We have seen where  he  popped up.   We have seen  20 

what  he  d id .   

MR GIGABA:  Cha i rperson,  Mr  Mah langu h imse l f  has 

den ied  many o f  the  a l legat ions  wh ich  had been made  

aga ins t  h im.   I  th ink  we shou ld  no t  ignore  tha t  fac t  tha t  

there  a re  many th ings wh ich  have been a l leged aga ins t  



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 78 of 138 
 

h im,  wh ich  he  says I  d id  no t  do  th is  and so  on  and Mr  

Mah langu has h imse l f  made an ascer ta in  tha t  I  conducted 

myse l f  p ro fess iona l l y  in  th is  regard ,  and so  in  tha t  case,  he  

has sa id  tha t  there  are  many th ings,  I  th ink  I  have sa id  

tha t ,  wh ich  I  d id  . . .  wh ich  a re  a l leged tha t  I  d id ,  wh ich  I  d id  

no t  do .   

 Even when he wou ld  have been in  cer ta in  meet ings,  

he  has made i t  c lea r  tha t  bu t  I  d id  no t  pu t  any pressure  

here  in  regard  to  anyth ing .   Mr  Mkwanaz i  says I  asked Mr 

Mah langu to  accompany me so  tha t  he  wou ld  l i s ten  in .   Mr  10 

Khona says Mr  Mah langu was there ,  bu t  when th is  th ing  

was put  to  me tha t  I  need to  suppor t  TNA,  I  sa id  fo l low the  

procu rement  p rocesses o f  SAA.    

 So Mr  Mah langu d id  what  you know,  he  says.   He  

conducted h imse l f  as  he  says in  a  pro fess iona l  way.   What  

I  had asked h im to  do  was to  ensure  tha t  he  insu la tes  me.   

Perhaps my concern  a t  be ing  removed f rom in f luence and  

o ther  th ings,  you  can say w i th  h inds igh t  perhaps I  shou ld  

have done i t  d i f fe ren t ly,  bu t  a t  the  t ime I  had asked 

someone whom I  expected because o f  h is  lega l  knowledge 20 

wou ld  be  ab le  to  say bu t  the  Min is te r  cannot  be  invo lved in  

th is ,  the  Min i s te r  cannot  be  invo lved in  tha t .   

 There  was no ins tance tha t  Mr  Mah langu came to  

me and sa id  Min i s te r,  can I  in f luence you to  in f luence the 

fo l low ing dec i s ion  in  favour  o f  so  and so .   when  he d id  
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come to  me,  wh ich  he  sa id  i t  in  h is  own a f f idav i t  and I  

conf i rmed,  was to  b r ing  to  me a  d iscuss ion  on  s t ra teg ic  

po l i cy  i ssues,  w i th  peop le  f rom the  lega l  f ra te rn i t y,  the 

account ing  pro fess ion  as  we l l  as  the  adver t i s i ng  and  

market ing  agenc ies .   

 That  market ing  and adver t i s ing  agenc ies .   That  

much he brought  to  me.   That  much we sa t  and d iscussed.   

Not  on l y  w i th  the  re levant  o rgan isa t ions,  bu t  w i th  the  

depar tment .   There  we were  dea l i ng  w i th  a  po l i cy  i ssue o f  

t ransformat ion .   10 

 There  was no  S ta te  Captu re  or  any spec i f i c  

t ransact ion  wh ich  re la ted  to  a  par t i cu la r  person wh ich  he  

brought  to  me and asked me to  in f luence.   He d id  no t  do  

tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then jus t  one f ina l  po in t  perhaps  

on tha t .   Was Mr  Mah langu manag ing  the  Guptas  o r  was he 

ass is t ing  the  Gup tas?  

MR GIGABA:  I  had sa id  managed to  the  ex ten t  tha t  they 

may want ,  because they were  in f luent ia l  in  the  ANC.   They  

were  in  many p la t fo rms and sess ions o f  the  ANC.   I  had 20 

sa id  tha t  look ,  there  are  these  d i f fe ren t  s takeho lders .   

P lease manage them away f rom me.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson,  tha t  comple tes  ou r  

lead ing  o f  Mr  G igaba ’s  ev idence.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  th ink  what  I  
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was,  yes  Mr  So lomon.   I  w i l l  come back to  you jus t  now.    

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Sorry  to  in te r rup t  you Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  Mr  So lomon? 

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Do you want  to  hear  f rom me now?  

Cha i r,  there  was jus t  one . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  be fore  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   I ssue I  wanted . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:   Be fore  you come in ,  I  w i l l  l e t  you come in  

jus t  now.   I  wanted to  say I  was tempted to  pa in t  a  par t  o f  

the  scenar io  tha t  I  am look ing  a t  when i t  comes to  S ta te 10 

Capture ,  bu t  I  th ink  I  may have a l ready pa in ted  i t  to  Mr  

G igaba.   

 Maybe not  once,  maybe tw ice  and there fo re  I  shou ld  

no t ,  you know i t  jus t  concerns tha t  the  Guptas  may have 

ident i f ied  cer ta in  peop le  in  SOE’s  maybe government  

depar tments  as  we l l .   Maybe as  we l l  as  cer ta in  m in is te rs  

and they may have ident i f ied  Mr  Zuma,  maybe qu i te  ear l y  

on  be fo re  he  became actua l l y  p res ident ,  and so  to  come 

c lose to  h im and make whatever  f r iendsh ip .  

 He gave h is  ev idence and I  do  no t  know whethe r,  I  20 

cannot  remember  whether  he  pu t  i t  the  o ther  way l i ke  he  

was the  one us ing  them ra the r  than them us ing  h im,  bu t  

they may have ident i f ied  cer ta in  key peop le  in  SOE’s ,  

government  depar tments  and maybe some min is te r  in  

cer ta in  key po l i t ica l  po r t fo l ios ,  and t r ied  to  see how they  



23 JUNE 2021 – DAY 415 
 

Page 81 of 138 
 

cou ld  ach ieve whatever  they wanted th rough mak ing  use o f  

those connect ions,  w i th  o r  w i thout  those min is te rs  and  

o ther  peop le  rea l i s ing .   

 I  do  no t  know,  you know.   Maybe some wou ld  be  

knowing and some wou ld  be  you know,  compl ic i t .   Maybe 

some might  no t  have rea l i sed tha t  they were  be ing  used,  I  

do  no t  know,  bu t  you jus t  see th is  s i tua t ion  where  you hear  

Mr  Themba Maseko say what  Mr  AJ Gupta  sa id  to  h im in  

October  2010.   

 You see how he gets  removed f rom h is  pos i t ion  and 10 

Mr  Many i  ge ts  pu t  in to  th is  pos i t ion  and Mr  Many i  does say 

we l l ,  I  had a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  Guptas ,  I  am not  

apo log i s ing  fo r  tha t  and I  thought  i t  was impor tan t .   I  th ink  

i t  i s  the  b lack  compan ies  or  someth ing  l i ke  tha t ,  and the  

ev idence tha t  was g iven,  was inc luded how the  sa les  or  

money spent  on  the  new age ro les  by  the  GCIS or  cer ta in  

government  depar tments  a f te r  Mr  Many i  came in  and you 

have o f  course  dur ing  your  te rm Mr  Gama,  be ing  re ins ta ted  

as  CEO of  TFR under  ve ry  unusua l  c i rcumstances.   

 I  am not  say ing  tha t  tha t  was necessary  because o f  20 

the  Guptas ,  bu t  i t  i s  jus t  very  s t range c i r cumstances.   Of  

course  the  Commiss ion  has heard  ev idence wh ich  he  has 

den ied  tha t  la te r  on ,  I  th ink  a f te r  he  was back a t  some 

s tage tha t  he  go t  some money f rom the  Guptas .   

 He has den ied  tha t .   Then you have the  new age 
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say ing  in  December  2010 Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  i s  go ing  to  be  

the  new CEO of  Transnet .   I t  says  tha t  a t  a  t ime when he  

has no t  even app l ied  fo r  a  pos i t ion ,  and he gets  nominated 

by  Mr  Shama,  who is  par t  o f  the  board  o f  Transnet  and  

then in  in te rv iews  he is  number  two .   

 There  is  somebody e l se  who is  number  one,  bu t  

somehow he is  t he  one  who gets  appo in ted  to  be  group 

CEO,  and so  you s i t t ing  in  the  Commiss ion  you t ry  to  make  

sense o f  a l l  o f  these th ings and  i t  i s  impor tan t  to  ask  

everyone to  make the i r  own input  so  tha t  i f  and when any 10 

f ina l  v iew is  taken,  one has the  benef i t  o f  the  v iews f rom 

d i f fe ren t  w i tnesses.   

 But  I  am not  inv i t ing  you to  say anyth ing  because I  

th ink  I  have asked you and you have sa id  un less  tha t  i s ,  

you fee l  a  pa r t i cu la r  u rge  to  say anyth ing  I  am not  

necessar i l y  ask ing  you to  say anyth ing .    

MR GIGABA:  I  th ink  perhaps Cha i r,  no t  excep t  tha t  i t  

wou ld  a l so  be  impor tan t  to  check a t  what  s tage were  

cer ta in  ind iv idua l  ta rge ted and in f luenced when p r io r  to  

the i r  appo in tment  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

MR GIGABA:  O r  a f te r  the i r  appo in tment  when they were  

v iewed to  now occupy cr i t i ca l  pos i t ions .   So . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  no  the  t ime,  I  mean a l l  the  ev idence  

must  be  looked a t  and the  quest ion  o f  t im ing  when cer ta in  
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th ings happened,  who was in  cer ta in  pos i t ions  and  so  on  

wou ld  be  an impor tan t  fac to r.   Okay.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson,  be fore  Mr  So lomon 

addresses you,  can I  say  th is?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We I  th ink  have one or  two quest ions  

tha t  we wou ld  l i ke  to  pu t  to  Mr  G igaba tha t  can pe rhaps be 

dea l t  w i th  in  an  a f f idav i t ,  on  non-content ious i ssues .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  the  same t ime Mr  G igaba can 10 

answer  to  Ms Rossouw’s  a f f idav i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then a l though i t  i s  no t  someth ing  

tha t  I  have d iscussed w i th  Mr  So lomon,  we wou ld  be  happy 

fo r  Mr  G igaba to  then a l so  pu t  in  an  a f f idav i t  dea l ing  w i th  

any re -examinat ion  tha t  may be requ i red .   So we wou ld  

propose one a f f idav i t ,  answer ing  our  quest ions and 

Rossouw . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And re-exam inat ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then the  o ther  po in t  I  jus t  wanted 

to  make is  you wou ld  have not iced tha t  in  re la t ion  to  these  

var ious 33  app l i ca t ions,  some o f  them have not  ye t  been  

determined and on a  number  o f  occas ions Mr  G igaba has 
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asked fo r  leave fo r  h is  s ta tement  to  be  in t roduced.    

 When lead ing  h im,  i t  has  been on the  assumpt ion  

tha t  those s ta tements  w i l l  be  a l lowed in .   Perhaps jus t  to  

regu lar i se  i t  f rom a  procedura l  po in t  o f  v iew,  m ight  I  

suggest  tha t  jus t  be fore  Ms Mangoma g ives ev idence,  I  

m igh t  hand up to  you . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  Cha i rperson an orde r  tha t  you 

can then . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Or  a  ru l ing  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Admi t  them,  ja .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  you can then make,  jus t  

admi t t ing  them a l l .   I t  w i l l  be  qu i te  a  ted ious process to  go 

th rough tha t  now.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .   That  i s  f ine .   Mr  

So lomon?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh  

has answered my unt ime ly  in te r j ec t ion  wh ich  I  apo log ise  

fo r.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   That  i s  in  o rde r.   We wi l l  dea l ,  there 

is  jus t  one quest ion  I  wanted  to  dea l  w i th  in  re -

examinat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   
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ADV SOLOMON SC:   Which  we can do by  way o f  an 

a f f idav i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  a lso  had 

wanted to  check w i th  you whether  you were  go ing  to  w ish  

to  re -examine or  whether  you were  go ing  to  w ish  to  have  

whatever  i ssues  you w ish  to  have c la r i f ied ,  have them 

c la r i f ied  by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t ,  bu t  i f  you  are  happy w i th  

tha t ,  then tha t  wou ld  be  f ine .   

 I  th ink  tha t  f rom my po in t  o f  v iew Mr  G igaba  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Thank you Cha i r,  thank you fo r  tha t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  th ink  f rom my po in t  o f  v iew,  the  

one th ing  tha t  I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  dea l  w i th  a lso ,  e i ther  in  

the  a f f idav i t  tha t  i s  contempla ted  o r  in  a  separa te  a f f idav i t ,  

i s  the  dec is ion  to  appo in t  Ms Myen i  as  Cha i rpe rson o f  the 

SAA board .   

 What  i t  was in fo rmed by,  and to  t he  ex ten t  tha t  you 

are  ab le  to ,  i t  wou ld  a lso  be  he lp fu l  to  ass is t  me by  g iv ing  

me a  p i c tu re  o f  the  sk i l l s  spread w i th in  the  SAA board  a t  

the  t ime.   Wha t  k ind  o f  sk i l l s  and qua l i f i ca t ions and  20 

exper ience were  possessed by  o ther  board  members .   

 I  ask  tha t  quest ion  in  pa r t i cu la r  because the  

ev idence tha t  has been p laced  before  the  Commiss ion ,  

suggest  tha t  Ms Myen i  may have p layed a  ve ry  s ign i f i can t  

ro le  in  cha l lenges a t  SAA,  and as  I  sa id  to  you the  o the r  
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day,  one i s  fo rced to  ask  the  quest ion  how were  board  

members  appo in ted .   

 How was somebody made the  leader  o f  the  board ,  

Cha i rperson o f  the  board .   So I  ask  you to  dea l  w i th  tha t ,  

because o f  tha t  contex t .   Ja ,  okay.   A l r igh t .   I  th ink  we are  

go ing  to ,  I  am go ing  to  excuse Mr  G igaba and Mr  So lomon 

now.   

 As  I  unders tand i t  we,  the  on ly  ou ts tand ing  mat te r  

i s  the ,  apar t  f rom the  a f f idav i t s  tha t  must  s t i l l  come in  o r  

a f f idav i t ,  i s  the  issue o f  the  cross-examinat ion  o f  Ms  10 

Mangoma.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  i t  now accepted by  everybody  tha t  i s  

coming up on,  i s  i t  Tuesday next  week or  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  i t  i s  Tuesday,  sub jec t  to  you 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In fo rming us  a t  wha t  t ime 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You wou ld  be  ava i lab le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  th ink  a t  th is  s tage le t  us  work  on  

the  bas i s  o f  ten  o ’c lock ,  bu t  I  m igh t  ind ica te  and ask  tha t  

we s tar t  ea r l ie r  i f  need be.   Mr  So lomon,  you probab ly  do  

have an idea o f  how much t ime you th ink  you w i l l  take  w i th ,  
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I  th ink  when I  g ran ted,  usua l l y  when I  g ran t  leave to  c ross-

examine,  I  say  I  w i l l  de termine the  t ime,  the  amount  o f  t ime 

fo r  c ross-examinat ion  jus t  be fore  the  cross-examinat ion  

s tar ts .   

 Do you have an idea,  I  have  worked on the  

assumpt ion  tha t  because most  o f ,  a  lo t  o f  her  ev idence is  

ev idence tha t  Mr  G igaba says is  fabr ica t ion ,  I  worked on  

the  bas i s  tha t  you shou ld  no t  take  long w i th  he r.   Have you  

got  an  idea o f  what  you th ink  you,  how long you might  

take?  10 

 I  w i l l  s t i l l  de termine,  bu t  i t  wou ld  be  good to  know in  

advance what  your  own th ink ing  is .    

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Yes,  cer ta in ly  Cha i r.   Wel l  I  had not  

thought  about  i t ,  because I  was go ing  to  be  gu ided by  you,  

bu t  I  thought  two hours  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  i f  you  say two hours  tha t  co inc ides  

w i th  what  I  thought  you wou ld  no t  exceed.   You know,  I  

thought  you wou ld  e i ther  be  shor te r  than tha t  bu t  no t  

exceed tha t .   So maybe we can work  on  the  bas i s  tha t  you 

wou ld  work  towards comple t ing  i t  ear l ie r  o r  a t  leas t  no t  20 

more  than two hours .   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Yes Cha i r,  can I  say  happ i l y  tha t  you 

and I  were  o f  the  same mind?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  th ink  we are .   Okay,  a l r igh t .   We 

wi l l  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   
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ADV SOLOMON SC:   Thank you Cha i r,  no  I  w i l l  t ry  and be  

less  than tha t ,  bu t  no t  more .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  okay no  tha t  i s  f ine .   Mr  G igaba,  I  w i l l  

excuse you now.   I  see Mr  Myburgh tha t  we are  a t  quar te r  

to  one.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Le t  me excuse  Mr  G igaba so  he  can 

leave.   Yes,  okay.   What  do  you propose?  We have  

Br igad ier  Xaba who must  g ive  ev idence.   He is  no t  c ross-

examin ing  anybody.   He must  g ive  ev idence a t  some s tage  10 

th is  a f te rnoon.    

 My reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  he  shou ld  no t  be  long.   So 

we cou ld ,  i f  Mr  Ben jamin  is  he re  we cou ld  s ta r t  w i th  h im 

maybe 15 minutes ,  maybe we go up to  quar te r  pas t  i f  i t  i s  

go ing  to  take  30  minutes  and then take  the  lunch break  

a f te r  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Or  b reak a t  two,  a t  one o ’ c lock .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson ,  i f  i t  i s  in  o rde r  w i th  you  

cou ld  I  p ropose tha t  Mr  Ben jamin  g ive  ev idence now?  I  am 20 

qu i te  sure  tha t  h i s  ev idence w i l l  be  less  than ha l f  an  hour.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wi th  your  leave,  my co l league Ms 

Seege ls  Ncube is  go ing  to  lead Mr  Ben jamin .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  we jus t  need to  shu f f le  our  

papers .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  we can cer ta in ly,  I  am su re  dea l  

w i th  h im in  20  minutes .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  no  tha t  i s  f ine  then.   Sha l l  I  

ad journ  fo r  f i ve  m inutes  or  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  we w i l l  ad journ  fo r  f i ve  m inutes .   We 

ad journ .  10 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  have g reeted everybody who was here  

in  the  morn ing  bu t  in  case some were  no t  here  you are  

greeted as  we l l .   Good a f te rnoon.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:    Good a f te rnoon Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And we have not  seen you in  a  long 

t ime.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:    Yes Cha i rperson,  I  have been  

work ing  beh ind  the  scenes,  happ i ly  so .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    As  long as  you are  s t i l l  w i th  us .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good a f te rnoon Mr  Ben jamin .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Cha i rperson before  Mr  Ben jamin  

takes the  oa th  I  jus t  thought  fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  pub l i c  
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exp la in  what  h i s  ev idence wou ld  be  about  th is  a f te rnoon.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Mr  Ben jamin  is  one  o f  the 

Commiss ion  ’s  i nvest iga tors  dea l ing  w i th  the  Transnet  

s t ream,  and he w i l l  be  g iv ing  ev idence today on a  rev iew o f  

an  MNS Repor t  and h is  fu r the r  invest iga t ion  i n to  the  

re la t ionsh ip  be tween Mr  Sa l im Essa and Mr  Iqba l  Sharma 

who was appo in ted  a  Transnet  Board  member  by  fo rmer  

Min is te r  Ma lus i  G igaba a t  the  t ime.  

 The ev idence i s  la rge l y  based on documenta t ion  10 

tha t  Mr  Ben jamin  procu red as  we l l  as  a  d iagram in  the  MNS 

presenta t ion  wh ich  he  w i l l  take  the  Commiss ion  th rough.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  thank you .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   I f  he  may  take the…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  p lease  admin is te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   Please s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record?  

MR BENJAMIN:    C la rence Ben jam in .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  20 

MR BENJAMIN:    No.   

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  b ind ing  on  your  

consc ience?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes.   

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  the  ev idence 
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you  w i l l  g i ve  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ,  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

bu t  the  t ru th .   I f  so ,  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say,  

so  he lp  me God.  

MR BENJAMIN:    So  he lp  me God.  

CLARENCE BENJAMIN:    [duly  sworn,  s ta tes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Thank you,  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ho ld  on ,  the  techn ic ians must  jus t  sw i tch  

o f f  th is  screen he re ,  okay,  yes ,  con t inue.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   We wi l l  10 

be  us ing  Transne t  Bund le  7B,  th is  a f te rnoon.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And I  jus t  l i ke  to  ge t  Mr  Ben jamin  

to  conf i rm h i s  a f f idav i t s  conta ined in  there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Mr  Ben jamin ,  i f  you  cou ld  go  to  

Transnet  Bund le  7B,  page 1178.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am on 1178.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And i f  you cou ld  go  to  page 1183.  

MR BENJAMIN:    1183,  yes .  20 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Do you conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  your  

a f f idav i t?   

MR BENJAMIN:    I  do .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And on page 1182,  do  you 

conf i rm tha t  tha t  is  your  s ignature?   
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MR BENJAMIN:    1182,  yes  tha t  i s  my s ignature .   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Do you conf i rm the  cor rec tness  

and t ru th fu lness o f  you r  a f f idav i t?   

MR BENJAMIN:    I  do .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And then  i f  we can jus t  dea l  w i th  

the  annexures f rom page 1185 to  page 1199.   

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes.   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Do you conf i rm tha t  those are  the  

annexures to  your  a f f idav i t?   

MR BENJAMIN:    I  do .  10 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And then the re  is  the  second 

a f f idav i t  tha t  you deposed,  wh ich  is  a  supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t  on  page 1200,  can you go  there  p lease? 

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   To  page 1203.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Do you conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  your  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  do .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Do you conf i rm on page 1202 tha t  20 

tha t  i s  you r  s igna ture?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  do .   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Do you conf i rm the  cor rec tness  

and t ru th fu lness o f  th is  a f f idav i t?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  con f i rm tha t .  
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ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   and  then inso far  as  the  

annexures are  concerned f rom page 1205 unt i l  page  1215,  

do  you conf i rm  tha t  those are  the  annexures  to  the 

supp lementary  a f f idav i t?   

MR BENJAMIN:    I  con f i rm tha t .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  thank you Cha i rperson i f  

these a f f idav i t s  cou ld  be  admi t ted  in to  the  bund le  as  

Exh ib i t  BB30.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Take on –  le t  us  take  one a t  a  t ime and  

we w i l l  have i t  admi t ted  and then the  next  one.  10 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  one do you want  us  to  s ta r t  w i th?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   The f i rs t  a f f idav i t  on  page 1178.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  shou ld  we mark  tha t  one  as  the  

exh ib i t  ones?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   BB30.1 .  

MR BENJAMIN:    And the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  C larence Sydney  

Ben jamin ,  tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 1178 is  admi t ted  as  an  

exh ib i t  and w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  BB30.1  together  w i th ,  

oh  there  and no annexures w i th  i t?  20 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   The annexures a re  inc luded in  

th is  i t  i s  un t i l  page 1199,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Two,  together  w i th  i t s  annexures,  okay is  

the  next  one,  the  one a t  1200?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Yes,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  the 
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supp lementary  a f f idav i t ,  Cha i r  i t  i s  un t i l  page 1203.   

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  th is  one w i l l  be  BB30.2?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Cor rec t  Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    The supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  

C larence Sydney  Ben jamin ,  tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 1200 i s  

admi t ted  together  w i th  i t s  annexures and w i l l  be  marked as  

Exh ib i t  BB30.2 .   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Thank you,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And those are  the  on ly  two?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Those are  the  on ly  two a f f idav i t s ,  10 

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Mr  Ben jamin  i f  we cou ld  s ta r t  w i th  

the  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  wh ich  is  on  page 1178.   A re  you  there?   

Can you jus t  re tu rn  your  m icrophone,  a re  you there?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay.  Can you jus t  exp la in  to  the 

Cha i rperson how i t  came about  tha t  you prepared th is  

a f f idav i t?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  Cha i rpe rson,  I  was requested by  the  20 

Ev idence Leader  w i th  the  Transnet  s t ream to  ver i f y  the  

accuracy o f  MNS repor t  tha t  was prepared on  October  

2018,  and spec i f i ca l l y,  the  aspects  o f  the  MNS repor t  tha t  

dea l t  w i th  the  conf l i c t  o f  in te res t  regard ing  the  s ta te  w i th  

Sharma and Mr  Sa l im Essa and tha t  i s  where  I  s ta r ted ,  you 
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know,  jus t  to  ver i f y  the  accuracy o f  the  in format ion  

conta ined in  the  MNS repor t .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And jus t  fo r  c la r i t y,  you r  a f f idav i t  

does not    necessar i l y  dea l  w i th  the  conf l i c t  o f  in te res t .  I t  

s imp ly  dea ls  w i th  the  bus iness re la t ionsh ip  be tween Mr  

Sharma and Mr  Essa.   

MR BENJAMIN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   You make no f ind ings about  any 

conf l i c t  o f  in te res t?  

MR BENJAMIN:    No.   10 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  cor rec t .  I f  we can then 

proceed w i th  the  a f f idav i t s  in  par t i cu la r  a t  page 1179 we 

are  opera t ing  w i th  the  b lack  numbers .  There  you se t  ou t  

what  you have jus t  ind ica ted  to  the  Cha i rperson now about  

how i t  came about  tha t  you invest iga ted  as  the  -  you  

prepared th is  a f f i dav i t .   Now,  in  par t i cu la r,  you re fer  to  a t  

the  foo t  o f  the  page,  paragraph 8  re fer red  to  an  annexure  

CB1 tha t  wou ld  be  the  ex t rac t  f rom the  MNS repor t ,  i s  that  

cor rec t?   

MR BENJAMIN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  20 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   I f  we can then go to  Annexure  

CB2 –  in  fac t  CB3 wh ich  is  the  re levant  annexure  tha t  you  

want  to  take  the  Cha i rperson th rough,  tha t  i s  to  be  found 

on page 1199 Cha i rperson.  Can you ident i f y  th is  document  

fo r  the  record?  
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MR BENJAMIN:    Th is  document  on  page 1199 is  an  

ex t rac t  f rom a  presenta t ion  g iven by  MNS and  fo r  the  

purpose o f  my a f f idav i t ,  I  used  th is  as  a  background  

because i t  i s  a  good d iag ram exp la in ing  the  co-d i rec torsh ip  

and the  co-shareho ld ing  in  the  va r ious compan ies  fo r  bo th  

Mr  Essa and Mr  Sharma.   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and keep ing  your  hand on 

tha t  page i f  we can go to  page 1180.   That  i s  where  you 

dea l  w i th  the  bus iness re la t ionsh ip  be tween Mr  Sharma and 

Mr  Essa,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?   10 

MR BENJAMIN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Can you jus t  se t  ou t  fo r  the  

Cha i rperson the  var ious compan ies  tha t  you ident i f ied  

where  there  is  a  bus iness re la t ionsh ip  be tween the  two? 

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  Cha i rperson on page 1180 on 

paragraph 11 I  have l i s ted  s i x  compan ies  in  wh ich  Mr  

Sharma and Mr  Essa had a  share  in te res t  e i the r  as  co-

d i rec tors  o r  co-shareho lde rs ,  and  I  have l i s ted  them in  

parag raph 11 and  I  w i l l  j us t  go  th rough the  l i s t  and I  w i l l  go  

in to  de ta i l  a t  a  la te r  s tage.   20 

The compan ies  are  Agraso lve  P ty  L td ,  VR Laser  

Serv i ces  P ty  L td ,  VRLS Proper t ies   P ty  L td ,  Essa Cap i ta l  

P ty  L td  and over  the  page on 1181,  the  Nat iona l  

Agr icu l tu ra l  Deve lopment  Pro jec t  P ty  L td  and las t l y,  a  

company ca l led  Taku South  A f r i ca  P ty  L td .  
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ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  can we then go back to  our  

d iag ram on page 1199 and perhaps le t  us  s ta r t  w i th  

Agraso lve  and in  par t i cu la r,  the  second -  the  f i rs t  b lock  in  

b lue  where  i t  dea ls  w i th  Mr  Essa and Mr  Sharma’s  

d i rec torsh ip ,  i f  you  cou ld  jus t  read tha t  in to  the  reco rd .   

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  Cha i r  the  d iagram on page 1199 the  

b lock  ind i ca t ing  Agraso lve  P ty  L td  i t  i s  s ta ted  there  tha t  Mr  

Essa was the  ac t ive  d i rec tor  in  tha t  par t i cu la r  company and  

Mr  Sharma dec la red the  50% in te res t  in  Agraso lve  on  the  

28 t h  o f  the  2 n d ,  2013.  10 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  now i f  we can go to  the  

suppor t ing  documents  in  respect  o f  tha t  on  page 1192,  

wh ich  is  Annexure  CB2 o f  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  i s  the  page number?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Page 1192 Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thanks.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Can you ident i f y  th is  document  

fo r  the  record?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  th is  i s  the  subs id ia ry  repor t  fo r  

Agraso lve  P ty  L td  and i t  ind i ca tes  who the  d i rec tors  were  20 

in  tha t  par t i cu la r  company,  on  par t i cu la r  t ime per iods.   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Who p repared th is  repor t ,  who  

ex t rac ted  th is  repor t?   

MR BENJAMIN:    Sor ry?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Who ex t rac ted  th i s  repor t  f rom 
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the…[ in tervene]  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  ex t rac ted  th is  repor t  f rom the  subs id ia ry 

records .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay and  what  does i t  ind ica te?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I t  ind ica tes  in  the  m idd le  o f  tha t  

par t i cu la r  page Cha i r  tha t  the  ac t ive  d i rec tor  there  in  the  

Agraso lve  i s  Sa l im Az iz  Essa and he was appo in ted  on the  

2 n d  o f  the  12 t h ,  2013 wh ich  reconc i les  w i th  the  d iag ram on 

page 1199 wh ich  we re fer red  to .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and then in  respect  o f  Mr  10 

Sharma,  Annexure  CB4,  wh ich  is  on  page  1205,  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    1205.   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   1205.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Can you ident i f y  th is  document?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Ye ,  Cha i r  the  document  on  page 1205 is  

the  dec la ra t ion  o f  in te res t  in  cont rac ts  submi t ted  by  Mr  

Sharma to  the  Transnet  co rpora te  secre tar ia t  and I  

ob ta ined th is  document  f rom the  corpora te  secre tar ia t  a t  20 

Transnet .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Now,  what  i s  the  da te  when is  i t  

s igned by  h im? 

MR BENJAMIN:    Th is  i s  s igned on the  28 t h  o f  February  

2013.  
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ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And wha t  i s  i t  tha t  you want  to  

ident i f y  on  th is  document?  

MR BENJAMIN:    What  i s  the  one ident i f y ing  th is  document  

i s  jus t  above,  where  Mr  Sharma ind ica tes  h is  i n te res t  in  

Agraso lve  P ty  L td  under  the  co lumn percen tage he 

ind ica tes  a  50% in teres t  in  Agraso lve  P ty  L td  wh ich  aga in  

reconc i les  w i th  the  d iagram on  page 1199,  the  b lock  

re la t ing  to  Agraso lve  P ty  L td .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And  what  i s  the  da te  o f  

appo in tment  iden t i f ied  by  Mr  Sharma fo r  the  Agraso lve  P ty  10 

L td?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Sor ry,  Cha i r?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   What  da te  o f  appo in tment  does 

he ident i f y  in  h i s  conf l i c t ,  dec la ra t ion  o f  in te res t ,  i t  i s  the  

second las t  co lumn.  

MR BENJAMIN:    2012.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Then i f  we can go back to  the  

d iag ram on page 1199 and to  the  r igh t  o f  the  b lock  tha t  we 

were  dea l ing  w i th ,  i f  you  cou ld  jus t  exp la in  about  the  

ownersh ip  o f  the  shares o f  Agraso lve?  20 

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  Cha i r  Agraso lve  owns 74.9% of  the  

shares in  a  company ca l led  VR Laser  Serv i ces  P ty  L td  and  

we w i l l  look  a t  the  b lock  on  the  r igh t  hand s ide  o f  tha t  page  

tha t  Mr  Essa was  the  ac t ive  d i rec tor  o f  VR  Laser  Serv ices  

P ty  L td  f rom the  14 t h  o f  January  2014.  
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ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  i f  we can f i rs t  jus t  dea l  

w i th  the  f i rs t  submiss ion  tha t  you made,  wh ich  was tha t  

Agraso lve  own 74.9% shares in  VR Laser,  i f  we go  to  CB5 

o f  you r  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  on  page 1207.  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes.   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Can you ident i f y  th is  document?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  th is  i s  a  share  reg i s te r  fo r  VR Laser  

Serv i ces  Propr ie t y  L td .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And what  does i t  ind ica te?   

MR BENJAMIN:    I t  ind ica tes  Cha i r,  on  the  fa r  r i gh t  co lumn 10 

o f  the  share  reg i s te r  tha t  in  the  th i rd  row tha t  Agraso lve  

Propr ie ty  L td  owned 749 shares in  VR Laser  Serv ices  and  

i f  you look a t  the  to ta l  shares on  page12909,  the  issued  

cap i ta l  o f  VR Laser  Serv ices  is  1000 wh ich  means tha t  

Agraso lve  owns 74.9% of  the  shares in  VR Laser  Serv i ces  

Propr ie ty  L td ,  wh ich  aga in  reconc i les  w i th  the  d iag ram on 

page 1199.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and then i f  we go back to  

the  d iagram on page 1199,  the  next  b lock  is  what  you jus t  

to ld  us  about  now VR Laser  Serv ices  and tha t  Mr  Essa is  20 

an  ac t ive  d i rec tor.   In  tha t  regard ,  can we go  back to  

Annexure  CB2 o f  your  o r i g ina l  a f f idav i t  and tha t  i s  on  page  

1193.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Can you aga in ,  iden t i f y  th is  
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document?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  Cha i r  th is  i s  aga in  an  ex t rac t  f rom a 

subs id ia ry  repor t  fo r  VR Laser  Serv i ces  tha t  I  ex t rac ted 

f rom the  database o f  the  subs id ia ry  company.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And what  does i t  ind ica te?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Cha i r,  in  the  m idd le  o f  tha t  ex t rac t  under  

ac t i ve  d i rec tors ,  the  f i rs t  d i rec tor  tha t  i s  ment ioned there  is  

Sa l im Az iz  Essa and th is  da te  o f  appo in tment  i s  the  14 t h  o f  

January  2014,  wh ich  aga in  reconc i les  w i th  the  d iagram on 

page 1199.  10 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and then back  to  the 

d iag ram on page 1199.   I f  we look a t  -  to  the  le f t  o f  the  f i rs t  

b lock ,  wh ich  says  Agraso lve  owns 80% shares in  NADP Pty  

L td ,  what  i s  NADP Pty  L td?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I t  i s  the  Nat iona l  Agr i cu l tu ra l  

Deve lopment  Program,  company.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay and in  tha t  regard ,  you 

ind ica ted  tha t  in  NADP i f  you can jus t  read in to  the  record  

the  b lock  tha t  re fe rs  to  NADP act ive  d i rec tors?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  the  ac t ive  d i rec to rs  in  NADP was Mr  20 

Sharma f rom the  7 t h  o f  the  11 t h ,  2013 and Mr  Essa f rom the  

7 t h ,  o f  the  11 t h ,  2013.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And in  tha t  regard ,  can we then 

go back to  CB2 page 1196 and on page 1196.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  
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ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  on  page 1196 can you  

ident i f y  th is  document?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Th is  i s  aga in  an  ex t rac t  f rom the  

database f rom the  subs id ia ry  and I  have ex t rac ted  the  

subs id ia ry  repor t  fo r  the  Nat iona l  Agr icu l tu ra l  Deve lopment  

Pro jec t .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And can you te l l  us  what  does i t  

ind ica te?   

MR BENJAMIN:    A t  the  bo t tom the  las t  parag raph on tha t  

page d i sc loses o f  the  ac t i ve  d i rec tors  in  the  NADP which  10 

are  Mr  Sa l im Az iz  Essa appo in ted  on the  7 t h  o f  the  11 t h ,  

2013 and Mr  Igba l  Meer  Sharma a lso  appo in ted  on the  7 t h  

o f  the  11 t h ,  2013,  wh ich  aga in  reconc i les  w i th  the  d iag ram 

on page 1199.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and in  respect  jus t  back to  

page 1199,  you then a lso  dea l  w i th  Agraso lve  shares in  

NADP.  

MR BENJAMIN:    Cor rec t ,  yes  tha t  Agraso lve  on  page 1199 

ind ica ted  tha t  Agraso lve  owns 80% of  the  shares in  NADP.   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And in  tha t  regard ,  can we go to  20 

Annexure  CB6 in  your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  wh ich  is  on  

page 1211.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay and can you ident i f y  th is  

document  fo r  us?  
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MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  aga in  Cha i r  tha t  i s  a lso  an  ex t rac t  

o f  the  share  reg i s te r  fo r  t he  Nat iona l  Agr icu l tu ra l  

Deve lopment  Pro jec t  P ty  L td .   

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And where  do  we see the  

ownersh ip  o f  Agraso lve?  

MR BENJAMIN:    That  w i l l  be  in  t he  second b lock  o f  page 

1211 i t  s ta tes  say there  tha t  Agraso lve  Propr ie t y  L td  in  the 

fa r  r igh t  hand co rne r  owns 80% or  80  shares in  the  NADP 

and i f  one goes to  the  las t  page o f  the  share  reg i s te r  wh ich  

is  on  page 1213 the  to ta l  i ssued share  cap i ta l  o f  NADP is  10 

100 wh ich  means tha t  Agraso lve  owns e f fec t i ve ly  80% of  

the  shares in  NADP.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay and then i f  we go back to  

our  d iagram on page 1199.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   There  is  the  b lock  dea l ing  w i th  

Essa Cap i ta l .  

MR BENJAMIN:     Cor rec t ,  Essa and i t  ind ica tes  there  tha t  

the  ac t i ve  d i rec tors  i n  Essa Cap i ta l  a re  f rom the  17 t h  

December  2010 to  the  22n d  o f  May  2014 is  Mr  I  Sharma.  20 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  in  tha t  regard ,  can  we go  

to  CB2 o f  your  o r i g ina l  a f f idav i t  on  page 1195.  

MR BENJAMIN:    I  am there .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Can you aga in  ident i f y  the  

document  and te l l  us  what  i t  dep ic t s?  
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MR BENJAMIN:    I t  i s  aga in  an  ex t rac t  tha t  I  made f rom 

the  subs id ia ry  records  and th is  ex t rac t  re la tes  to  a  

company ca l led  Essa Cap i ta l .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And what  does i t  dep ic t?  

MR BENJAMIN:    I t  ind ica tes  the  second las t  b lock  on  tha t  

page tha t  the  d i rec tor  o f  the  company is  Mr  Iqba l  Meer  

Sharma,  he  was appo in ted  on the  17 t h  o f  the  12 t h  2010 and  

he res igned on the  22n d  o f  May 2014.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and then back  to  page 

1199,  you then dea l  w i th  Essa Cap i ta l ’s  ownersh ip  in  VR 10 

Laser  Proper t ies .   

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And what  does the  d iag ram 

ind ica tes?  

MR BENJAMIN:    The d iagram ind ica tes  tha t  Essa Cap i ta l  

owes 100% of  the  shares in  VRL Proper t ies .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And in  tha t  regard ,  can we then 

go to  Annexure  CB7 in  your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  on  

page 1215,  can you jus t  ident i f y  tha t  document?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Yes,  Cha i r  th is  i s  the  share  ce r t i f i ca te 20 

issued by  VRLS Proper t ies .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   And what  does i t  ind ica te?   

MR BENJAMIN:    I t  ind ica tes  tha t  Essa Cap i ta l  owns a  100  

shares in  VRLS Proper t ies .  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   Okay,  and then in  so  fa r  as  Essa  
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Cap i ta l  -  back to  page 1199 my apo log ies ,  to  the  le f t  o f  the  

b lock  dea l ing  w i th  Essa Cap i ta l  there  is  a lso  i t s  ownersh ip 

in  NADP,  can you  ind ica te  what  tha t  says?  

MR BENJAMIN:    Sor ry,  jus t  repea t  tha t  quest ion?  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   NADP,  Essa ’s…[ in te rvene]  

MR BENJAMIN:    Oh,  yes  Essa Cap i ta l  owns 20% of  the  

shares in  NADP.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:   I f  we can then go to  …[ loss  o f  

aud io  00 .25.54 to  00 .30 .00 –  Sess ion  3  Par t  2  –  no  aud io  

up  to  00 .01 .00]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    . . . the  a l legat ions aga ins t  them maybe 

cou ld  be  done so  tha t  one wou ld  be  ab le  to  say when one 

cou ld  look a t  cer ta in  t ransact ions tha t  a re  ta in ted  had 

happened dur ing  cer ta in  per iods and look a t  who the  Board  

members  were  and see i f  they  had in te res t  in  cer ta in  

en t i t ies  where  one cou ld  do  tha t  w i th  Eskom,  Dene l  and I  

know fo r  examp le  w i th  Dene l  tha t  –  a t  leas t  I  th ink  

acco rd ing  to  the  MNS repor t  there  were  ce r ta in  members  

who had some in te res t  connected w i th  the  Gupta  Fami ly  o r  

en t i t ies  bu t  one wou ld  l i ke  to  have a  c lea r  p ic tu re  and I  20 

wou ld  imag ine  tha t  i t  shou ldn ’ t  be  a  job  tha t  wou ld  take  too  

much but  you wou ld  know bet te r.  

MR BENJAMIN :   No I  am ta lk ing  spec i f i ca l l y  about  the  

Transnet  s t ream Cha i r  bu t  I  mean var ious o the r  s t reams 

have done s im i la r  exe rc i ses  so  i t  is  no t  tha t  we have to  do 
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an  exerc ise  l i ke  tha t  f rom scra tch ,  I  th ink  a  lo t  o f  the  

in fo rmat ion  is  ava i lab le ,  one jus t  needs to  conso l ida te  i t  

in to  one repor t  o r  someth ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we l l  the  Transnet  work  s t ream,  

lega l  team is  l i s ten ing  you are  he re ,  I  th ink  the  issue cou ld 

be  looked a t  and  you cou ld  share  the  in fo rmat ion  w i th  the  

head o f  the  inves t iga t ion  team but  I  th ink  i t  wou ld  be  good 

to  have tha t  s i tua t ion ,  someth ing  a long those l ines .   The 

phys i ca l  one cou ld  have an a f f idav i t  l i ke  th is  in  regard  to  

each SOE work  s t ream,  I  mean SAA,  SABC I  know tha t  the  10 

members  o f  the  lega l  team re la t ing  to  those might  no 

longer  be  around,  bu t  there  are  lo ts  o f  th ings tha t  the  

invest iga t ion  team is  ab le  to  do  on  the i r  own,  bu t  Eskom 

def in i te ly,  Dene l  de f in i te ly,  and Transnet  you have a l ready 

done,  bu t  you focused on Mr  Sharma here  on ly  and  I  don ’ t  

know whether  tha t  i s  because we d idn ’ t  do  the  o thers  or  

you d id  do  them but  there  was noth ing ,  bu t  i t  wou ld  be  

good to  have some p ic tu re ,  even i f  i t  d idn ’ t  cover  

everybody,  so  i f  i t  can  be done,  I  know i t  i s  la te in  te rms o f  

our  t imef rames but  whatever  can be done might  be  he lp fu l ,  20 

i f  i t  i s  poss ib le .  

 Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR BENJAMIN:    Thank you Cha i r.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:    Thank you Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you,  you are  now excused.    
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Thank you fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f  to  ass is t .   We wi l l  take  the  

lunch ad journment  now,  you w i l l  no te  be  coming back? 

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:    No Cha i rpe rson Mr  Myburgh w i l l  

take  ove r.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  th ink  even he won ’ t  be  coming  

back.  

ADV SEGEELS-NCUBE:    Won ’ t  be  coming be back.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  and I  guess he  is  -   he  must  be  

happy,  he  has been on h is  fee t  these days fo r  ve ry  long 

per iods,  okay a l r igh t ,  we w i l l  take  the  lunch ad journment  10 

and we w i l l  resume a t  twenty  f i ve ,  past ,  le t  me jus t  make i t  

ha l f  past  two,  tha t  i s  when we w i l l  hear  the  ev idence o f  

B r igad ier  Xaba I  th ink .  

 We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:   Good af te rnoon Mr Hul ley and good 

af ternoon everybody.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Good af ternoon Mr Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Are we ready? 20 

ADV HULLEY SC:   We are ready to  proceed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV HULLEY SC:   Mr Chai rman today is  the ev idence of  

Br igadier  Xaba.   He was impl icated by Major  Genera l  

Booysen and Mr  Innocent  Khuba.   He has deposed to  
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a ff idavi t s  which are before the commission.   They fo rm par t  

o f  the LEA9 bund le that  should be  before you.   So he has 

been g iven leave to come and test i fy  but  no other  – no 

leave in  respect  o f  anyth ing e lse.   Thank you Mr Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good evening Br igadier  Xaba.   Good 

af ternoon.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Evening Chai rperson.   Good af ternoon.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We a l located a date for  you and t ime for  

you to  come and test i fy  and be quest ioned even though 

there might  have been reasons to  say maybe th is  should not  10 

be pursued but  I  th ink the d i f f icu l ty  was that  you had 

a l ready been granted leave.   

 Now the reason why I  am saying  there might  have 

been a reason to say th is  should not  be pursued is  that  your  

ev idence would fa l l  w i th in  the a l legat ions that  are made in  

connect ion wi th  personnel  in  law enforcement  agenc ies and 

I  ind icated last  week when we had a lo t  o f  appl icat ions fo r  

leave to  c ross-examine in  regard to  law enforcement  agency 

personnel  that  there might  be no sound reason to pursue 

those cross-examinat ions in  the l ight  o f  the fact  that  the  20 

commission wi l l  make recommendat ions for  mat te rs  re la t ing  

to  law enforcement  agencies to  be  deal t  wi th  through 

another  process or  fo rum or  separate inqui ry  as provided 

for  in  the Terms o f  Reference of  the  commission.  

 But  because you have – you had a l ready been 
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granted leave you were one of  the people that  I  thought  

might  fee l  aggr ieved i f  you were not  ca l led because you 

might  fee l  you wanted to  respond to a l legat ions that  had 

been made against  you.    

 So I  am giv ing you th is  explanat ion so that  you 

understand but  a lso so that  o thers who are in  – who fa l l  

w i th in  the law enforcement  agencies would understand how 

come you are here and you wi l l  be  g iv ing ev idence when 

others have been to ld  that  there might  not  be much purpose 

in  pursuing that .  10 

 You understand.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   I  understand Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay.   You do wish to  g ive ev idence 

and to deal  wi th  whatever  quest ions you may be asked,  is  

that  r ight?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correc t  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay a l l  r ight .   Mr Hul ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe for  the benef i t  o f  the pub l ic  you 

can ind icate what  the context  o f  B r igadier  Xaba’s ev idence 20 

and quest ion ing w i l l  be and what  top ics wi l l  be covered.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Mr Chai r  Br igadier  

Xaba was as  I  ind icated at  the ou tset  impl icated by Major  

Genera l  Booysen and he was a lso impl icated by Mr Innocent  

Khuba insofar  as Mr – insofar  as Major  Genera l  Booysen is  
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concerned he ra ised in  effect  what  were three top ics only 

one of  which I  wi l l  pursue today.  

 One is  –  one re lated to  Mr – the  ar rest  o f  Mr V lok 

Symington and I  understand that  Br igadier  Xaba has been 

in formed that  because that  fa l l s  under the  SARS work 

st ream that  i t  would not  be pursued and he has been asked 

i f  he would agree to  that  and he has in  fact  through h is  

at torney sent  correspondence to that  e ffect .  

 That  is  in  the case I  wi l l  not  pursue the a l legat ions 

re la t ing to  Mr V lok Symington.   Then there is  the  10 

invest igat ion in to the case of  Mr McBr ide,  Mr Khuba and Mr 

Sesoko and that  re la ted to  a l legat ions of  the i r  a l te rat ion of  

a  repor t  which led to  charges o f  defeat ing the ends of  

just i ce and – and f raud.  

 Insofar  as that  i s  concerned the  issue has been 

deal t  wi th  qui te  extensive ly  before the commission.   The 

people that  were  behind the fo rmulat ion of  those charges 

who fo rm par t  o f  the NPA off i c ia ls  they have been asked to 

agree and have in  fact  been affo rded the opportuni ty  to  

provide summaries but  have been to ld  pursuant  to  – to  an 20 

inst ruct ion g iven by  yoursel f  Mr Chai rperson that  they wi l l  –  

they wi l l  –  no f ina l  decis ion wi l l  be made against  them or  

f ind ings wi l l  be made against  them.  

 That  be ing the  case I  th ink that  insofar  as Mr –  

insofar  as Br igadier  Xaba is  concerned that  i t  would be 
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po int less t ry ing to  cross-examine h im on issues that  re la te 

to  the – to  peop le that  were above h im and when I  say 

above h im i t  is  people who made the decis ions not  –  they 

were in  d i f ferent  departments as i t  were.  

 And then there is  the one issue that  I  wi l l  pursue 

wi th  h im and that  is  the issue re lat ing  to  an  a l legat ion made 

by  Mr  – or  ra ther  by  Major  Genera l  Booysen who quest ioned 

the reason as to  why he had been appointed or  h is  un i t  had 

been appointed to  deal  wi th  the invest iga – some of  the 

invest igat ions because they d id not  typ ica l l y  fa l l  w i th in  the  10 

parameters of  the problems of  h is  un i t  and that  is  the  

cr imes against  the state.  So I  would ask h im quest ions 

re la t ing to  that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no that  is  a l l  r ight .   You understand 

what  Mr Hul ley has just  sa id Br igadier?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  he sa id that  there are i ssues that  he wi l l  

not  ask you quest ions on i f  you fee l  that  one of  the –  one or  

more of  the mat ters that  he is  no t  in tending to  cover  are 

mat te rs where you would l ike to  put  your  s ide of  the story  20 

do ind icate and –  and then I  can g ive you a chance to deal  

wi th  that .   You understand.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   I  understand Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .    

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes.    
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay a l l  r ight .   Let  us do the oath now 

or  aff i rmat ion.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your  fu l l  names fo r  the record.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your  fu l l  names fo r  the record.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   I  am Nyameka Xaba.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ion to  tak ing the  

prescr ibed oath? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   No object ion.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you consider  the oath b ind ing on your  10 

conscience? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correc t .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly swear that  the ev idence you 

wi l l  g ive wi l l  be the t ru th;  the who le t ru th and noth ing but  

the t ru th;  i f  so p lease ra ise your  r ight  hand and say,  so help 

me God.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   So help me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Okay Mr Hul ley.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Br igadier  Xaba i f  

you could tu rn wi th  me to a bundle which is  marked LEA9.  20 

You have the bundle S i r.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes I  do have the bundles.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   I f  you looked – tu rn to  page 6  of  that  

bundle.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Page 6.   Yes.  
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ADV HULLEY SC:   I f  you could hold that  page open and 

turn wi th  me to page 34 of  the same bundle.    

BRIGADIER XABA:   Page 34.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Pardon me my … 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Where actual ly  i t  says.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   My apologies.   I t  is  page 24 my s incere 

apologies.    

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes page 24 yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now there is  a  s ignature on that  page 

above the word deponent ,  is  that  your  s ignature? 10 

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correc t  Chai rperson.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   And is  th is  document  your  aff idavi t?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  my aff idavi t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you very much.   And do you see 

the – or  do you – do you conf i rm that  the contents of  th is  

aff idavi t  a re t rue and correct  to  the  best  o f  your  knowledge? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes that  i s  cor rect .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you very much.   Mr Chai r  th is  –  

th is  i s  par t  o f  the  o ld  ser ies but  I  would ask that  you mark  

th is  as Exhib i t  Y9.1 or  i f  you have i t  admi t ted as Exhib i t  20 

Y9.1.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The aff idavi t  o f  Mr Nyameka Xaba which 

star ts  at  page 6  of  Bundle LEA9 is  admi t ted and wi l l  be  

marked as Exhib i t  –  what  exhib i t?  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Y9.1  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Y9.1.    

ADV HULLEY SC:   And i t  inc ludes annexures Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Together  wi th  i ts  annexures.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now Br igadier  Xaba i f  I  understand 

correct ly  the – some of  the a l legat ions that  have been made 

against  you speci f ica l l y  by Major  Genera l  Booysen re late to  

the work that  was per formed by the uni t  wi th in  the DPCI  of  

which you were  a par t .   Is  tha t  correct?  Is  that  your  10 

understanding as wel l?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correc t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now just  to  be  speci f ic  the DPCI  is  the  

d i rectorate fo r  pr ior i t y  cr ime invest igat ions which is  

commonly refer red to  as the Hawks,  is  that  cor rect?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correc t .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   When d id you jo in  th is  un i t  –  the DPCI  

that  is?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   I  jo ined the uni t  actual l y  the DPCI  I  

jo ined the DPCI  in  2009.  20 

ADV HULLEY SC:   And when – and you were a member of  

the uni t  o r  you were the head of  the uni t  cr imes against  the 

state,  is  that  cor rect?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes f rom 2011.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now just  expla in to  us very br ie f ly  the 
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var ious components and how each of  these components f i t  

together  and how you f i t  in to  that  s t ructure wi th in  the  DPCI? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   The DPCI  by  that  t ime was having a 

st ructure that  is  not  the same l i ke now where having a  

st ructure f rom 2014/15/16/17/18 but  now we have got  a  new 

st ructure.   But  now I  am going to  deal  wi th  the st ructure 

of14/15/16/17/18.  

 Accord ing to  the  DPCI  st ructure at  the head there 

the top we were having a nat ional  head of  the d i rectorate of  

pr ior i t y  cr ime invest igat ion uni t .   Under the Nat ional  head 10 

we were having another  layer  of  the component  heads.   I  do  

not  want  to  put  the Deputy Nat ional  head because the  

Deputy  Nat ional  head is  deal ing w i th  admin ist rat i ve  issues.  

I  want  on ly to  conf ine mysel f  on the  operat ional  i ssues.  

 From the nat ional  head having f ive components.   

The f i rs t  one was ser ious organised cr ime.   The second one 

was pr ior i t y  c r ime cent re.   The th i rd  one was ser ious 

corrupt ion and the four th one – hel lo .  

ADV HULLEY SC:   I  th ink you meant  ser ious ant i -

corrupt ion.  20 

BRIGADIER XABA:   The four th one was ser ious commercia l  

–  yes – and then the f i f th  one was pr io r i ty  cr ime 

management  cent re.    

ADV HULLEY SC:   I  th ink you have le f t  one out .   You have 

ment ioned pr io r i ty  c r ime management  cent re twice.   I  th ink 
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you meant  the f inancia l  asset  for fe i ture invest igat ions,  i s  

that  cor rect?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes we cal l  i t  00:15:55 by that  t ime 

yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Very wel l .   And then below the –  wi th in  

each component  there were d i f ferent  sect ions,  is  that  

correct?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correct .   I  w i l l  just  deal  on ly  

wi th  the d i f ferent  sect ions under ser ious organised cr ime 

where actual ly  I  am work ing.  10 

ADV HULLEY SC:   So you – the cr imes against  the state  

was one of  the sect ions under  that  component .   Is  that  

r ight?  

BRIGADIER XABA:    Under ser ious organised cr ime.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   And what  were the others? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   We were hav ing operat ions.   Another  

one pol i cy standards and procedures.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Very wel l .   Now when we speak about  

ser ious organised cr ime what  do  we – wi th in  the DPCI  

language of  course what  do we mean by ser ious organised 20 

cr ime?  I  would imagine in  the f i rs t  p lace that  is  has got  to  

be ser ious and in  the second that  i t  has got  to  be organised 

cr ime,  i s  that  correct?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes before actual l y  i t  was organised 

cr ime that  t ime but  now i t  ser ious organised cr ime.  
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ADV HULLEY SC:   Wel l  a t  the t ime and we are ta lk ing now 

speci f ica l l y  in  the per iod of  2016 which is  the per iod to  

which these a l legat ions against  you re late.   Was i t  ca l led 

ser ious organised cr ime at  the t ime? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Or  was i t  s imply  ca l led organised cr ime? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   I t  was ser ious organised cr ime.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now could you just  g ive us  a br ie f  

ind icat ion of  what  was meant  and what  were the type of  

invest igat ions that  would be conducted under  ser ious 10 

organised cr ime? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Just  to  –  sorry – just  to  g ive a  

background.   The DPCI  actual l y  was establ i shed through 

Sect ion 17 of  the  Pol ice Act  whereby our  funct ions are very  

def ined.   I  w i l l  just  go st ra ight  to  Sect ion 17D whereby they 

are te l l ing us what  are the funct ions of  DPCI .   

 Accord ing to  that  Sect ion 17D that  17D ta lks about  a 

nat ional  pr ior i t y  o ffences that  must  be invest igated by the  

DPCI .   The sect ion a lso g ives the nat ional  head a d iscret ion  

on what  p rerogat ive to  decide  which cases must  be 20 

invest igated by the DPCI .  

 A l though in  Sect ion 17B they are saying we wi l l  be  

deal ing wi th  nat ional  pr ior i t y  o ffences in  par t icu la r  ser ious 

organised cr ime,  ser ious commercia l  and ser ious 

corrupt ion.   But  that  17D is  expla in ing more what  actual ly  
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the core funct ions of  the DPCI  whereby i t  is  saying  we wi l l  

be invest igat ing  nat ional  pr ior i t y  o ffences which at  the  

d iscret ion of  the nat ional  head wi l l  be assigned to a  

re levant  component  or  sect ion to  deal  wi th  those cr imes.  

 And we are not  ta lk ing about  the cr imes against  the  

state now not  the whole mandate of  the DPCI .   We as 

cr imes against  the state  we invest igate any cr iminal  conduct  

that  impacts in to  the secur i ty  o f  the Republ ic  o f  South  

Af r ica and i t s  te r r i tor ia l  in tegr i t y  inc lud ing nat ional  pr ior i t y  

o ffences.  10 

 That  is  why I  want  to  go st ra igh t  to  our  mandate  

because the issue here accord ing  to  the people who are 

impl icat ing me or  the off ice I  am work ing f rom they are 

saying we were not  supposed to invest igate the cases that  

we were invest iga t ing of  which I  do not  agree wi th  them. 

ADV HULLEY SC:   And I  appreciate that .   But  I  want  to  take  

i t  one step at  a  t ime less we eventual l y  lose a l ignment  wi th  

each other  and we do not  fo l low what  you saying .   I  am 

worr ied about  ser ious organised cr ime.   I  want  to  know 

would i t  be fa i r  to  say that  i f  we ta lk ing about  ser ious 20 

organised cr ime that  the cr ime must  in  the f i rs t  instance be 

organised cr ime and in  the second instance must  be ser ious 

organised cr ime.   Would that  be fa i r  to  say? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes i t  should be l ike that  bu t  i f  you 

take the CATS mandate i t  i s  saying  the CATS mandate  is  
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the exclus ive mandate of  the DPCI  i r respect ive  of  the  

complexi t y  or  t r iv ia l i ty  o f  the cr ime i t  must  be invest igated  

by the cr imes against  the state which means i f  that  case is  

in  the publ i c  in te rest  we must  i r respect ive of  whether  i t  is  a  

minor  or  the perpet rator  is  someone who is  known or  not  

known but  i t  is  in  that  publ i c  space we must  invest iga te that  

case.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Wel l… 

BRIGADIER XABA:   In  te rms of  the Nat ional  Pr ior i t y  

Offence Def in i t ion .  10 

ADV HULLEY SC:   Are you – and lest  I  misunderstand you 

are you suggest ing that  as the –  as the CATS un i t  or  the  

CATS sect ion you have got  to  invest igate even cr imes that  

the pol i ce are – ord inary pol i ce off icers wi th in  the broader  

South Af r i can Pol ice Serv ice are requi red to  invest igate as  

wel l .  

BRIGADIER XABA:   No i t  is  not  l ike that .   I t  depends.   As I  

sa id we look at  the pr io r i ty  o f  the case.   As I  sa id Nat ional  

Pr io r i ty  Offence.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Yes.   20 

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  actual ly  is  in  the publ ic  in terest  

as wel l  as the posi t ion of  t rust  o f  those people who are 

involved i r respect ive of  the complexi ty  of  the case.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   So the complexi ty  of  the  case is  

i r re levant  i f  i t  invo lves somebody of  which is  –  who is  
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regarded as h igh pr ior i t y  then that  would warrant  an  

invest igat ion in to  the person or  war rant  an invest igat ion by  

the CATS uni t  –  sect ion in to that  person.   Is  that  what  you 

saying? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Wel l  I  say we look at  the case and then 

we check actual l y  the case how i t  f i ts  in  the society.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe i t  is  go ing to  speed th ings up 

maybe Mr Hul ley  i f  you le t  h im – you te l l  h im what  the  

ev idence who is  against  h im that  was g iven and le t  h im put  

up h is  vers ion and see whether  the issue about  whether  i t  10 

fa l ls  wi th in  the mandate or  not  a t  a  factual  level  comes up.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Now Mr… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Because the main purpose of  today is  to  

le t  h im put  h is  s ide of  the story.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Indeed.   You wi l l  recal l  o f  course that  

one of  the people  who wi l l  –  who impl icated you was Major  

Genera l  Booysen.  

BRIGADIER XABA:   That  is  correc t  

ADV HULLEY SC:   And he says now you a lso recal l  that  

Major  Genera l  Booysen was h imsel f  a  member  of  the 20 

Hawks.   Is  that  correct?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   He was.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now as a member of  the Hawks I  would  

imagine that  he is  fami l iar  wi th  the – wi th  the Nat ional  –  

wi th  the mandate  of  the CATS uni t  and he is  fami l iar  wi th  
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the mandate the broader mandate of  the Hawks.   Would that  

be fa i r  to  say? 

BRIGADIER XABA:   I  do not  know that  one I  cannot  answer  

for  h im or  00:25:01 for  h im i f  he is  aware of  the mandate for  

CATS.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Wel l  he says… 

BRIGADIER XABA:   Because the CATS by that  –  sor ry and 

then the CATS by that  t ime was at  the nat ional  leve l  not  in  

the provinces.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Thank you Mr Chai r.   Mr or  ra ther  Major  10 

Genera l  Booysen says the fo l lowing of  – o f  your  

invest igat ion.   He says he f inds i t  unusual  that  a  person a  

Br igadier  who is  in  charge of  the Hawks cr imes against  the 

state would involve h imsel f  in  a – wi th  a compla int  f rom 

SARS he is  now ta lk ing about  the V lok Symington 

invest igat ion and the larger  SARS invest igat ion and the  

commissioning of  s tatements of  Ms J iba in  c iv i l  l i t igat ion  

against  me.    

 So what  he  is  saying is  that  in  h is  understanding of  

the type of  work that  you would be doing he f inds i t  ra ther  20 

surpr ised and shocking perhaps that  you would be involved 

in  an invest igat ion re la t ing to  SARS or  any of  the other  

invest igat ions that  you were invo lved in  – that  you have 

speci f ica l l y  been impl icated in .  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Thank you very much S i r.   That  
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accusat ion by Genera l  Booysen that  we were involved in  the  

invest igat ion of  SARS I  want  to  prove that  the  way he 

thought  is  not  the  way we a lso thought  – thought  about  the  

case.   The case o f  SARS when i t  was opened i t  was opened 

by  the SARS commission and then that  case i t  was having  

var ious charges or  c r imes fo r  that  charge or  the case 

whereby there  was espionage,  money launder ing,  

racketeer ing,  00:27:21 of  in te l l igence leg is la t ion inc lud ing  

corrupt ion.   That  case wi th  no  doubt  fa l l s  under our  

mandate.   I  say i t  to  understand S i r  you were not  supposed 10 

to  at tend to  that  case and secondly we as the CATS or  the  

DPCI  we do not  choose who is  the  compla inant ,  who is  the 

suspect .   We t reat  people equal ly.   What  we do we only  

invest igate.   A f ter  we are done w i th  the invest igat ion we 

take the docket  to  NPA to decide.   Fur thermore i f  we 

invest igate we request  the prosecutor  assis t  in  the invest i  –  

I  mean to say by means of  gu id ing the prosecut ion.   But  

that  case of  SARS i t  fa l l s  wi th in  or  i t  fe l l  w i th in  our  

mandate.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Now just  to  ge t  back to  the mandate i f  20 

we might .   The – the cr imes against  the state would 

presumably inc lude an invest igat ion in to c r imes such as 

terror ism,  would that  be correct?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   Yes in  te rms of  our  – there i s  another  

act  actual ly  that  we actual l y  deal  wi th  a l l  the cont ravent ions 
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that  –  in  that  act  we cal l  i t  00:29:02 Prevent ion of  

Const i tu t ional  Democracy against  ter ro r ism act iv i t ies .   I f  we 

can under l ine te rror ism and associated act iv i t ies i t  goes 

away f rom the word ter ror ism that  protocol .   So i f  they do 

not  understand the te rror ism and the 00:29:29 I  do not  

understand why now they are impl icat ing my knowledge.  

ADV HULLEY SC:   Sorry but  what  is  i t  that  they should 

understand about  those acts?  

BRIGADIER XABA:   They must  understand what  is  – what 

is  meant  by the 00:29:49.   As I  have a l luded ear l ier  that  we 10 

invest igate any cr iminal  conduct  that  impacts to  the secur i t y  

o f  th is  count ry and then are a lso  a lso  used in  o ther  ac t s ,  

inc lud ing  the  pro tec t ion  o f  const i tu t iona l  democracy 

aga ins t  te r ro r is t s  and o ther  assoc ia ted  ac t iv i t ies ,  no t  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  [Speaker  unc lea r  –  d is to r t ion  in  v ideo l ink ]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Now get t ing  spec i f i ca l l y  –  o r  coming 

spec i f i ca l l y  to  the  invest iga t ion  aga ins t  Mr  Kuba,  Mr  

Sesoko and Mr  McBr ide .   What  a re  the  charges  there?  

What  charges,  what  c r ime or  a l leged cr ime a re  you  

invest iga t ing?  20 

BRIG XABA :    The charges there  were  f raud and defeat ing  

the  end o f  jus t i ce .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    And how d id  tha t  fa l l  w i th in  your  

mandate?  

BRIG XABA :    The way the  docket  was channe l led  to  us .   I  
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went  th rough the  docket ,  and I  cou ld  see the  docket  fa l l s  

w i th in  our  manda te .   Why I  am say ing  tha t .   I t  emanated  

f rom tha t  case o f  Z imbabwe/Rhodes ian  case.   Shou ld  tha t  

case tha t  was invest iga ted  by  IP ID,  I  want  to  say the  

peop le  who were  invo l ved or  who were  suspects ,  who were  

no t  the  DPCI  members  or  SAS members ,  wou ld  have taken  

tha t  docket .  

 But  s ince  a l l  the  ac ts  tha t  a re  ac tua l l y  wrong tha t  

a re  commi t ted  by  the  SAPS are  invest iga ted  by  IP ID,  i t  was  

conf isca ted  by  IP ID but  tha t  case,  as  I  sa id  ear l ie r,  i t  10 

emanates  –  no  one cou ld  invest iga te  tha t  case o ther  than 

us .   And the  re fer ra l  o f  tha t  case was re fer red  to  the  

na t iona l  head by  the  m in is te r.   [ Ind is t inc t ]  wou ld  no t  take  

tha t  case back to  the  s ta t ion  leve l  and look a t  the  peop le  

who were  be ing  invest iga ted .   They are  in  a  pos i t ion  o f  

t rus t .    

ADV HULLEY SC :    Sor ry,  wh ich  –  when you say tha t  case 

and I  remember  you have jus t  ident i f ied  two d i f fe ren t  

cases.   There  is  the  de feat  and the  ends o f  jus t i ce  aga ins t  

the  IP ID o f f i c ia ls  and then you spoken about  the  rend i t ion  20 

phase,  bu t  the  rend i t ion  phase does not  invo lve  the  IP ID 

o f f i c ia ls  a l though  they were  invest iga t ing  tha t  case.   So,  to  

wh ich  case you say c lear ly  fa l l s  w i th in  your  mandate  o f  the  

two?  

BRIG XABA :    The f raud and the  de feat ing .   As  I  sa id ,  
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emanates  f rom the  Rend i t ion(?)  case.   The Rend i t ion(? )  

tha t  was go ing  to  be  invest iga ted  by  us ,  i f  the  peop le  who  

were  invo l ved there  were  no t  the  SAPS members ,  i f  the  

peop le  who were  invo lved were  no t  SAPS members ,  we 

were  go ing  to  invest iga te  tha t  case.    

 Now th is  one o f  f raud and defeat ing ,  i t  emanates  

f rom tha t  Rend i t ion  case.   That  i s  why i t  was re fer red  to  

our  o f f i ce  fo r  invest iga t ion .   I  see  noth ing  tha t  was  s in is te r  

fo r  tak ing  tha t  case and invest iga te .   And fu r the r,  i f  you  are  

g iven a  task  by  the  na t iona l  heads th rough the  proper  10 

channe ls ,  we have to  comply  w i th  the  South  A f r i can  Po l ice 

Serv i ces .   My co re  funct ion  is  to  invest iga te  any a l leged  

o f fence in  South  A f r i ca  in  te rms o f  the  const i tu t ion .    

 So,  i f  I  am even  now tasked by  my super io r  –  a t  

the  po l i ce  se rv i ces ,  you do not  de fy  the  i ns t ruc t ions.   As  

long they a re  un lawfu l  we have to  comply.   I  compl ied  and I  

have seen tha t  the  case was in  the  r igh t  un i t  to  be  

invest iga ted .    

ADV HULLEY SC :    Were  you invest iga t ing  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

BRIG XABA :    . . . i f  you  can say tha t  you r  genera l  I  cannot  20 

invest iga te  t h is  case because i t  i s  no t  my mandate .   You do  

not  work  l i ke  tha t .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Yes.   Were  you invest iga t ing  the  

o f f i c ia ls?  

BRIG XABA :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  
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[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lear ]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Pardon me.   Sor ry,  a re  you f in ished?  

BRIG XABA :    No,  I  do  no t  invest iga te  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

[Speaker  unc lear  –  d i s to r t ion  i n  v ideo l ink ]  . . .bu t  Mr  Kuba  

sa id  I  was compl ic i t  to  tha t  inves t iga t ion  o f  wh ich  I  deny  

tha t .    

ADV HULLEY SC :    Sor ry,  can  I  –  le t  me repeat  my 

quest ion  because  I  am not  sure  –  I  th ink  we were  speak ing  

over  each o the r.   Were  you invest iga t ing  the  Rend i t ion  

mat te r  as  we l l?  10 

BRIG XABA :    No.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    So ,  I  am jus t  s t rugg l ing  to  unders tand.   

I  unders tand your  po in t  tha t  the  a l legat ions o f  f raud and  

the  a l legat ions o f  de fea t  and the  ends o f  jus t i ce  arose out  

the  Rend i t ion  mat te r?    

BRIG XABA :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  

[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lear ]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Bu t  i f  you  want  to  invest iga te  the  

Rend i t ion  mat te r,  I  do  no t  unders tand why you were  

respons ib le  to  i nvest iga te  the  de feat  and the  ends o f  20 

jus t i ce  and the  f raud case.    

BRIG XABA :    I  sa id  the  f raud and defeat ing  emanates  

f rom the  Rend i t ion  case tha t  wou ld  have been invest iga ted  

by  us  i f  the  peop le  who were  invo lved were  no t  SAPS 

members .   And then two,  the  IP ID members  were  invo lved  
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in  tha t  Rend i t ion  case cannot  invest iga te  themse lves.   Who 

must  invest iga te  IP ID?   

ADV HULLEY SC :    When you say i f  they  were  no t  SAPS 

members ,  S-A-P-S  members?  

BRIG XABA :    When I  say  SAPS,  I  mean S-A-P -S,  yes .    

ADV HULLEY SC :    Now,  and the  ins t ruc t ion  to  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

BRIG XABA :   [ Ind is t inc t ]  [Speaker  unc lear  –  d i s to r t ion  in  

v ideo l ink ]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    . . .d id  you conduct  the  invest iga t ion ,  i f  I  10 

unders tand cor rec t l y?  

BRIG XABA :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   [Speaker  unc lear  –  d is to r t ion  in  

v ideo l ink ]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Sor ry,  m is ter  –  sor ry,  B r igad ie r.   You 

want  to  say someth ing?  

BRIG XABA :    No,  I  was ask ing  i f  I  am aud ib le?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    You are .  

BRIG XABA :    I  was. . .   I  do  no t  know what . . .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    The ins t ruc t ion  to  conduct  the  

invest iga t ion  aga ins t  the  IP ID o f f i c ia ls ,  i f  I  unders tand 20 

cor rec t l y,  tha t  came f rom the  Nat iona l  Head o f  the  DPCI ,  

re fe r r i ng  to  L ieu tenant  Genera l  Mthandazo(? )  Nt lemeza.   I s  

tha t  cor rec t?    

BRIG XABA :    That  i s  cor rec t .   I t  came f rom h im th rough 

proper  channe ls  un t i l  i t  reaches  the  component (?)  head  
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where  I  rece ived the  docket .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Bu t  i f  I  unders tand cor rec t l y.   You 

accept  tha t  the  docket  fe l l  w i th in  your  mandate?  

BRIG XABA :    Yes,  I  pe rused i t  and I  cou ld  see:   Oh,  th is  

one  emanates  f rom the  Rend i t ion  case.   I t  fa l l s  w i th in  my  

mandate .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.   Those are  the  

quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  done?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    We are  done as  fa r  as  tha t  i s  10 

concerned.    

CHAIRPERSON :    As  fa r  as  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    I  mean,  the  o ther  quest ions 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    . . .quest ions,  we are  no t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  one tha t  you are  no t  cover ing .   

Okay.   B r igad ie r,  the  mat te rs  tha t  Mr  Hu l ley  has no t  

canvassed w i th  you were  a l legat ions were  made  aga ins t  

you tha t  you w ish  to  dea l  w i th ,  o r  you are  happy to  leave 20 

th ings where  they  are?  

BRIG XABA :    I  want  to  unders tand  to  dea l  w i th  them how? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  in  te rms o f  pu t t ing  your  vers ion  o r  

respond ing  or  i f  Mr  Hu l ley  says he  is  done,  you are  happy 

to  say,  you can go home.    
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BRIG XABA :    I  th ink  f rom my s ide ,  I  am done.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  done?  Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  

jus t  wanted to  make su re  tha t  you do not  go  away 

compla in ing  tha t  you were  no t  g iven a  chance to  dea l  w i th  

cer ta in  a l legat ions.   So,  tha t  i s  why I  was ask ing  you.   

Okay?  

BRIG XABA :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

BRIG XABA :    What  I  want  to  h igh l igh t  bu t  I  am repeat ing  

what  I  am say ing .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Do not  repeat  what  you have a l ready 

sa id .   

BRIG XABA :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Do not  repeat  what  you have  

a l ready sa id .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

BRIG XABA :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   You are  there fore  

excused,  Br igad ier.   Thank you fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f .   You 

are  now excused.  

BRIG XABA :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  Mr  Hu l ley.   So,  tha t  i s  where  we 

end fo r  today?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    That  i s  as  fa r  as  today takes us  fo r  the 

purpose o f  B r igad ier  Xaba.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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ADV HULLEY SC :    There  are  cer ta in  ou ts tand ing  mat te rs  

re la t ing  to  Fr iday ’s  –  to  the  summar ies  tha t  were  to  be  

prov ided on Fr iday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    And those are  the  MK o f f i c i a ls .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.    

ADV HULLEY SC :    I  have spoken w i th  Mr  Matabed i  who 

appears  on  beha l f  o f  the  MK o f f i c ia ls .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    And the re  is  the  quest ion  o f  an  10 

app l i ca t ion  tha t  has been brought  and Mr  Ford  appears  fo r  

Mr  Innocent  Kuba and Mr  Mat thew Sesoko,  bu t  b r ie f l y,  

inso fa r  as  Fr iday ’s  p roceed ings were  concerned.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    The unders tand ing  o f  Mr  Matabed i  who  

is  counse l  who appears  fo r  the  MK o f f i c ia ls ,  was tha t  a  

summary wou ld  be  prov ided and tha t  he  wou ld  read out  the 

summary a l l  on  Fr iday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Bu t  I  have t ransmi t ted  to  h im tha t  you r  20 

unders tand ing  might  have been d i f fe ren t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  he  says h i s  unders tand ing  was tha t  

they wou ld  present  the  summar ies  in  te rms o f  –  in  an  open  

hear ing  on  Fr iday? 

ADV HULLEY SC :    Ja ,  on  Fr iday,  the  summar ies  wou ld  be  
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p resented,  and they wou ld  read i t  ou t  a t  the  same t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Wel l ,  we might  no t  a l l  have –  maybe 

I  d id  no t  c la r i f y  every th ing  because I  wanted to  see the  

summar ies  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    F i rs t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .be forehand,  bu t  maybe because we  

dea l t  w i th  th is  mat te r  over  two days,  the re  was  the  day 

when he was he re  and then there  was a  day when  he was  

not  here  bu t  there  was,  I  th ink  an  a t to rney,  when Ms 

Wentze l  was a l so  there .   So,  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  I  am the  10 

one who has got  these fac t s  wrong.    

 But  i f  the  unders tand ing  f rom the i r  s ide  too  is  tha t  

they wou ld  present  the  –  you have made the  presenta t ion ,  

they wou ld  de l i ve r  the  wr i t ten  submiss ions,  the  summar ies  

on  Fr iday and make the i r  p resenta t ion  in  an  open hear ing  

on  the  same day,  then we can work  on  tha t  bas i s .    

 Now,  I  guess the  unders tand ing  cou ld  on ly  have  

been tha t  in  tha t  case,  the  ora l  p resenta t ion  wou ld  happen 

in  the  a f te rnoon ,  wh ich  is  the  t ime when,  I  th ink ,  Mr  

Pre tor ius  was supposed to  c ross-examine Mr  McBr ide .  20 

ADV HULLEY SC :    I  d id  say. . .  on  the  a f te rnoon.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  –  because  –  I  th ink  in  the  morn ing  

in  te rms o f  the  schedu le ,  we are  meant  to  have another  

w i tness on  Fr iday.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    A t  the  top  o f  my head,  I  cannot  reca l l .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Bu t  I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  i s  the  case.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   No,  no  I  do  know.   That  i s  the  

w i tness we have been –  I  have been look ing  a t  in  te rms o f  

what  i s  go ing  to  happen.   Okay,  a l r i gh t .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Bu t  perhaps . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV HULLEY SC :    . . .Matabed i  i s  p resent  and pe rhaps he 

shou ld  be  the  one to  convey what  h is  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  I  d id  no t  know he is  he re .    Okay,  le t  10 

h im do tha t .   He can come to  the  pod ium or  i f  h is  m ic  is  

work ing  bu t  maybe he shou ld  come to  the  pod ium.   Le t  h im 

come to  the  pod ium.  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Good day,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Good a f te rnoon.  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Cha i rperson,  I  was not  

p resent  in  the  meet ing  tha t  he ld ,  bu t  I  spoke to  members  o f  

the  team who were  present  dur ing  tha t  meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    The i r  unders tand ing  i s  tha t  i f  20 

there  was no requ i rement  tha t  the  summary shou ld  be 

submi t ted  tomorrow to  the  Cha i rpe rson.   

CHAIRPERSON :    You see,  one is  no t  young anymore .   So,  

somet imes one is  re luc tan t  to  ins is t  on  what  one be l ieves 

one sa id  because you might  jus t  be  shown to  have 
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fo rgo t ten ,  bu t  my  unders tand ing  unt i l  I  th ink  th is  a f te rnoon,  

was tha t  the  day tha t  you wou ld  be  coming to  read  out  the  

summar ies  fo r  your  respect ive  c l ien ts  was Monday,  28 .    

 But  tha t  i s  –  somet ime th is  week,  I  cannot  

remember  we l l ,  somet ime th i s  week,  the  summar ies  wou ld  

be  p rov ided because they wou ld  he lp  me dec ide  how much  

t ime I  wou ld  a l loca te .   Because I  th ink  f rom your  s ide  there  

was an ind i ca t ion  tha t  in  case you do not  f in ish  on  the  f i rs t  

day,  you might  w ish  to  have another  day.    

 Now,  when I  say  f rom your  s ide ,  i t  m igh t  no t  be  10 

you who sa id  tha t .   I t  m igh t  be  whoever  was here  the  o ther  

day,  bu t  –  and I  was ind ica t ing  tha t  I  d id  no t  th ink  tha t  we  

shou ld  go  in to  a  second day.    

 So,  bu t  now I  unders tand tha t  bo th  Mr  Hu l ley  and  

yourse l f ,  you r  unders tand ing  is  tha t  the  presenta t ion  in  an  

open hear ing  o f  the  summar ies  was meant  to  be  –  is  go ing  

–  i s  meant  to  be  on  Fr iday.  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now,  I  do  no t  have a  prob lem to  a l low  

tha t  a r rangement  to  s tand.   I t  i s  jus t  tha t  someth ing  e lse  20 

arose wh ich  sought  to  in te r fe re  w i th  what  I  be l ieved was  

the  ar rangement  and I  wanted c la r i f i ca t ion  as  to  what  i t  i s  

tha t  has been a r ranged.   So,  I  do  no t  m ind us  s t i ck ing  to  

Fr iday fo r  the  purposes o f  the  ora l  p resenta t ion  o f  the 

summar ies .    
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 Bu t  as  th ings present ly  s tand,  you  cou ld  on l y  have  

begun w i th  the  ora l  p resenta t ions in  the  a f te rnoon,  

because in  the  morn ing  –  because  the  a f te rnoon,  I  th ink ,  i s  

the  t ime when mis ter  –  you wou ld  have cross-examined Mr  

McBr ide .    

 But  in  the  morn ing ,  in  te rms  o f  the  cur ren t  

schedu le  o f  the  hear ings,  we do have another  w i tness.   

Now,  I  am check ing  now whether  tha t  was  your  

unders tand ing  as  we l l  tha t  we wou ld  s ta r t  in  the  a f te rnoon?  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Cha i rperson,  in  the  las t  10 

s i t t ing ,  we ind i ca ted  tha t  we do  not  have a  p rob lem in  

coming . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    In  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    . . . to  make  the  presenta t ion  

in  the  a f te rnoon.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja . . .   Okay,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   No,  tha t  i s  

f ine .  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    I f  we cou ld  jus t  be  to ld  the  –  

what  t ime? 

CHAIRPERSON :    What  t ime.   Ja .   Okay,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   20 

Le t  us  leave i t  on  the  bas i s  tha t  i t  cou ld  be  in  the  

a f te rnoon,  bu t  because now I  know tha t  we a re  look ing  a t  

us ing  Fr iday,  i t  m igh t  be  poss ib le  to  make  some 

ar rangements  tha t  m ight  open up space in  the  morn ing  as  

we l l .    
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 Bu t  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  because you were  ask ing  

fo r  more  t ime,  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  you wou ld  we lcome the  

oppor tun i ty  o f  on ly  coming in  the  a f te rnoon so  tha t  you use  

whatever  t ime in  the  morn ing .   I  am not  sure .   But  you  

might  say :   Look,  by  end o f  tomorrow we wi l l  be  ready.   So,  

i f  you  say morn ing ,  Fr iday w i l l  be  f ine .  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Cha i rpe rson,  we w i l l ,  

obv ious ly,  come in  on  Fr iday in  the  a f te rnoon.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In  the  a f te rnoon? 

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  yes .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Okay,  le t  us  leave i t  on 

the  bas i s ,  there fo re ,  tha t  we w i l l  s ta r t  on  Fr iday a t  two p .m.   

But  in  te rms o f  rece iv ing  the  summar ies ,  I  wou ld  be  very  

happy i f  there  i s  a  chance tha t  I  cou ld  ge t  them,  even i f  i t  

i s  in  the  morn ing  on  Fr iday.    

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Jus t  so  tha t  –  because when you  s tar t ,  I  

wou ld  l i ke  to  be  ab le  to  say:   Look,  th is  i s  the  t ime tha t  I  

th ink  i s  reasonab le  to  be  used.   But  i f  I  ge t  them a t  two 

o ’c lock ,  i t  m igh t  make tha t  d i f f i cu l t .  20 

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    Cha i rperson,  we w i l l  t ry  our  

leve l  best .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You w i l l  t ry  your  best .  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    To  send them the  la tes t ,  le t  

us  -  i t  shou ld  be  ten  o ’c lock .    
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   No,  le t  us  

leave i t  a t  then fo r  –  we w i l l  s ta r t  a t  two o ’c lock  and you t ry  

and send them through la tes t  ten  a .m.  on  Fr iday.  

MR MATABEDI  (COUNSEL) :    As  i t  p leases,  Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you very  much.   Thank you .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Mr  Cha i r,  i f  I  cou ld  in te r j ec t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Because i t  m igh t  be  an  app l i ca t ion  tha t  

i s  p resent l y  be fore  you tha t  m ight  impact  upon the  

ar rangement  tha t  i s  be ing  made.   I  be l ieve  . . . [ in te rvenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  w i l l  no t  impact .   I  have looked a t  i t .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    As i t  p leases.   I  jus t  thought  to  ment ion  

tha t  when you say app l i ca t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   No,  no .   I  th ink  you a re  do ing  

we l l  to  ment ion  bu t  I  d id  ge t  a  chance to  have a  look.   We 

–  I  w i l l  make a  dec is ion  in  te rms  o f  what  shou ld  happen.   

Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Cha i r  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    Forg ive  me fo r  in te r rup t ing  

Mr  Hu l ley.   I  am represent ing  Mr  Sesoko.   My name is  20 

Bar t (? )  Ford  

CHAIRPERSON :    Where  are  you speak ing  f rom? 

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    [No aud ib le  rep l y ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   Yes?  

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    Forg ive  me fo r  no t  hav ing  
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in t roduced myse l f  to  you a t  any po in t  as  ye t ,  Mr  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    As  I  sa id ,  I  am ins t ruc ted  by  the  

s ta te  a t to rney . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    . . . in  the  mat te r.   The app l i ca t ion  

is  to ,  obv ious ly,  when the  representa t ions and the 

summar ies  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

MR FORD (COUNSEL :    . .a re  in  fac t  made ava i lab le  to  you  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    . . . tha t  the  same summar ies  be  

made ava i lab le  to  us  fo r  pu rposes o f  cons ider ing  whethe r  

o r  no t  we may seek an oppor tun i ty  to  respond there fore  to  

the  ex ten t  necessary.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am aware  o f  the  app l i ca t ion .   You 

shou ld  be  g i ven  a  dec is ion  tomorrow.   I t  w i l l  no t  be  

necessary  to  have ora l  a rgument .   I  thought  on  i t .   I s  tha t  20 

a l r igh t?  

MR FORD (COUNSEL) :    As  the  Cha i rperson p leases .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Okay,  we w i l l  then 

ad journ  fo r  the  day.   Tomor row,  I  th ink ,  Mr  Agr i zz i  w i l l  be  

tes t i f y ing  a t  some s tage.   He wou ld  be  cross-examined by  
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Mr  Wakeford ’s  l ega l  representa t i ves .   I  th ink  there  a re  

o ther  w i tnesses as  we l l .   So ,  I  jus t  ment ion  tha t  fo r  the  

benef i t  o f  the  pub l i c .  

ADV HULLEY SC :    Thank you.   Cha i r,  I  w i l l  approach you  

in  chambers ,  as  i t  were ,  to  speak about  the  fund fo r  

Mr  Mz i la ’s  tes t imony as  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 24 JUNE 2021  

 


